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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Background

As used in this report, except where the conteditates otherwise, the terms “Moody’s” or “the Canp” refer to Moody’s Corporation and
its subsidiaries. The Company’s executive officeslacated at 99 Church Street, New York, NY 10864 its telephone number is
(212) 553-0300.

Prior to September 30, 2000, the Company operaaid of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“Old B&. On September 8, 2000, the
Board of Directors of Old D&B approved a plan tparate into two publicly traded companies — the Gany and The New D&B
Corporation (“New D&B”). On September 30, 2000 gtBistribution Date”), Old D&B distributed to ithareholders all of the outstanding
shares of New D&B common stock (the “2000 Distribnt). New D&B comprised the business of Old D&Bsin & Bradstreet operating
company (the “D&B Business”J he remaining business of Old D&B consisted sobdlthe business of providing ratings and relatesaect
and credit risk management services (the “MoodyisiBess”) and was renamed “Moody’s Corporation”.

New D&B is the accounting successor to Old D&B, ethivas incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdware on April 8, 1998. Ol
D&B began operating as an independent publicly-ac@poration on July 1, 1998 as a result of itseeJ80, 1998 spin-off (the “1998
Distribution”) from the corporation now known as.HR Donnelley Corporation” and previously known“ake Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation” (“Donnelley”). Old D&B became the acriing successor to Donnelley at the time of th@81Bistribution.

Prior to the 1998 Distribution, Donnelley was tla@ent holding company for subsidiaries then engagéte businesses currently conducted
by New D&B, Moodys and Donnelley. Prior to November 1, 1996, it alss the parent holding company of subsidiarieslaoting busines
under the names Cognizant Corporation (“Cognizaantt) ACNielsen Corporation (“ACNielsen”). On thattel Donnelley effected a spin-off
of the capital stock of Cognizant and ACNielseits¢stockholders (the “1996 Distribution”). Cognigaubsequently changed its name to
Nielsen Media Research, Inc. in connection witHL 98 spir-off of the capital stock of IMS Health Incorpordt€IMS Health”).

For purposes of governing certain ongoing relatigrs between the Company and New D&B after the 2Di8@ibution and to provide for &
orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entdrgd various agreements including a Distributiogréement, Tax Allocation
Agreement, Employee Benefits Agreement, Sharedsh@ion Services Agreement, Insurance and Risk yEmant Services Agreement,
Data Services Agreement and Transition Servicegément.

Detailed descriptions of the 1996, 1998 and 20Cfrutions are contained in the Company’s 200Quahreport on Form 10-K, filed on
March 15, 2001.

The Company

Moody'’s is a provider of credit ratings, researald analysis covering debt instruments and secsliitti¢he global capital markets and a
provider of quantitative credit assessment seryiceslit training services and credit process saféito banks and other financial institutions.
Founded in 1900, Moody’s employs approximately @,p6ople worldwide. Moody’s maintains offices ind@untries and has expanded into
developing markets through joint ventures or affibn agreements with local rating agencies. Mogdyistomers include a wide range of
corporate and governmental issuers of securiti@ge#isas institutional investors, depositors, ctedi, investment banks, commercial banks,
and other financial intermediaries. Moody’s is dependent on a single customer or a few custorsech, that a loss of any one would have a
material adverse effect on its business.

Moody’s operates in two reportable segments: Mosdiyestors Service and Moody’s KMV.

2




Table of Contents

Moody'’s Investors Service publishes rating opinionsa broad range of credit obligors and theirgailons issued in domestic and
international markets, including various corporatel governmental obligations, structured financaistes and commercial paper programs.
It also publishes investor-oriented credit reseairatiuding in-depth research on major debt issuadhistry studies, special comments and
credit opinion handbooks. Moody’s credit ratingsl @@search help investors analyze the credit dsksciated with fixed-income securities.
Such independent credit ratings and research alswiloute to efficiencies in markets for other ghlions, such as insurance policies and
derivative transactions, by providing credible @amtependent assessments of credit risk. Moody’siges ratings and credit research on
governmental and commercial entities in approxifgat80 countries. Moody’s global and increasingiyetse services are designed to
increase market efficiency and may reduce trarmactsts. At the end of 2004, Moody’s had providestlit ratings and analysis on more
than $35 trillion in debt outstanding, covering mgd 70,000 securities, including those of indwdtdorporations, financial institutions,
governmental entities and structured finance issweith more than 10,000 corporate relationshipbally and over 100,000 public finance
obligations issued in the U.S. mark&atings are disseminated via press releases fmutile through a variety of print and electronicdiz
including the Internet and real-time informatiorstgms widely used by securities traders and inv&sto

Beyond credit rating services for issuers, Moogysvides research services, data, and analytis that are utilized by institutional investors
and other credit and capital markets professiohdtmdy’s services cover various segments of the dapital markets, and are sold to more
than 2,600 institutions worldwide. Within thesetingions, over 16,500 users accessed Moody’s reBegebsite (www.moodys.com) during
calendar year 2004. In addition to these clientsenthan 135,000 other individuals visited Moodyabsite to retrieve current ratings and
other information made freely available to the publ

The Moody’s KMV business consists of the combinadihesses of KMV LLC and KMV Corporation (“KMV”),cguired in April 2002, and
Moody’s Risk Management Services. Moody's KMV ipravider of credit risk processing and credit nisainagement products for banks and
investors in credit-sensitive assets, and serves h%00 clients operating in over 80 countriesluding most of the world’s largest financial
institutions. Moody’s KMV'’s quantitative credit alyais tools include models that estimate the prditalof default for over 26,000 publicly
traded firms globally, updated daily. In additidfoody’s KMV'’s RiskCalc™ models extend the availability of these probaleditio privatel
held firms in many of the world’s economies. MoasliKMV also offers services to value and improvegkegormance of credit-sensitive
portfolios. Other services include training in sredit risk analysis products and software preslta assist financial institutions in
commercial lending activities.

Prospects for Growth

Over recent decades, global public and privatedfixeome markets have grown significantly in tewhsutstanding principal amount and
types of securities. While there is potential feripdic cyclical disruption in these developmeiMsody’s believes that the overall trend and
outlook remain favorable for continued secular gtoim capital market activity worldwide. In additipthe securities being issued in the
global fixed-income markets are becoming more cemp\loody’s expects that these trends will providatinued long-term demand for
high-quality, independent credit opinions. These phemanare especially apparent in Europe, where ecanimteigration is driving increas
use of public fixed-income markets for corporat@ficing activities, and factors such as increadegtion and enabling regulation have
driven growth in structured finance issuance.

Technology, such as the Internet, makes informadlmout investment alternatives widely availabletighout the world. This technology
facilitates issuers’ ability to place securitiesside their national markets and investors’ cagacitobtain information about securities issued
outside their national markets. Issuers and investee also more readily able to obtain informatibout new financing techniques and new
types of securities that they may wish to purclassell, many of which may be unfamiliar to thenhisTavailability of information promotes
worldwide financial markets and a greater needfedible and globally comparable credit ratings aAgsult, a number of new capital
markets have emerged. In addition, more issuersramdtors are accessing traditional capital market
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Another trend that is increasing the size of theldvoapital markets is the ongoing disintermediatid financial systems. Issuers are
increasingly financing in the global public capitaérkets, in addition to, or in substitution fagditional financial intermediaries. Moreover,
financial intermediaries are selling assets inglodal public capital markets, in addition to ostead of retaining those assets. Structured
finance securities markets for many types of adssis developed in many countries and are coninigpiid these trends.

The complexity of capital market instruments iajsowing. Consequently, assessing the creditafisuch instruments becomes more of a
challenge for financial intermediaries and asseatamars. In the credit markets, reliable third-paatyngs and research increasingly
supplement or substitute for traditional in-housseiarch as the scale, geographic scope and cotgpiéfinancial markets grow.

Growth in issuance of structured finance securhis generally been stronger than growth in cotpaad financial institutions issuance, and
Moody’s expects that trend to continue. Growthtmictured finance has reflected increased adotiGgtructured finance as an acceptable
financing mechanism, regulatory changes that fatdlithe use of structured finance, and increasesrisumer debt that forms collateral for
structured securities.

Rating fees paid by debt issuers account for mioisteorevenue of Moody’s Investors Service. Therefa substantial portion of Moody’s
revenue is dependent upon the volume and numhdghifsecurities issued in the global capital markedt Moody’s rates. Moody's is
therefore affected by the performance of, and thepects for, the major world economies and byfifoal and monetary policies pursued by
their governments. However, annual fee arrangenveitttsirequent debt issuers, and annual fees fromroercial paper and medium-term
note programs, bank and insurance company finastihgth ratings, mutual fund ratings, subscripbased research and other areas art
dependent on, or independent of, the volume or rurabdebt securities issued in the global capitatkets.

Moody’s operations are also subject to varioussriskerent in carrying on business internationalych risks include currency fluctuations
and possible nationalization, expropriation, exgfgaand price controls, changes in the availabifitgata from public sector sources, limits
providing information across borders and otherrigste governmental actions. Management belietias the risks of nationalization or
expropriation are reduced because the Companyis sawice is the creation and dissemination afrimfation, rather than the production of
products that require manufacturing facilitiestoe tise of natural resources. However, the formati@ainew government-sponsored regional
or global rating agency would pose a risk to Mosdyrowth prospects. Management believes that $kecompared to other regulatory
changes under consideration for the credit ratigigistry, is relatively low because of the likeliklahat substantial investments over a
sustained period would be required.

Legislative bodies and regulators in both the Whiates and Europe continue to conduct regulagwigws of credit rating agencies, which
may result in an increased number of competit@srictions on certain business expansion activitieMoody’s Investors Service or
increased costs of doing business for Moody's.raspnt, Moody’s is unable to assess the naturefi@ct any regulatory changes may have
on future growth opportunities. See “Regulationlome

Growth in Moody’s KMV is expected from increasedpton of quantitative credit management techniquesbof integrated risk-
management solutions by financial institutions glbband by corporations managing trade receivaliteseased use of credit models is
expected under the forthcoming revised internatibaak regulatory regime, known as “Basel II”, timanticipated to be implemented by
national regulatory authorities by January 2007oMds KMV also expects to introduce new products.
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Competition

The Moody’s Investors Service business competds atiter credit rating agencies and with investnibamks and brokerage firms that offer
credit opinions and research. Institutional investdso have in-house credit research capabiltesdy’s largest competitor in the global
credit rating business is Standard & Poor’s Ratigsrices (“S&P”), a division of The McGraw-Hill @Gganies, Inc. There are some rating
markets, based on industry, geography and/or im&nt type, in which Moodg’ has made investments and obtained market pasgigrerio
to S&P’s. In other markets the reverse is true.

Another rating agency competitor of Moody'’s is Rita subsidiary of Fimalac S.A. Although Moody’'sié&P are each larger than Fitch,
competition is expected to increase. One or moditiadal significant rating agencies also may emdrgthe United States if the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”") expands the nurmbBationally Recognized Statistical Rating Orgaians (“NRSRQO”). In

February 2003, the SEC designated Dominion Bonthg&ervice, Ltd. of Canada (“DBRS”) a NRSRO and/iarch 2005, the SEC
designated A.M. Best Company, Inc. a NRSRO. Cortipatmay also emerge in developed markets outbieénited States over the next
few years, for example, in response to the growtthé European capital markets, and in developiatkats. Any such rating agencies that
may emerge may receive support from local goverisn@nother institutions.

Over the last decade, additional rating agencige baen established, primarily in emerging marketsas a result of local capital market
regulation. Regulators worldwide have perceived thedit ratings can further regulatory objectif@sthe development of public fixed-
income securities markets. The result of such egguy} activity has been the creation of a numbearimharily national rating agencies in
various countries. Certain of these regulatoryré&sfmmay have the unintended effect of producing &zedible ratings over time. Attempts to
standardize ratings systems or criteria may makathg systems and agencies appear undifferedtiatbscuring variations in the quality of
the ratings providers. In addition, since Moody&diéves that some of its most significant challenged opportunities will arise outside the
United States, it will have to compete with ratagencies that may have a stronger local presenadooger operating history in those
markets.

Financial regulators are reviewing their approachupervision and are seeking comments on changdhe global regulatory framework.
Bank regulators, under the oversight of the Basgh@ittee on Banking Supervision, have proposedgusfined risk assessments as the
basis for minimum capital requirements. The prodd&endardized Approach relies on rating agencyiops, while the proposed Internal
Ratings Based Approach relies on systems and meseasaintained by the regulated bank. The increagpdatory focus on credit risk
presents both opportunities and challenges for Mao&lobal demand for credit ratings and risk ngaraent services may rise, but
regulatory actions may result in a greater numbeating agencies and/or additional regulation afddy’s and its competitors. Alternatively,
banking or securities market regulators could $eekduce the use of ratings in regulations, theretucing certain elements of demand for
ratings, or otherwise seek to control the analysisusiness of rating agencies.

Credit rating agencies such as Moody’s also compéteother means of managing credit risk, suchradit insurance. Competitors that
develop quantitative methodologies for assessiaditrisk also may pose a competitive threat to tom

Moody’s KMV’s main competitors for quantitative nsaes of default risk include the RiskMetrics Grp88P, CreditSights, R&l's
Financial Technology Institute (in Japan), and o#maller vendors. Other firms may compete in thtark. Baker Hill, a privately held
company, is Moody’s KMV’s main competitor in theftseare market to assist banks in their commereatling activities. Moody’s KMV'’s
training products have two main competitors: Omiegegormance, a privately held firm; and Risk Mamagat Association (formerly Robert
Morris Associates), a trade association servindittencial services industry.
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Moody'’s Strategy

Moody'’s intends to focus on the following opportigs:
Expansion in Financial Centers

Moody'’s serves its customers through its globalvoekt of offices and business affiliations. Moodgisrrently maintains full-service rating
and marketing operations in financial centers idiclg Frankfurt, Hong Kong, London, Madrid, Milanei York, Paris, Singapore and
Tokyo. Moody’s expects that its global network vpisition it to benefit from the expansion of wavide capital markets and thereby
increase revenue. Moody’s also expects that thetgrof its Moody’s Investors Service business asm@sequence of financial market
integration in Europe will continue. Moody’s expetd continue its expansion into developing markétser directly or through joint
ventures.

New Rating Product:

Moody'’s is pursuing numerous initiatives to expanedit ratings from public fixed-income securitiearkets to other sectors with credit risk
exposures. As the loan and capital markets convéfgedy’s expects to continue to expand its ratingerage of bank loans and project
finance loans and securities. Moody’s has a corethigffort to extend its credit opinion franchisefte global bank counterparty universe
through ratings of emerging market banks, includiagk financial strength ratings and global loaatency ratings. Insurance financial
strength ratings in the property and casualty sugiance, and life insurance markets representiadditgrowth opportunities. Moody’s has
also introduced issuer ratings for corporationsaubive in the debt markets. For company ratingsol§’s seeks to continue to add value by
providing greater scope and depth of analysissafdas related to company creditworthiness, includimganced liquidity and cash flow
analysis, and evaluation of accounting, corporateegnance and risk transference issues. Moody'silsasintroduced mutual fund indices
and style-based analytical tools to assist in etalg fund portfolio characteristics and their penfiance.

Additional Opportunities in Securitizatiol

The repackaging of financial assets has had a pnofeffect on the fixed-income markets. New pagerinsecuritization are expected to
emerge in the next decade. Although the bulk oftassecuritized in the past five years have beaswuer assets owned by banks,
commercial assets — principally commercial mortgagerm receivables and corporate obligations —nare increasingly being securitized.
Securitization has evolved into a strategic cor@fiaance tool in North America, Europe and Jajgemt, is evolving elsewhere
internationally. Ongoing global development of rtoaditional financial instruments, such as derivedi future flow securities, hybrids,
credit-linked bonds and catastrophe bonds shouitirage to support growth. Moody'’s has introduced services enabling investors to
monitor the performance of their investments inatrred finance, covering asset-backed finance noertial mortgage finance, residential
mortgage finance and credit derivatives.

Internet-Enhanced Products and Services

Moody'’s is expanding its use of the Internet arfteoelectronic media to enhance client service. dytowebsite provides the public with
instant access to ratings, and provides subscnbignscredit research. Internet delivery also eealMoody’s to provide services to more
individuals within a client organization than pajbased products and to offer higher-value senhieeause of more timely delivery. Moody’s
expects that access to these applications wilksme client use of Moody’s services. Mo@lgkpects to continue to invest in electronic m
to capitalize on these and other opportunities.

Expansion of Credit Research Products and InvestrnAmalytic Tools

Moody'’s plans to continue to expand its researcharalytic services by offering additional toolsaihigh internal development and by
acquisition. Recent initiatives that have been wegtkived by clients include new services providanglysis of default rates and default
probabilities, on-line facilities for retrieving ment rating information on demand, the Companyarkét-Implied Ratings service, which
compares ratings with other measures for assesgeulif risk, and risk analytics and performanceadatstructured finance. Moody’s may
develop services for other financial markets, sagkredit default swaps. In 2005, the Company glafeunch a new product which provides
investor clients with access to financial ratiod @eer group statistics for the United States bapkector. Finally, the Company is improving
its capability to deliver its research to new coso segments by creating more targeted and custdmésearch offerings and by licensing
Moody'’s credit analysis and research for re-distidn by third party providers.
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New Quantitative Credit Assessment Servi

Moody’s will continue to provide banks and otherafincial institutions with quantitative credit assaent services. Moody’s believes that
there will be increased demand for such serviceaus®e they enable customers trading or holdingtesedsitive assets to produce better
performance. Also recent proposals by internatibaalk regulatory authorities to recognize banki&rimal credit risk management systems
for the purpose of determining regulatory capitadl @courage adoption of such services. Moodys® alxpects to provide extensions to
existing services and new services, such as vahmtf credit-sensitive assets.

Regulation

In the United States, Moody'’s Investors Servicaumtarily registers as an investment adviser untgetrivestment Advisers Act of 1940, as
amended. Moody’s has also been designated as a @Rgkhe SEC. The SEC first applied the NRSRO dhettign in 1975 to agencies
whose credit ratings could be used by broker-dsdterpurposes of determining their net capitaliiexments. Since that time, Congress (in
certain mortgage-related legislation), the SEC:értain of its regulations under the Securities @ct933, as amended, the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the Invest@@mpany Act of 1940, as amended) and other goventahand private bodies have
used the ratings of NRSROs to distinguish betwasmng other things, “investment grade” and “norestment grade” securities.

Over the past several years, U.S. regulatory andressional authorities have questioned the siittabf continuing to employ ratings in
federal securities laws; and, if so, the potemtestd for altering the regulatory framework underclhrating agencies operate. Pursuant to a
mandate by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andporte issued by the Congress and the SEC on timg @gency industry, on June 4, 2003
the SEC published a Concept Release requesting eatron the following three broad questions:

» Should credit ratings continue to be used for ramguy purposes under the federal securities ¢
» If ratings continue to be used in federal secwitdavs, what should be the process for approvitiggagencies
» If ratings continue to be used in federal secwitiavs, what should be the nature and extent afsaytet?

Numerous market participants, including Mo’s, responded to the request for comment. Moodgsponse can be found on the Company’s
website at www.moodys.com.

In March 2005, the SEC disclosed that it will speblic comment on proposed recognition criteriaraing agencies seeking designation as
NRSROs. In addition, the SEC may pursue a volurtargpliance and oversight framework for rating ajesthat are designated

NRSROs, or it could seek legislative authorityflmmal compliance and oversight for NRSROs. Alsofebruary 8, 2005, Moo’s
participated in a hearing on Examining the Rol€addit Rating Agencies in the Capital Markets, Hefdhe United States Senate Committee
on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs (the “Banki@gmmittee”). Primary areas of inquiry by Senatmmghe Banking Committee included
(i) potential conflicts of interest affecting credating agencies and how those conflicts can loédad or properly managed, and (i) the
degree of competition in the credit ratings indystind how competition might be increased. Moodyfiten statement submitted to the
Committee can also be found on the Company’s webAitpresent, Moody’s is unable to assess théititked of any regulatory or legislative
changes that may result from the ongoing reviewstlme nature and effect of any such regulatorngkea.

Internationally, several regulatory developmentsuoed in 2004:

First, on December 23, 2004, the Technical Commitfethe International Organization of Securitiesr®nissions (“IOSCO”) published the
Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agn(“lOSCO Code”). The IOSCO Code is the prodi@pproximately two years of
deliberations and market consultation by IOSCO,iandrporates numerous provisions which addressethroad areas:
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e The quality and integrity of the rating proce
» Credit rating agency independence and the avoidaihcenflicts of interest; anc
» Credit rating agency responsibilities to the iniregspublic and issuer:

The IOSCO Code is not binding on the credit ratiggncies. It relies on voluntary compliance andipuisclosure of areas of non-
compliance by credit rating agencies so that uskecsedit ratings can better assess rating ageabg\bor and performance. Moody'’s is not
yet in a position to assess the impact of the IOS00e; however, Moo('s intends to modify its internal code of conduzttore closely
reflect the provisions in the IOSCO Code, and thftee to disclose on a periodic basis its adherémtiee IOSCO Code’s provisions.

Second, in July 2004 the European Commission,qsested by the European Parliament, mandated them@tee of European Securities
Regulators (“CESR”) to conduct a review of the dreating agency industry and provide the Commissidth advice by April 1, 2005 on the
following four general areas:

» potential conflicts of interest within rating agés; such as between advisory services and dangractivities
e transparency of rating agenc methodologies

» legal treatment of rating agenc access to inside information; a

e concerns about possible lack of competition inrttagket for provision of credit rating

Pursuant to its mandate, on November 30, 2004CH®R published for public comment a consultatiooutieent about the credit ratings
industry. Subjects addressed by the consultatipempiacluded: the competitive structure of the stdyiand competition issues; registratiot
credit rating agencies; potential barriers to eatrg potential rules of conduct for the industrigeTonsultation paper concluded with a
discussion of six illustrative regulatory optior@ncerning registration and rules of conduct foingaagencies. The regulatory options posed
by the consultation paper range from registratioth monitoring of credit rating agencies by regutatauthorities, to relying on market
mechanisms to control rating agencies.

The CESR held an open hearing on January 14, 2086ich Moody’s participated. Market participantsre invited to offer their views on
the need for regulation in the European market. déwdline for written responses to CESR’s consaligiaper was February 1, 2005.
Moody’s written comments can be found on the Corgisawebsite.

Third, implementation guidelines proposed by the&SRHinder the European Commission’s Market Abuseddire are applicable to all
participants in the European capital markets. Grating agencies are excluded from control underguidelines. However, depending on
form in which the implementation guidelines areruditely adopted by national regulators or lawmaksush guidelines could include
controls over credit rating agencies in some Euaopgnion (“EU”) countries. If so, the guidelinesutdy among other things, alter rating
agencies’ communications with issuers as partefating assignment process, and increase Maamhst of doing business in Europe anc
legal risk associated with such business.

Fourth, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervisias completed its work on a new capital adequanydwork (“Basel II”) to replace its
initial 1988 framework. Under Basel Il, ratingsigsed by a credit rating agency would be an altéraavailable to banks to determine the
risk weights for many of their credit exposurese Basel Committee’s new capital adequacy framewarkld allow ratings of certain credit
rating agencies to be used as one alternativeeinrédit measurement processes of internationetyeafinancial institutions, and would
subject rating agencies whose ratings are useslfdr purpose to a broader range of oversight albiipated that Basel Il will be
implemented by national regulatory authorities aGguhry 2007. The European Commission has creaée@dmmittee of European Banking
Supervisors (“CEBS”), comprised of European bankewulators, to advise it on the implementatioBas$el Il in Europe. At this time
Moody’s cannot predict the long-term impact of Baken the manner in which Moody’s conducts itsiness. However, Moody's does not
believe that Basel Il will materially affect Moodylnvestors Service’financial position or results of operations eithesitively or negativel
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Finally, Moody’s is subject to regulation in certaion-U.S. jurisdictions in which it operates; somgulatory actions outside the United
States are noted below:

France

As a consequence of the 2003 French Securities Laivde Sécurité Financiérgghe “LSF”), rating agencies operating in France are subje
a document retention obligation. Moreover, the iyelwimed French regulatory authority Autorité des Marchés Financie(SAMF"), is
required to publish an annual report on the roletihg agencies; their business ethics, the taesiey of their methods, and the impact of
their activity on issuers and the financial mark&tsody’s has submitted responses to a seriesedtiuns posed by the AMF in accordance
with its mandate. The AMF released its first regmrtthe rating agency industry on January 26, 20@®ncluded that while there was no
evidence of wrong-doing or inappropriate behawuiothie industry, some sort of regulatory framewdrtha European level may be suitable.
For that, the AMF deferred to the CESR process.

Italy

In March 2005, the Italian Parliament is expectegdss the EU Law 2004, which will implement the Edrket Abuse Directive in Italy. Tt
draft legislation makes the Market Abuse Directypplicable to rating agencies in the Italian marketequires: (1) the Italian securities
regulator,Commissione Nazionale per la Societa e la BEf€®ONSOB”), to recognize and register rating ageadn the Italian market;

(2) recognized rating agencies to adopt and imphéitie IOSCO Code; and (3) issuers of bonds irttlian market to attain ratings from
recognized rating agencies. If approved, the degfslation would require that CONSOB provide tipprpriate regulatory framework. The
Italian Senate, however, has attached to the giftlation a resolution recommending that thedtalGovernment:

* adopt a contrary position and interpret #idlation to acknowledge the special and diffetedtment of rating agencies within
Italian regulations for disclosure obligations théit be implemented by CONSOI

» consider the possibility of recognizing the -regulation and control procedures already develapé&dirope.

At present, Moody'’s is unable to assess the likelthof any regulatory or legislative changes thay mesult in Italy, nor the nature and effect
of any such regulatory changes.

Other legislation and regulation relating to crediing and research services has been considemadime to time by local, national and
multinational bodies and is likely to be consideirethe future. In certain countries, governmengsy mprovide financial or other support to
locally-based rating agencies. In addition, govexnta may from time to time establish official ratiagencies or credit ratings criteria or
procedures for evaluating local issuers. If enacieg such legislation and regulation could sigaifitly change the competitive landscape in
which Moody’s operates. In addition, the legalssadf rating agencies has been addressed by d¢owdsious decisions and is likely to be
considered and addressed in legal proceedingstfreento time in the future. Management of Moodyasioot predict whether these or any
other proposals will be enacted, the outcome offanding or possible future legal proceedingsherutimate impact of any such matters on
the competitive position, financial position orutts of operations of Moody’s.

Intellectual Property

Moody’s and its affiliates own and control a vayief trade secrets, confidential information, tnadeks, trade names, copyrights, patents,
databases and other intellectual property rigtds th the aggregate, are of material importandddody’s business. Management of Moogly’
believes that each of the “Moody’s”, “Moody’s KM\&nd the “M Circle Logo’and related nhames, marks and logos are of matewairtanc:
to Moody’s. Moodys is licensed to use certain technology and otitefléctual property rights owned and controlledollyers, and, similarl
other companies are licensed to use certain teogpnand other intellectual property rights owned aantrolled by Moody’s. Moody’s
considers its trademarks, service marks, databssfgjare and other intellectual property to beppietary, and Moody'’s relies on a
combination of copyright, trademark, trade segatent, non-disclosure and contractual safeguardsrbtection.
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In 2002 Moody’s formed two subsidiaries that haddhe of its intellectual property. The first, MIS &ily Management Corp., was formed to
own, manage, protect, enforce and license thermades of Moody’s and its affiliates. The second,ddg's Assurance Company, Inc., is a
New York State“captive” insurance company that self-insures Mds@gainst certain risks, and owns Moody'’s ratidgsgbases,
methodologies and related software and processaddition to other assets in support of its insoegprogram.

The names of Moody’s products and services refdodarein are trademarks, service marks or regdteademarks or service marks owned
by or licensed to Moody’s or one or more of itssdlaries.

Employees
As of December 31, 2004, the number of full-timeigglent employees of Moody’s was approximately0p,5
Available Information

Moody'’s investor relations Internet website is htipmoodys.com/. Under the “SEC Filings” tab lhistwebsite, the Company makes
available free of charge its annual reports on FboAK, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current répon Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports as soon as reasonably practicaklethdly are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Name, Age and Positior Biographical Data
Jeanne M. Dering, 49 Ms. Dering served as the Company’s Senior Viceifees and
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office Chief Financial Officer since October 1, 2000 amd i

February 2005 was named Executive Vice PresidehCimef
Financial Officer. In addition, she has had senianagement
responsibility for Moody’s Information Technologyayp since
January 2004. Ms. Dering joined Moody’s Investoesvite,
Inc., in April 1997 as Managing Director, FinancHi€zr, and
became its Chief Financial Officer in 1998. Prioereto, she
spent over 10 years at Old D&B in a number of feiah
management positions, including Director of Buddets
Financial Analysis and Director of Financial Plamni—
Acquisitions and New Business Developmi

Jennifer Elliott, 39 Ms. Elliott has served as the Company’s Vice Pegsidnd

Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer Chief Human Resources Officer since February 2005.
Previously, she had served as Managing DirectokMmody’s
Australia since 1999 and was also a director of it
Investors Service Pty Limited. She was Vice PretideSenior
Credit Officer in Moody’s Structured Finance Grdupm 1996
until 1999 and an Analyst in that group from 1993ilUL996.
Prior thereto, she was a banking and finance laivwy8ydney,
Australia.
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Name, Age and Position

Biographical Data

John J. Goggins, 44
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., 47
President and Chief Operating Officer, Moody’s Gugtion and
President, Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc.

Chester V. A. Murray, 49

Executive Vice President, International, Moody’'sdators Service

John Rutherfurd, Jr., 65
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Mr. Goggins has served as the Company’s Senior Vice
President and General Counsel since October 1,.2000

Mr. Goggins joined Moody’s Investors Service, Inn.,
February 1999 as Vice President and Associate @e@eunse
and became General Counsel in 2000. Prior theletserved ¢
counsel at Dow Jones & Company from 1995 to 199t res he
was responsible for securities, acquisitions anmbge
corporate matters. Prior to Dow Jones, he was socage at
Cadwalader, Wickersham, & Taft from 1985 to 1995eve he
specialized in mergers and acquisitic

Mr. McDaniel has served as the Company’s Presisient
October 2004 and as Chief Operating Officer since
January 2004. He has served as a member of thel Bbar
Directors since April 2003 and President of Moody'gestors
Service, Inc. since November 2001. Mr. McDaniebasrved
as Executive Vice President of the Company fromil&f03 to
January 2004 and Senior Vice President from Octbph2000
until January 2004. He served as Senior Managimgdior,
Global Ratings and Research, of Moody'’s InvestenviSe,
Inc., from November 2000 until November 2001. Ptiareto,
he had served as Managing Director, Internaticiate 1996
and served as Managing Director, Europe, from 1998
1996. He also served as Associate Director in Msody
Structured Finance Group from 1989 until 1993, asnenior
Analyst in the Mortgage Securitization Group fro888 to
1989.

Mr. Murray served as the Company’s Senior Vice idesg and
Chief Human Resources Officer from October 2002 to
June 2004 and again as Chief Human Resource Offmar
October 2004 to February 2005. He has served asubixe
Vice President-International of Moody’s Investoen&ce, Inc.
since January 2004. Mr. Murray served as Seniordgigy
Director of Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc., from
November 2001 until October 2002; Group Managing€to-
Europe from 1996 until November 2001; Managing Etioe of
the Financial Institutions Group from 1993 untiB9 and
Associate Director of the Financial InstitutionsoGp from
1990 until 1993. He was a Senior Analyst for theaRicial
Institutions Group from 1985 until 1990. Prior tater,

Mr. Murray was a lending officer in the Latin Ameain divisiot
of Irving Trust Company from 1981 until 19¢

Mr. Rutherfurd has served as Chairman of the Beanck
October 2003 and the Company’s Chief Executived@ffsince
October 1, 2000 and has been a member of the Bdard
Directors since May 2000. Mr. Rutherfurd servedPessident
of Moody’s Corporation from October 2000 until Oloéw 2003
and President of Moody’s Investors Service, InenfrJanuary
1998 until November 2001. Prior thereto, he wasGheef
Administrative Officer from 1996. Mr. Rutherfurdsal served
as Managing Director of Moody’Holdings Inc. from 1995 un
1996, and served as President of Interactive DatpdZation
(“IDC™), a wholly owned subsidiary of Old D&B, frorh985 to
1989 and from 1990 until IDC was sold by Old D&B in
September 1995. Mr. Rutherfurd is also a directddASD and
ICRA Limited, a credit rating agency in India theaffiliated
with Moody's.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The executive offices of Moody’s are located at3furch Street, New York, New York, in a 297,000-&gufoot property owned by
Moody’s. Moody'’s operations are also conducted f@other U.S. offices and 21 non-U.S. office looasi, all of which are leased. These
other properties are geographically distributethtet operating and sales requirements worldwides@&lproperties are generally considered
to be both suitable and adequate to meet currearabpg requirements, and virtually all space indaitilized.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that adantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Mdyanagement periodically assesses the Compéiapitities and contingencies in
connection with these matters, based upon thet iafesmation available. For those matters wheie lioth probable that a liability has been
incurred and the probable amount of loss can bsorebly estimated, the Company believes it hagdedoappropriate reserves in the
consolidated financial statements and periodicadliysts these reserves as appropriate. In oth@nires, because of the uncertainties related
to both the probable outcome and amount or rangesef management is unable to make a reasonabtetsof a liability, if any. As
additional information becomes available, the Comypadjusts its assessments and estimates of smlities accordingly.

The discussion of the litigation under the headlregacy Contingencies” under Iltem 7. “Managemetiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”, commencingagte 34 of this annual report on Form 10-K, i®iporated into this Item 3 by
reference.

Based on its review of the latest information aafalié, in the opinion of management, the ultimatbility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material adverse effect onolligs financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, subject to the contingendescribed in Part I, Item 7. “Management’sddi&sion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Contingericies

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year coveby this annual report on Form 10-K, no matter sasmitted to a vote of security holders.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Information in response to this Iltem is set forttuer the captions “Common Stock Information” andviBends” in Item 7 of this annual
report on Form 10-K.

MOODY'S PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
For the Three Months Ended December 31, 2004

Total Number of Shares Approximate Dollar Value of
Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be

Total Number of  Average Price  Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchase: Paid per Share Program Program (1)
October 1- 31 — — — $547.7 million
November 1- 30 — — — $547.7 million
December - 31 — — — $547.7 million

Total — — —

(1) As of the last day of each of the months. Ory 4, 2004, the Company announced that its Boamireictors had authorized a new

$600 million share repurchase program, which inetubloth special share repurchases and systemat& r@purchases to offset shares issued
under Moody'’s stock-based compensation plans. Tisere established expiration date for this auttadion. During June 2004, the Company
had completed its previous $450 million programickithad been authorized by the Board of Director®¢tober 2002.

Since becoming a public company in October 2000taraligh the end of 2004, Moodyhas repurchased 26.4 million shares at a tosilaf
$1.1 billion, including 13.0 million shares to affassuances under employee stock plans.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Company’s selected consolidated financial datald be read in conjunction with Item 7. “Manage’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” #relMoody’s Corporation consolidated financial stagénts and notes thereto.

Year Ended December 31,

amounts in millions, except per share data 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 (4)

Results of operations (1

Revenue $1,438.1 $1,246.¢ $1,023.1 $ 796.7 $ 602.c

Expense! 651.¢ 583.t 485.2 398.2 313.¢

Operating incom: 786.¢ 663.1 538.1 398.t 288.t

Non-operating expense, net ( (15.1) (6.7) (20.7) (16.6€) (4.5)

Income before provision for income tay 7715 656.4 517. 381.¢ 284.(

Provision for income taxe 346.2 292.% 228.5 169.7 125.5

Net income $ 425.1 $ 363.C $ 288.¢ $ 212z $ 158.f
Earnings per share

Basic $ 2.8¢ $ 244 $ 1.8¢ $ 1.3t $ 0.9¢

Diluted $ 2.7¢ $ 2.3¢ $ 1.8¢ $ 1.3¢ $ 0.97
Weighted average shares outstandin

Basic 148.k 148.¢ 153.¢ 157.¢ 161.7

Diluted 152.% 152.2 157.% 160.2 163.(
Dividends declared per share $ 0.3 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.04¢

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 (4)

Balance sheet data

Total asset $1,376.( $ 952. $ 630.¢ $ 505. $ 398.c

Long-term debt (3 $  — $ 300.( $ 300.( $ 300.( $ 300.(

Shareholder equity (deficit) $ 317:& $ (32 $ (327.0 $ (304.) $ (282.5)

(1) The 2002 results of operations include revenug4@t1 million, expenses of $42.8 million and aemying loss of $0.7 million related
to KMV, which was acquired in April 200;

(2) Non-operating expense, net includes $23.0 million,.$28illion, $23.5 million, $22.9 million and $5.8iliion, in 2004, 2003, 2002,
2001 and 2000 respectively, of interest expenseptfiecipally relates to the Company’s $300 milliohnotes payable issued in
October 2000. The 2003 amount also includes a@&i3.6 million on an insurance recovery relatethe September 11th trage:

(3) The amounts shown as long-term debt represeas patyable that mature in September 2005. Thess patable are classified as a
current liability at December 31, 20(

(4) The 2000 financial data included herein is preskateif the Company were a separate entity foetiige year, and may not necess:
reflect results of operations or financial positaMoody’s had it been a separate entity priothe Distribution Date. The 2000 results
include $13.3 million of cost allocations from d&B through the Distribution Date, related to emy#le benefits, centralized services
and other corporate overhei
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis of financial conditol results of operations should be read in catijom with the Moody’s Corporation
consolidated financial statements and notes thémetaded elsewhere in this annual report on FodaiK1

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firer@ondition and Results of Operations containsvaod-Looking Statements. See
“Forward-Looking Statements” on page 41 and “Adufiil Factors That May Affect Future Results” ong&@ for a discussion of
uncertainties, risks and other factors associaifdthese statements.

The Company

Except where otherwise indicated, the terms “Moetighd the “Company” refer to Moody’s Corporatiarddts subsidiaries. Moody’s is a
provider of credit ratings, research and analysi®tng debt instruments and securities in the @lehpital markets and a provider of
guantitative credit assessment services, credliitigaservices and credit process software to bankisother financial institutions. Moody’s
operates in two reportable segments: Moody'’s Irresservice and Moody’s KMV.

Moody’s Investors Service publishes rating opinionsa broad range of credit obligors and creditgalblons issued in domestic and
international markets, including various corporae governmental obligations, structured finan@eisges and commercial paper programs.
It also publishes investor-oriented credit reseairatiuding in-depth research on major issuersystiy studies, special comments and credit
opinion handbooks.

The Moody’s KMV business consists of the combinadibesses of KMV LLC and KMV Corporation (“KMV”),cguired in April 2002, and
Moody’s Risk Management Services. Moody's KMV deys and distributes quantitative credit assesspreniucts and services for banks
and investors in credit-sensitive assets, credlitiimg services and credit process software.

The Company operated as part of The Dun & Brads@eeporation (“Old D&B”) until September 30, 20Q®e “Distribution Date”), when
Old D&B separated into two publicly traded companie Moody’s Corporation and The New D&B Corporat{tNew D&B"). At that time,
Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares efM\D&B stock. New D&B comprised the business of OIB’s Dun & Bradstreet
operating company (the “D&B Business”). The remagnbusiness of Old D&B consisted solely of the bass of providing ratings and
related research and credit risk management serftite “Moody’s Business”) and was renamed “Moodytsporation”. The method by
which Old D&B distributed to its shareholders itmses of New D&B stock is hereinafter referred gdtee “2000 Distribution”.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Moody'’s discussion and analysis of its financiahdition and results of operations are based oiCthrapany’s consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordeititaccounting principles generally accepted i thnited States. The preparation of
these financial statements requires Moody’s to nestienates and judgments that affect reported atamirassets, liabilities and related
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdates of the financial statements and revandeexpenses during the reporting periods.
These estimates are based on historical exper@rden other assumptions that are believed todsorable under the circumstances. On an
ongoing basis, Moody'’s evaluates its estimatedydicg those related to revenue recognition, actorecteivable allowances, contingencies,
goodwill, pension and other post-retirement beaefitd stock-based compensation. Actual resultsdiffey from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. The followamgrzounting estimates are considered critical becthesy are particularly dependent on
management’s judgment about matters that are w@icext the time the accounting estimates are made&laanges to those estimates could
have a material impact on the Company’s consolitiegsults of operations or financial condition.
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Revenue Recognitio

In recognizing revenue related to ratings, Moodyses judgments to allocate billed revenue betwatimgs and the future monitoring of
ratings in cases where the Company does not cluag@ng monitoring fees for a particular issuere3é judgments are not dependent on the
outcome of future uncertainties, but rather refatallocating revenue across accounting periodsuth cases, the Company defers portiol
rating fees that it estimates will be attributeduture monitoring activities and recognizes théeded revenue ratably over the estimated
monitoring periods.

The portion of the revenue to be deferred is detexchbased on annual monitoring fees charged foitasi securities or issuers and the level
of monitoring effort required for a type of secyrir issuer. The estimated monitoring period ovbiciv the deferred revenue will be
recognized is determined based on factors sudheasequency of issuance by the issuers and tke ¥ the rated securities. Currently, the
estimated monitoring periods range from three moyars. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, defernazhree included approximately

$30 million and $26 million, respectively, relatedsuch deferred monitoring fees.

Moody'’s estimates revenue for ratings of commenégder for which, in addition to a fixed annual ntoring fee, issuers are billed quarterly
based on amounts outstanding. Related revenuernsesteach quarter based on estimated amountsuaditsg, and is billed subsequently
when actual data is available. The estimate isrohéted based on the issuers’ most recent reportadeyly data. At December 31, 2004 and
2003, accounts receivable included approximate®/fllion and $26 million, respectively, relatedgocrued commercial paper revenue.
Historically, the Company has not had materialat#hces between the estimated revenue and thé hitlings.

Accounts Receivable Allowanc

Moody'’s records as reductions of revenue provisfongstimated future adjustments to customerrgjiibased on historical experience and
current conditions. Such provisions are reflecteddditions to the accounts receivable allowancgugiments to and write-offs of accounts
receivable are charged against the allowance. Meajaluates its accounts receivable by reviewimdj@ssessing historical collection and
adjustment experience and the current status ¢tdimgs accounts. Moody’s also considers the econemidconment of the customers, both
from an industry and geographic perspective, iduatang the need for allowances. Based on its mesjédoody’s establishes or adjusts
allowances for specific customers and the accaectsivable balance as a whole, as considered apgepr his process involves a high
degree of judgment and estimation and frequentiglires significant dollar amounts. Accordingly, Miyds results of operations can be
affected by adjustments to the allowance. Managéimgieves that the allowance for uncollectibleaots is adequate to cover anticipated
adjustments and write-offs under current conditidt@wever, significant changes in any of the abowted factors, or actual write-offs or
adjustments that differ from the estimated amouwrs|d result in allowances that are greater a lean Moody’s estimates. In each of 2004
and 2003, the Company reduced its provision ratdsta allowances to reflect its current estimdtthe appropriate level of accounts
receivable allowance.

Contingencies

Accounting for contingencies, including those matiescribed in the “Contingencies” section of Msnagemens Discussion and Analys
is highly subjective and requires the use of judgimand estimates in assessing their magnitudélaatg outcome. In many cases, the
outcomes of such matters will be determined bydtparties, including governmental or judicial badi€he provisions made in the
consolidated financial statements, as well asdletad disclosures, represent management’'s bésiéss of the then current status of such
matters and their potential outcome based on awnesf the facts and in consultation with outsidgalecounsel where deemed appropriate
The Company regularly reviews contingencies analdatitional information becomes available may, i fiture, adjust the provisions made
in respect thereof. Since the potential exposurmany of these matters is material, and it is fixdsghat these matters could be resolved in
amounts that are greater than the Company hawvegkeheir resolution could have a material adveffect on Moody’s future reported
results and financial position. In addition, potehtash outlays related to the resolution of thexg@sures could be material.
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For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 200Brdkesion for income taxes reflected charges @.@3nillion and $16.2 million,
respectively, to increase the Company’s reserveleffacy income tax exposures that were assumdédidogly’s in connection with its
separation from The Dun & Bradstreet Corporatio@atober 2000. These tax matters are discussed lrelgacy Tax Matters” below.

Goodwill

Moody'’s evaluates its goodwill for impairment antyar more frequently if impairment indicators seiin accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142 o@awill and Other Intangible Assets”. Moody’s godlilwalance is material

($131.7 million at December 31, 2004), and the waigbn of the carrying value of goodwill requirésit the Company make important
assumptions and judgments about future operatmgtseand cash flows as well as terminal valuesdiswbunt rates. In estimating future
operating results and cash flows, Moody’s considgesnal budgets and strategic plans, expectegHerm growth rates, and the effects of
external factors and market conditions. If actulife operating results and cash flows or exteraadlitions differ from the Company’s
judgments, or if changes in assumed terminal vabuelscount rates are made, an impairment chaegelra necessary to reduce the carn
value of goodwill, which charge could be materathe Company’s financial position and results pémtions.

Pension and Other Po-Retirement Benefits

The expenses, assets, liabilities and obligatibasMoody’s reports for pension and other posteaient benefits are dependent on many
assumptions concerning the outcome of future evamdscircumstances. These assumptions includetioaving:

« future compensation increases, based on the @uyigplong-term actual experience and future oktloo
« discount rates, based on current yields on biglde corporate long-term bonds

« long-term return on pension plan assets, basdtl@expected future average annual return fdr eegjor asset class within the plan’s
portfolio (which is principally comprised of equiaind fixed-income investments)

In determining such assumptions, the Company ctswiith outside actuaries and other advisors wheesmed appropriate. In accordance
with relevant accounting standards, if actual tssdiffer from the Company’s assumptions, suchedéhces are deferred and amortized over
the estimated future working life of the plan paigants. While the Company believes that the assomgpused in its calculations are
reasonable, differences in actual experience angdmin assumptions could have a significant effadhe expenses, assets and liabilities
related to the Company’s pension and other postneent benefits.

The table below shows the estimated effect thateapercentage point decrease in each of these pgsoswill have on Moody’s 2005
operating income (dollars in millions). These efétave been calculated using the Company’s cupr@jections of 2005 assets, liabilities,
obligations and expenses related to pension ared pthst-retirement plans, which could change asitgoddata becomes available.

Estimated Impact on
Assumption Used for 2005 Operating Income

2005 (Decrease)/Increas!
Discount Rate 5.9(% $(3.9)
Weighted Average Assumed Compensation Growth 4.0(% $1.2
Assumed Lon-Term Rate of Return on Pension As: 8.35% $(1.0)
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Based on our current projections, the Company estisthat expenses related to pension and posmetit plans will be approximately
$13 million in 2005 compared with $8 million in 200The expected expense increase in 2005 refleetsftects of normal growth in plan
liabilities, as well as amortization of actuarias$es due to differences between past actuarising$i®ns and actual plan experience, and
assumption changes adopted as of December 31, 2004.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted, on agetgp basis, the fair value method of accountargstock-based compensation under the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation”, as amended by SFAS No. 14&0duktding for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure — an Amagrtt of FASB Statement No. 123", Therefore, empdostock options granted on and
after January 1, 2003 are being expensed by the@ayrover the option vesting period, based on stieated fair value of the option award
on the date of grant. The estimated fair valualsutated based on a Black-Scholes option pricindehusing assumptions and estimates that
the Company believes are reasonable. Some of suengions and estimates, such as share pricelitplatid expected option holding

period, are based in part on Moody’s experiencenduhe period since becoming a public companygctvie limited. The use of different
assumptions and estimates in the Bl&dkoles option pricing model could produce mathgrigifferent estimated fair values for option aws
and related expense to be recognized over theropéisting period.

An increase in the following assumptions would hhad the following estimated effect on operatingpime in 2004 (dollars in millions):

Estimated Impact on
Amount of Increase ir Operating Income in 200«

Assumption Used Assumption (Decrease)/Increas!
Expected Dividend Yiel 2003 grant: 0.41% 0.10% $0.2
2004 grant: 0.46%
Expected Share Price Volatili 2003 and 2004 gran 30% 5% ($2.5)
Expected Option Holding Peric 2003 and 2004 gran 5.0 year 1.0 yeat ($2.3)

Other Estimates

In addition, there are other accounting estimatéisinvMoody’s consolidated financial statementg|iling recoverability of deferred tax
assets, anticipated distributions from non-U.Ssalilrries, realizability of long-lived and intangtassets and valuation of investments in
affiliates. Management believes the current assiompt@nd other considerations used to estimate atwoeflected in Moody’s consolidated
financial statements are appropriate. Howevertifia experience differs from the assumptions ahdraconsiderations used in estimating
amounts reflected in Moody’s consolidated finanstakements, the resulting changes could have erimadverse effect on Moody’s
consolidated results of operations or financialditbon.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statemfentfsirther information on key accounting policibsit impact Moody'’s.
Operating Segments

Prior to 2002, the Company operated in one replarfalisiness segment — Ratings, which accounteapforoximately 90% of the Company’s
total revenue. With the April 2002 acquisition dfiK and its combination with Moody’s Risk Managem&grvices to form Moody’s KMV,
Moody’s now operates in two reportable businessnsgrgs: Moody’s Investors Service and Moody’s KM\tcardingly, in the second
quarter of 2002, the
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Company restated its segment information for geEmiods to conform to the current presentatiorartfer to provide additional information
relating to Moody’s operating results, the discosdielow includes information analyzing operatiaguits as if the acquisition of KMV had
been consummated as of January 1, 2002. This iafiwmis presented in a manner consistent with SNAS141, “Business Combinations”,
and is described in more detail in Note 5 to thesotidated financial statements.

The Moody’s Investors Service business consisfewfrating groups — structured finance, corpofatance, financial institutions and
sovereign risk, and public finance — that generatenue principally from the assignment of crediings on fixed-income obligors and
instruments in the debt markets, and research hygnienarily generates revenue from the sale ofsteoriented credit research, principally
produced by the rating groups. Given the dominafiddoody’s Investors Service to Moody's overallults, the Company does not
separately measure or report corporate expensearathey allocated to the Company’s business satgnAccordingly, all corporate
expenses are included in operating income of thedy® Investors Service segment and none have &émrated to the Moody’s KMV
segment.

The Moody’s KMV business develops and distributeardgitative credit assessment products and serfocdsmnks and investors in credit-
sensitive assets, credit training services andtopeacess software.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiebtform to the current presentation.
Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared With Year Erdl December 31, 2003
Total Company Results

Moody’s revenue for 2004 was $1,438.3 million, acréase of $191.7 million or 15.4% from $1,246.8ian for 2003. Moody’s achieved
strong revenue growth in a number of business sedibS. structured finance was the largest caminibto year over year growth, primarily
due to residential mortgage backed and home elpatysecurities. Research experienced robust griowah geographies. U.S. corporate
finance growth was primarily due to revenue reldtethe ratings of bank credit facilities and higéld issues. Global financial institutions
contributed to growth as well, most notably in th&. insurance and real estate sectors and theabldSEuropean banking sectors.

Revenue in the United States was $911.2 millior2fi#4, an increase of $115.9 million or 14.6% fi$n®5.3 million for 2003.
Approximately $52 million of this increase was daagrowth in structured finance. The U.S. residdntiortgage backed and home equity
sector was the largest contributor, driven by thefable interest rate environment and a strongihgumarket. In addition, over $26 million
of Moody’s U.S. revenue growth was contributed by corpdiasace, primarily reflecting strong activity indhratings of bank credit faciliti
and high yield bonds. The U.S. research businasiboted about $20 million of growth. The finandisstitutions and MKMV businesses
contributed approximately $15 million and $8 mitliaespectively, to Moody’s United States growBublic finance revenue in the U.S.
declined by approximately $5 million year-to-yeauainly due to a 6% decline in dollar issuance mrtunicipal bond market.

Moody's international revenue was $527.1 millior2004, an increase of $75.8 million or 16.8% frof%.3 million in 2003. Foreign
currency translation accounted for approximately 8#llion of reported international revenue growReported ratings revenue grew
approximately $45 million, with about $27 milliofi that growth coming from structured finance. Ele@ontributed approximately 80% of
the growth in international structured finance.dfiaial institutions and corporate finance contéouapproximately $13 million and

$6 million, respectively, to revenue growth. Reshaevenue growth of approximately $23 million vpaignarily in Europe. MKMV
contributed approximately $8 million of revenue\gtb outside the U.S.

Moody’s expenses of $617.8 million in 2004 were $G86illion or 12.1% greater than $550.9 million2B803. Compensation and benefits
continue to be Moody'’s largest expense, accouriingpproximately two-thirds of
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total expenses in 2004 and 2003. Moody'’s incre#tsem/erall staffing by over 175 people, or 8%,idgr2004 to support continued growth in
the business. The table below shows Moody’s sigffinyear-end 2004 compared with year-end 2003.

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
United State: International Total United State: International Total
Moody's Investors Servic 1,35(C 70¢ 2,05¢ 1,25¢ 65& 1,91¢
Moody' s KMV 345 75 41€ 31¢ 69 387
Total 1,69: 784 2,471 1,57¢ 724 2,30(

Operating expenses were $ 375.4 million in 2004narease of $28.1 million or 8% from $347.3 mifli; 2003. The largest contributor to
this increase was growth in compensation and bsnetpense of $25 million, reflecting compensatianeases, increased staffing, and
higher stock-based compensation expense. Moodgtmagktaffing reflected hiring in the specialisines that support Moody’s Enhanced
Analysis Initiative, in several of Moody’s U.S. aimdernational ratings businesses, and at MoodyB/KStock-based compensation expense
increased $12.3 million year-to-year. As more fallgcussed in Note 2 to the consolidated finarstaements, the Company adopted the fair
value method provisions of SFAS No. 123 prospelbtieeginning on January 1, 2003. The year-to-yrargase in expense principally
reflects the phasing in of expense over the cufmntyear equity plan vesting period as annual equigntgrare made, as well as the effec

a higher share price on the value of the 2004 pquénts.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A") expeasvere $242.4 million in 2004, an increase of $3&illion or 19% from $203.6 million
in 2003. Year-to-year expense increases includedtyrin compensation and benefits of $24 milliaflecting compensation increases,
increased staffing, and $4.7 million related tacktbased compensation as discussed above. Additrameases were due to higher rent and
occupancy costs of approximately $4 million to sapbusiness expansion, and higher professionaicgsr costs, including spending of
approximately $5 million related to Sarbanes-Oxdeynpliance.

Operating income of $786.4 million in 2004 rose &B2million or 18.6% from $663.1 million in 2003ofeign currency translation
contributed approximately $6 million to operatimgome growth. Moody operating margin for 2004 was 54.7% compare®12% in 2003
The increase in margin principally reflected bettean-expected revenue growth.

Moody’s reported $15.1 million of interest and athen-operating expense, net in 2004 compared $@tf million in 2003. The 2003
amount included a gain of $13.6 million on an irswoe recovery related to the September 11th tragedgiscussed in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. Interest experese$23.0 million in 2004 and $23.5 million in 200 he amounts in both periods included
$22.8 million of interest expense on Moody’s $300iom of private placement debt. Interest incomasw$6.8 million in 2004 compared to
$1.7 million in 2003. The increase was due to hd&igverage investment balance as well as an seirdhe weighted average yield. Fort
exchange gains were $1.9 million and $2.2 millior2004 and 2003, respectively.

Moody'’s effective tax rate was 44.9% in 2004 comparett6% in 2003. The 2004 and 2003 effective taxsrateluded charges aggregat
approximately $30.0 million and $16.2 million, resfively, for increases in reserves related todggacome tax exposures that were
assumed by Moody’s in connection with its separaffom The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation in OctoB@60 (see Contingencies — Legacy
Tax Matters, below).

Net income was $425.1 million in 2004, an increafs$61.2 million or 16.8% from $363.9 million in @8. Basic and diluted earnings |
share for 2004 were $2.86 and $2.79, respectieelypared to basic and diluted earnings per shab2.d4# and $2.39, respectively, for 2003.
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Segment Results
Moody'’s Investors Service

Moody’s Investors Service revenue for 2004 was B1,Bmillion, up $176.0 million or 15.5% from $14L3 million in 2003. Good growth
was achieved in a number of ratings sectors asaset research. Foreign currency translation dmrted approximately $21 million to
reported revenue growth, reflecting the depreaiatibthe U.S. dollar, mainly versus the Euro. Piit@eases also contributed to year-to-year
growth in reported revenue.

Structured finance revenue was $538.6 million {@94 an increase of $78.0 million or 16.9% from @4amillion in the same period of 20!
Approximately $51 million of this increase was vetUnited States, with the residential mortgagehande equity sector contributing nearly
$34 million of this amount. In this sector, growtlas driven by increases in mortgage lending andehequity loans due to low interest rates,
a strong housing market, and gains in market coeer@ood growth was also achieved in U.S. reveram fatings of collateralized debt
obligations (where the count of issues was up apmEtely 27% versus the prior year) and ratingsafimercial mortgage backed securities
(driven by record market issuance). Internatiotraicsured finance revenue grew approximately $2fianj about 80% of the growth was
attributable to Europe, with growth in all assetssles. Foreign currency translation contributedcqomately $9 million to year-to-year
growth in global structured finance revenue. Pimpeeases also contributed to year-to-year growth.

Corporate finance revenue was $311.5 million in2Q@ $32.7 million or 11.7% from $278.8 million2003. Revenue grew by
approximately $26 million in the United States]eefing strong growth in ratings of speculativedgadonds as well as syndicated bank loans
and other areas not related to public debt issudrize increases also contributed to revenue drawthis sector. These positive impacts
were partially offset by the effects of a year-tsay decline in issuance of investment grade seéesiiit the U.S. markets. International
corporate finance revenue grew approximately $&onijlwith roughly one-half of the growth attribdt¢o foreign currency translation.
Underlying revenue growth primarily reflected higlesuance volumes in Asia outside of Japan andralies Issuance in Europe was weak
compared to 2003. Speculative grade issuance wagysbut investment grade issuance declined yegear as improved corporate
profitability reduced borrowing needs and mergerd acquisitions remained weak.

Revenue in the financial institutions and sovereigk group was $208.9 million for 2004, an increa$ $27.7 million or 15.3% from
$181.2 million in 2003. In the U.S., revenue grel $illion year-to-year, principally reflecting ne&ncings in the real estate sector, new
relationships in the insurance sector, and str@amking issuance as interest rate spreads tight&eenue from outside the U.S. grew
approximately $13 million over the prior year, pariy in Europe. European growth reflected modestéases in issuance volumes, primg
in the banking sector, and good growth from newgatelationships. Foreign currency translationtoboted approximately $3 million to
revenue growth.

Public finance revenue was $82.2 million for 2084lecrease of $5.0 million or 5.7% from $87.2 miillin 2003. Dollar issuance in the
municipal bond market declined 6% versus the sagnegin 2003, reflecting higher borrowing costseduced pool of debt that was
refunded and reduced borrowing needs due to stiengt tax receipts.

Research revenue of $169.5 million for 2004 was&4dllion or 33.6% higher than the $126.9 milliported in 2003. Revenue grew by
approximately $20 million in the U.S. and $16 naifliin Europe. The strong performance reflected grawlicensing of Moody’s
information to financial customers for internal @l redistribution, sales of new products to @égstlients and new clients. Foreign
currency translation also contributed approximag&ymillion to year-to-year growth in reported rauve.

Moody'’s Investors Service operating, selling, gahand administrative expenses, including corpogafenses, were $513.7 million in 2004,
an increase of $51.5 million or 11.1% from $462iftiom in 2003. Compensation and benefits experts®anted for $37 million of the
expense growth. This increase included $15.0 miltedated to stock-based compensation, as discass®e. The growth also reflected
compensation increases and staffing
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growth in many areas, including the specialist edmat support Moody’s Enhanced Analysis Initiatikdditionally, rent and occupancy
costs increased approximately $5 million due tariess expansion. Year-to-year expense growth atdodes higher professional services
costs. Foreign currency translation contributedaxmately $14 million to year-to-year growth irpaated expenses. Depreciation and
amortization expense was $16.9 million in 2004 vs1$15.4 million in 2003.

Moody'’s Investors Service operating income of $Z84illion in 2004 was up $123.0 million or 18.7%ifin $657.1 million in 2003. Foreign
currency translation contributed approximately $ilfiom to the year-to-year growth in operating imce.

Moody’s KMV

Moody’s KMV revenue of $127.6 million for 2004 wap $15.7 million or 14.0% from $111.9 million in @®. Revenue grew by
approximately $8 million in the U.S. and approxigigat$4 million in Europe. About $14 million of MKM¢ global revenue growth was
related to subscriptions for its credit risk assess products, including CreditEdge™, RiskCalc™ Bodtfolio Manager ™representing hig
teens percent revenue growth. Sales of MKMV's d¢nericessing software and training products acamlifdr approximately $2 million of
revenue growth.

MKMV'’s operating, selling, general and administvatiexpenses were $104.1 million for 2004, an irszes $15.4 million or 17.4% from
$88.7 million for 2003. The year-to-year increasenprily reflected growth of $11 million in compeaton and related expenses. This
reflected higher staffing to support the contingeawth of the business as well as a $2.0 milliazréase related to stock-based compensation
as discussed above. Depreciation and amortizatipense was $17.2 million in both 2004 and 2003. MKbperating income was

$6.3 million for 2004 compared with $6.0 millionrfd003. The effects of foreign currency translatieduced MKMV reported year-to-year
growth in operating income by approximately $2 ioiil

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared With Year Erdl December 31, 2002
Total Company Results

Moody’s revenue for 2003 was $1,246.6 million, an inaezs$223.3 million or 21.8% from $1,023.3 millionthe prior year. Assuming tt
Moody’s had acquired KMV on January 1, 2002, Moady'o forma 2002 revenue would have been $1,038liémand year-to-year pro
forma growth in 2003 would have been 20.1%. The @amy benefited from strong growth in a number @& .Uatings sectors, including
residential mortgage-backed securities, home edpgty securitizations and the high yield segmerthefcorporate bond market, and from
strong corporate issuance in Europe in the secatidhthe year. Moody’s research business prodweed strong results and Moody’s KMV
also generated good growth. In addition, foreigmency translation accounted for approximately 8filion of reported revenue growth.

Revenue in the United States was $795.3 millior2fi3, an increase of $114.5 million or 16.8% fi®80.8 million in 2002. Assuming that
Moody’s had acquired KMV on January 1, 2002, prorfa United States revenue for 2002 would have B688.4 million and year-to-year
pro forma growth would have been 15.5%. Strong ¢nomas achieved within Moody’s Investors Serviegl by structured finance, corporate
finance and research.

Moody’s international revenue was $451.3 million in 20@8jncrease of $108.8 million or 31.8% over $344illion in 2002. Assuming thi
Moody’s had acquired KMV on January 1, 2002, prarfa international revenue for 2002 would have %%50.0 million and year-to-year
pro forma growth would have been 28.9%. Growth dragen by strong performance in Europe and seatedr regions, with foreign
currency translation accounting for approximated® ®asis points of reported revenue growth. Intéwnal revenue accounted for 36% of
Moody'’s total revenue in 2003, compared with 33%hia prior year.
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Overall, Moody’s expenses of $550.9 million in 2008re $90.3 million or 19.6% greater than $460.Bioni in 2002. Compensation and
benefits continues to be Moody’s largest expenssyunting for approximately two-thirds of total exses in 2003 and 2002. Moody'’s
increased its overall staffing by almost 200 peppte9%, during 2003 to support continued growtkthia business. The table below shows
Moody'’s staffing at year-end 2003 compared withryerad 2002.

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
United State: International Total United State: International Total
Moody's Investors Servic 1,25¢ 65E 1,91: 1,171 60¢€ 1,775
Moody' s KMV 31¢ 69 387 27¢€ 57 33z
Total 1,57¢ 724 2,30( 1,447 662 2,11(

Operating expenses were $347.3 million in 2003narease of $62.0 million or 21.7% from $285.3 raillin 2002. Assuming that Moody’s
had owned KMV for all of 2002, pro forma operatiexpenses would have been $290.1 million in 2008 yaar-to-year growth would have
been $57.2 million or 19.7%. The largest contribtitothis increase was growth in compensation arefits expense of $48 million. This
reflected compensation increases as well as inedestaffing in Europe, the global structured firmbasiness, the specialist teams that
support Moody’s Enhanced Analysis Initiative, anMV. The year-to-year operating expense increase @adflected $8.0 million related to
the Company’s change in accounting for stock-basatpbensation, mainly for stock options grantedebriaary 2003.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A") expeasvere $203.6 million in 2003, an increase of $28illion or 16.1% from

$175.3 million in 2002. Assuming that Moody’s hasinied KMV for all of 2002, pro forma SG&A expensesuld have been $183.1 million
in 2002, and year-to-year growth would have beehSillion or 11.2%. Year-to-year expense increaseluded higher professional fees of
$4 million, mainly for legal costs, increased comgation and benefits of approximately $4 millioigher rent and occupancy costs to sug
business expansion, and $2.8 million related taCtmpany’s change in accounting for stock-basedpemsation, mainly for stock options
granted in February 2003.

Depreciation and amortization expense increas&3206 million in 2003 from $24.6 million in 2002 nfortization of acquired software and
intangible assets related to the KMV acquisitiors $8.8 million in 2003 compared with $6.3 million2002. If the acquisition of KMV had
been completed as of January 1, 2002, pro formeedigion and amortization would have been $27lianiin 2002 and the pro forma year-
to-year increase would have been $4.9 million. Tiisease was principally related to computer harévwand software placed into service
during 2003.

Operating income of $663.1 million in 2003 rose 02million or 23.2% from $538.1 million in 2002hiE increase was primarily the result
of the revenue growth mentioned above. The streofgibreign currencies, especially the Euro, retato the U.S. dollar accounted for
approximately $8 million of reported operating imm growth. Moody’s operating margin for 2003 wa298 compared to 52.6% in 2002.
The increase reflected the strong growth in revenuiee Moody’s Investors Service business withptoportional increase in expenses.
Partially offsetting this impact were: (1) growthiMoody’s KMV revenue at a lower incremental martfian the Moody’s Investors Service
business; and (2) 2003 expense of $10.8 millicateel to stock-based compensation with no countieirp2002.

Interest and other non-operating expense, net @a&srillion in 2003 compared with $20.7 million2002. The 2003 amount included a gain
of $13.6 million on an insurance recovery relatethe September 11th tragedy, as discussed in Mote the consolidated financial
statements. Interest expense was $23.5 millio®@82nd 2002. The amounts in both periods incl&&48 million of interest expense on
Moody’s $300 million of private placement debt.drgst income was $1.7 million in 2003, down from3haillion in 2002 despite higher
invested cash, due to lower U.S. interest rat@908 compared to 2002. Foreign exchange gains $&2million in 2003 and $0.3 million
2002.
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Moody'’s effective tax rate was 44.6% in 2003 coneplaio 44.2% in 2002. The 2003 effective tax ratduided the impact of a $16.2 million
increase in reserves related to legacy incomexpasures that were assumed by Moody’s in connegtitinits separation from The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation in October, 2000 (see Cgetigies — Legacy Tax Matters, below). This chamg®anted for a 250 basis point
increase in the effective rate in 2003. This inse2@&as partially offset by the favorable impactsaitinued operating growth in jurisdictions
with lower tax rates than New York and tax bendfiten the establishment of a New York captive ilasire company during 2002.

Net income was $363.9 million in 2003, an increafs$75.0 million or 26.0% from $288.9 million in @R. Earnings per share were $2
basic and $2.39 diluted in 2003, compared with $bésic and $1.83 diluted in 2002.

Segment Results
Moody'’s Investors Service

Revenue at Moody’s Investors Service for 2003 wiag 3.7 million, up $192.9 million or 20.5% from4RA8 million in 2002. Good growth
was achieved in a number of ratings sectors asaset research. Foreign currency translation attealfor approximately $22 million of
reported revenue growth. Price increases alsoibated to year-to-year growth in reported revenue.

Structured finance revenue was $460.6 million f8®2 an increase of $76.3 million or 19.9% from 438million in 2002. Approximately
$48 million of this increase was in United Stat@genue, which grew in the mid-teens percent raage $28 million was in international,
which grew in the low twenty percent range. Intheted States, the residential mortgage and homyelpan sector contributed $15 millic
of revenue growth, as low interest rates drovengtrefinancing activity. Good growth was also aghikin revenue from ratings of asset
backed securities, reflecting yearytear growth of about 10% in issuance volumes, @agily student loans, and higher average pricestd
more complex transactions. Revenue from ratingsexdit derivatives also grew year-to-year. OutsideUnited States, European structured
finance was the main growth driver, contributingt$gillion of year-toyear revenue growth. This principally reflectedwgtioin collateralize
debt obligations and residential mortgage backedr#iees. Foreign currency translation and priceé@ases also contributed to year-to-year
growth in global structured finance revenue.

Corporate finance revenue was $278.8 million in2@@ $51.1 million or 22.4% from $227.7 million2002. Revenue grew by $27 million
in the United States, where the number of spemal@fiade issues rose significantly year-to-yeartduefinancings and new issuers. In
addition, the number of investment grade issuaraesactions increased nearly 10% year-to-yeamadfh dollar issuance declined. U.S.
revenue growth was also derived from areas notae@l® public debt issuance such as syndicated loankratings and relationship-based
fees. In Europe, revenue grew by $19 million yeayear. The dollar volume of issuance was up netit% primarily due to refinancing
activity (as spreads tightened) and new issuerssaatg the market. Price increases also contribiotgdar-to-year growth in global corporate
finance revenue.

Revenue in the financial institutions and sovereigk group was $181.2 million for 2003, an inceea$ $26.2 million or 16.9% from
$155.0 million for 2002. The year-to-year growthsvedmost wholly due to Europe, where revenue gr@xtteeded 40%. This reflected a
substantial year-tgear increase in issuance and the addition of ssuers. In the U.S., revenue was flat versus sfpaongyear comparison
Price increases also contributed to global findnogitutions revenue growth over the prior year.

Public finance revenue of $87.2 million for 2003sxgp $6.0 million or 7.4% from $81.2 million in 2ZBMollar issuance in the municipal
bond market grew 5% versus 2002, but issuanceasf-tsérm notes declined year-to-year. Refinanciegsesented approximately 34% of
total dollar issuance in 2003 versus 33% in 2002.

Research revenue increased $33.3 million or 3566$4.26.9 million for 2003, compared with $93.6 ioifl for 2002. Revenue grew by
$18 million in the U.S. and $13 million in Eurogéhe strong performance was driven by
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growth in licensing of Moody’s information to fineial customers for internal use and redistributgales of new products to existing clients
and new clients. Foreign currency translation atsatributed to year-to-year growth in reported rewe

Moody’s Investors Service operating, selling, gahand administrative expenses, including corpoeagenses, were $462.2 million in 2003,
an increase of $76.5 million or 19.8% from $385illiom in 2002. Compensation and benefits experamanted for $52 million of the total
expense growth. This reflected compensation ineeand staffing growth in Europe and the globaicstred finance business as well as the
specialist teams that support Moody’s Enhanced ysmlnitiative. Despite the increase in staffimgentive compensation decreased slightly
yea-to-year due to lower growth in the Company’s ofirgaresults in 2003 compared with 2002. Other steayear expense increases
included: $9.6 million related to the Company’smde in accounting for stock-based compensationr(iynaglated to stock options granted in
February 2003); $7 million for increased profesaidees, mainly for legal fees and technology ctimgicosts; and $4 million related to re
occupancy and travel related costs in connectidin ldsiness expansion. Foreign currency translaiem contributed to year-to-year growth
in reported expenses. Depreciation and amortizatipense was $15.4 million in 2003 versus $12.#aniin 2002. The year-tgear increas

of $2.7 million principally related to computer darare and software placed into service during 2003.

Moody's Investors Service operating income of $&5iillion in 2003 was up $113.7 million or 20.9%ifn $543.4 million in 2002.
Moody’'s KMV

The following table shows Moody’s KMV reported résifor 2003 compared with the reported result2fa@2 (the “reported comparisons”),
and compared with 2002 on a pro forma basis predeay if Moody’s had acquired KMV on January 1,208e “pro forma comparisons”),
in a manner consistent with SFAS No. 141 and abduidescribed in Note 5 to the consolidated fireratatements. The discussion of
MKMV results of operations that follows is basedtba pro forma comparisons.

Reported Comparisons Pro Forma Comparisons
2003 Variance to 200: 2003 Variance to 200:
(dollars in millions) 2003 2002 $ % 2002 $ %
Revenue $ 111.¢ $ 81t $ 304 37.% $ 96.¢ $ 15.: 15.&8%
Operating expense 88.7 74.¢ 13.¢ 18.4% 87.t 1.2 1.4%
Depreciation and amortizatic 17.2 11.¢ 5.3 44.5% 15.C 2.2 14.7%
Operating income (los: $ 6.0 ($5.9) $ 11.: ($5.9) $ 11¢

MKMV'’s pro forma year-to-year revenue increase @92 principally reflected $12 million of growth gubscription revenue from credit risk
assessment products, including Credit Eb§eRiskCalc™ , and Portfolio ManageiM . Revenue from license fees and maintenance related
to credit processing software grew $2 million yeasear.

Operating, selling, general and administrative egps in 2003 increased slightly compared to pnm#02002 expenses. Compensation and
benefits expense was flat year-to-year. The impafat®mpensation increases and higher staffingippesrt the continued growth of the
business were offset by lower expenses for incerddmpensation due to below target operating padoce in 2003, whereas performance
was above target in 2002. Commission expense fiat plarty distributors declined due to lower sdlesn this source in 2003. Expenses in
2003 included $1.2 million related to the Compargfiange in accounting for stock-based compensatiamly for options granted in
February 2003. Pro forma depreciation and amontizaxpense reflected $8.8 million of amortizatafracquired KMV software and
intangible assets in each period. The pro forma-i@gear increase in depreciation and amortizagmense was primarily due to increased
amortization of capitalized software developmerstso
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Market Risk

Moody’s maintains operations in 19 countries ot United States. Approximately 25% of the Comyfsarevenue was billed in

currencies other than the U.S. dollar in 2004, gpally the Euro. Approximately 30% of the Compangxpenses were incurred in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar in 2004, principally taaro and the British Pound. As such, the Comparmxposed to market risk from changes in
foreign exchange rates.

As of December 31, 2004, approximately 18% of Mos@gsets were located outside the U.S. Of Moodgtgegate cash and cash
equivalents of $606.1 million at December 31, 2Qhroximately $102 million was located outside ltheted States (with $83 million in ti
U.K.), making the Company susceptible to fluctuagiin foreign exchange rates. The effects of changthe value of foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar on assets and liakgitbf non-U.S. operations are charged or creditéldet cumulative translation adjustment in
shareholders’ equity.

Moody’s cash equivalents consist of investmentsigh quality short-term securities within and odésthe United States. By policy, the
Company limits the amount it can invest with ang @ssuer and allocates its cash equivalents amamgus money market mutual funds,
short-term certificates of deposit or issuers ghhjrade commercial paper.

The Company has not engaged in foreign currencgihgdransactions nor does the Company have anyadiee financial instruments.
However, the Company continues to assess the neatdr into hedging transactions to limit its rile to fluctuations in exchange rates and
may enter into such transactions in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

The Company is currently financing its operationd aapital expenditures through cash flow from afiens. Net cash provided by operating
activities was $519.7 million, $468.4 million, afi@34.8 million for the years ended December 31420003 and 2002.

Moody’s net cash provided by operating activities in 2b@4eased by $51.3 million compared with 2003. {@iboting to this growth was tt
increase in net income of $61.2 million, which iméd increases in non-cash expenses of $17.0 mitlated to stock-based compensation,
and $13.8 million related to legacy tax provisiémswhich cash payments have not yet been madaddition, cash tax benefits from the
exercise of stock options in 2004 exceeded the gear by $22.6 million. Partially offsetting theseurces of cash in 2004 were negative
effects due to timing of income tax payments. 16£2dhe Company made approximately $47 millionnabime tax payments related to 2003
tax liabilities. This includes approximately $11llion related to the change in treatment of taxdfies for stock options outstanding prior to
the Company’s separation from Dun & Bradstreetliasussed in Note 2 to the consolidated finand&ksents.

Moody’s net cash provided by operating activitie2003 increased by $133.6 million compared with20 he two largest factors affecting
the year-to-year increase were growth in net incofif&75.0 million, and a year-over-year decreas®l@.0 million in income tax payments
despite an increase of $64.0 million in the incdeeprovision. Income tax payments totaled $210l6am in 2003 compared to

$226.6 million in 2002. The 2002 amount include® $illion of tax payments that were deferred frod®2 to 2002 due to the

September 11th tragedy. Also, the 2003 amount eaxamébly affected by timing of tax payments. Iniéidd to the two factors noted above,
growth in deferred revenue accounted for $21.9onilbf the year-to-year increase in net cash pexvidy operating activities in 2003, and
higher non-cash expenses for depreciation and aatioh and stock-based compensation accounteahfadditional $18.8 million of
favorable variance. Partially offsetting these igtpaMoody’s investment in accounts receivablegased by $75.2 million year-to-year. This
increase reflected continued growth in the busirggsificant year-to-year growth in billings inetiourth quarter of 2003 and an increase in
days billings outstanding during 2003.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $24.8oni] $17.1 million and $223.6 million for the ysaended December 31, 2004, 2003
2002, respectively. Investing activities in eachrygrincipally consisted of capital expendituresgistments in affiliates and acquisitions
(most notably the 2002 acquisition of KMV). The 20dmount included approximately $3.5 million rethte investments in rating agencies
in Russia, Korea, Egypt and India. The 2003 ammaitided $1.1 million of cash acquired in connettidith an increase in the Company’s
ownership of Argentine rating agencies, as desdribélote 5 to the consolidated financial staterme@tish used for acquisitions included
$205.4 million (net of cash acquired) for KMV in@Q Spending for property and equipment and forctpgtalization of development costs
for MKMV'’s software products totaled $21.3 milliofi17.9 million and $18.1 million in 2004, 2003 &2@D2, respectively.

Net cash used in financing activities was $162.lanj $227.7 million and $236.6 million for the e ended December 31, 2004, 2003
2002, respectively. During 2003, the Company refdi@l7.1 million of borrowings that had been outdtag under its bank revolving credit
facility at December 31, 2002. Spending for shaprchases totaled $221.3 million in 2004, $17lilliom in 2003 and $369.9 million in
2002. These amounts were offset in part by prociFedsexercises of stock options of $105.0 millinor2004, $79.0 million in 2003 and
$54.0 million in 2002. Dividends paid were $44.7liom, $26.8 million and $27.8 million in 2004, 2B@nd 2002, respectively. The increase
in 2004 reflects a quarterly dividend of $0.075 glegire in 2004 versus $0.045 per share in 2002002l

Future Cash Requirements

Moody'’s currently expects to fund expenditures afl s liquidity needs created by changes in waykiapital from internally generated
funds. The Company believes that it has the firemeisources needed to meet its cash requirenmmmtsef next twelve months and expects to
have positive operating cash flow for fiscal ye@®2. Cash requirements for periods beyond the tagstve months will depend among other
things on the Company’s profitability and its atyilio manage working capital requirements.

The Company currently intends to use a portiorisofash flow to pay a quarterly dividend, which Baard of Directors raised from $0.045
per share to $0.075 per share in December 2008ebruary 15, 2005, the board voted to increaseuheterly dividend per share to $0.11,
before giving effect to a proposed two-for-one ktsplit, payable on June 15, 2005 to shareholdersoord as of May 27, 2005. If the stock
split is effected, as discussed in this Managemdbiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations under
“Dividends”, then on a post-split basis, the dividewill be increased to 5.5 cents per share fraBti5 cents per share that otherwise would
have been paid absent the dividend increase. Titeéhaed payment of dividends at this rate, or htikubject to the discretion of the Board
of Directors.

The Company currently also intends to use the ritgjof its remaining cash flow provided by operatiactivities to continue its share
repurchase program. However, the Company exerdiseretion as to when and at what price to repuetshares. Accordingly, share
repurchase activity may fluctuate from quartertarter, and there may be periods in which the Complaes not repurchase shares.

In addition, the Company will from time to time &ider cash outlays for acquisitions of or investtaém complementary businesses,
products, services and technologies. The Companyatsa be required to make future cash outlaysudticg during 2005, to pay to New
D&B its share of potential liabilities related teetlegacy tax and legal contingencies that areudssd in this Management'’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Giems under “Contingencies”. In addition, managehi® currently evaluating refinancing
alternatives for its $300 million of notes payabidgstanding, which mature in September 2005. possible that the Company may not
immediately refinance these notes when they maiturghich case their repayment would substantiatuce the Company’s cash balance.
These potential cash outlays could be materialnaigtht affect liquidity requirements, and they coalitise the Company to pursue additional
financing. There can be no assurance that finartcimgeet cash requirements will be available in am®or on terms acceptable to the
Company, if at all.
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Indebtednes:

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company hadamdizig $300 million of notes payable. The Compalsp had in place a $160 million
bank revolving credit facility. There were no bamings under the revolving credit facility during@®

The $300 million of notes payable were securedimection with the 2000 Distribution, as that tésndefined in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements. In connection with the 200&tibution, Moody’s was allocated $195.5 milliohdebt at September 30, 2000. Moody's
funded this debt with borrowings under a $160 millunsecured bank revolving credit facility andaalbbridge line of credit. On October 3,
2000 the Company issued $300 million of notes pleyéthe “Notes”) in a private placement. The casitpeds from the Notes were used in
part to repay the outstanding balance on the ravgleredit facility and to repay the bridge lineasédit. The Notes have a five-year term and
bear interest at an annual rate of 7.61%, payadte-annually. In the event that Moody’s pays alpart of the Notes in advance of their
maturity (the “prepaid principal”), such prepaymsiill be subject to a penalty calculated basedheneixcess, if any, of the discounted value
of the remaining scheduled payments, as defindderagreement, over the prepaid principal. Managémen the process of evaluating
refinancing alternatives for the Notes when theyurein September 2005. At December 31, 2004, ited\Nhave been classified as a current
liability.

On September 1, 2004, Moody’s entered into a fiearysenior, unsecured revolving credit facilitye(tiracility”) in an aggregate principal
amount of $160 million that expires in Septembed®0This Facility replaced the $80 million 5-yeacifity that was scheduled to expire in
September 2005 and the $80 million 364-day faciligt expired in September 2004. Interest on bamgsvunder the Facility is payable at
rates that are based on the London InterBank QffRate plus a premium that can range from 17 Ipesigs to 47.5 basis points, depending
on the Company’s ratio of total indebtedness toiegs before interest, taxes, depreciation and aration (“Earnings Coverage Ratio”), as
defined in the related agreement. At December B@42such premium was 17 basis points. The Comaksaypays quarterly facility fees,
regardless of borrowing activity under the Facilitye quarterly fees can range from 8 basis poihtse Facility amount to 15 basis points,
depending on the Company’s Earnings Coverage Ratiwere 8 basis points at December 31, 2004. ithdd-acility, the Company also
pays a utilization fee of 12.5 basis points on é®waings outstanding when the aggregate amount olistg under the Facility exceeds 50%
the Facility.

Management may consider pursuing additional lomgrfinancing when it is appropriate in light of bagquirements for share repurchase
and other strategic opportunities, which would leisthigher financing costs.

The Notes and the Facility (the “Agreements”) camtavenants that, among other things, restricthibty of the Company and its
subsidiaries, without the approval of the lendergngage in mergers, consolidations, asset se@sactions with affiliates and sale-
leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as defim¢he related agreements. The Agreements als@icdfinancial covenants that, among
other things, require the Company to maintain aer@st coverage ratio, as defined in the relatedemgents, of not less than 3 to 1 for any
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, andcamings Coverage Ratio, as defined in the relatgdements, of not more than 4 to 1 at the
end of any fiscal quarter. At December 31, 2004,Glompany was in compliance with such covenantsnUlpe occurrence of certain
financial or economic events, significant corporatents or certain other events constituting amesedefault under the Agreements, alll
loans outstanding under the Agreements (includougueed interest and fees payable thereunder) magdared immediately due and pay:
and all commitments under the Agreements may beitated. In addition, certain other events of ditfander the Agreements would
automatically result in amounts due becoming immidly due and payable and all commitments beingiteted.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, Moaglgid not have any relationships with unconsolidaatities or financial partnerships, such as ies
often referred to as special purpose or varialibr@st entities, which would have been establigbethe purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrolimited
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purposes. As such, Moody’s is not exposed to amgniiing, liquidity, market or credit risk that cdwdrise if it had engaged in such
relationships.

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents payments due undeCtirapany’s contractual obligations as of Decemlie2B04.

Payments Due by Period

Less Than :
(in millions) Total Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years Over 5 Years
Notes payable (1 $322¢ $ 322¢ $ — $ — 3% —
Operating lease obligatiol 65.C 15.7 22.1 15.2 11.¢
Capital lease obligatior 1.3 1.3 — — —
Contingent payment related to acquisition of Kdregestors Service ( 3.7 3.7 — — —
Purchase obligations (. 5.¢ 2.7 2.8 0.4 —
Total $ 398.7 $ 346. $ 24.¢ $ 15.7 $ 11.¢

(1) Includes $5.7 million of accrued interest as etEBmber 31, 2004 and $17.1 million of interest thfitaccrue and be due from
January 1, 2005 through September 30, 2005, wheendtes mature

(2) This amount reflects Moody’s current estimatéhef contingent payment related to the acquisitiokarea Investors Service, which
will be determined based on the net income of Kémgastors Service for the three-year period eridlecember 31, 2004. See Note 5
to the consolidated financial statemei

(3) Purchase obligations include contracts for telecompations, data processing services and-up facilities, and professional servic
2005 Outlook

Moody'’s outlook for the full year 2005 is basedassumptions about many macroeconomic and capitiletactors, including interest
rates, corporate profitability and business investispending, merger and acquisition activity, comsr spending, residential mortgage
refinancing activity, securitization levels and itabmarkets issuance. There is an important degfeacertainty surrounding these
assumptions and, if actual conditions differ frdrage assumptions, Moody’s results for the year difégr from the outlook presented below.

In the U.S., the Company expects mid-single-digiicent revenue growth for the ratings and reseausimess for the full year 2005. In the
U.S. structured finance market, Moody’s expects thaenue from rating residential mortgage and hemsety securities will decline by
approximately twenty percent or more in 2005 fréva tecord level of 2004. The Company expects gead-pver-year growth in several
other sectors of U.S. structured finance, includieget-backed securities and credit derivatieesl flat to modest growth in asset-backed
commercial paper and commercial mortgage-backeadrities. Accordingly, for the full year Moody’s egpts a modest decline in U.S.
structured finance revenue. In the U.S. corpoiliante business, the Company expects that mod®sttgin investment-grade issuance and
bank loan ratings, and revenue from our EnhanceadyAis Initiative, will offset relative weaknessspeculativegrade bond activity, resultii
in high single-digit percent growth in revenue.tiésuance volume in the financial institutionstee the U.S. is expected to be offset by
revenue from the Enhanced Analysis Initiative aad mating relationships, allowing low double-digércent growth in this business in the
U.S. in 2005. Moody’s expects a second consecytae of modest year-to-year revenue decline in puslic finance. The Company is also
forecasting continued strong growth in the U.Seagsh business.

Outside the U.S. Moody’s expects growth in ratingd research revenue in the range of 20%, with ldedigit percent growth in all major
business lines in almost all regions assisted bgr&ble foreign currency impacts. The Company’ggmtion assumes improved corporate
issuance in Europe after a relatively weak 2004desb
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issuance growth in the financial institutions seetod growth in several sectors of structured firaim Europe and Japan. In addition,
Moody’s expects continued strong growth in inteioval research revenue.

Finally, the Company continues to expect globakree to rise in the mid-teens percent range at MedtMV, reflecting good growth in
both credit risk assessment subscription produtdsceedit processing software products.

For Moody'’s overall, the Company expects high sndjlgit percent revenue growth for the full yea®20ncluding the positive impact of
currency translation. Moody’s expects the operatiraggin including the impact of expensing stockdshsompensation to be down
approximately 200 basis points in 2005 comparet 2@04. This reflects slower revenue growth in 20@H in 2004 and continued
investments in expanding geographically, improwanglytic processes, and pursuing ratings transpgr@md compliance initiatives in the
Moody'’s Investors Service business, introducing pemducts and improving technology. For 2005 thenGany expects that year-over-year
growth in diluted earnings per share will be in thigl-teens percent range. This expected growthidted the impacts of the legacy tax
provisions in 2004 and the expensing of stock-basetpensation in 2004 and 2005. The impact of esipgrstock-based compensation is
expected to be in the range of $0.18 — $0.20 petedi share in 2005, compared to $0.11 per dilstede in 2004. The estimated 2005
impact excludes any effects of adopting StatemgRtr@mncial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Shaesd&] Payment”, which will be
effective as of July 1, 2005, and is more fullycdissed in Note 2 to the consolidated financiakstants.

Additional Factors That May Affect Future Results

The following risk factors and other informatiorcinded in this annual report on Form 10-K shoula@esfully considered. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only dme£ompany faces. Additional risks and uncerigémot presently known to the Comp:
or that the Company’s management currently deemsat@rial also may impair its business operatidnany of the following risks occur,
Moody'’s business, financial condition, operatingulés and cash flows could be materially adveraéfigcted.

Changes in the Volume of Debt Securities Issueddamestic and/or Global Capital Markets and Changadnterest Rates and Other
Volatility in the Financial Markets

Approximately 80% of Moody’s revenue in 2004 wasikd from ratings, a significant portion of whieras related to the issuance of credit-
sensitive securities in the global capital marketsody’s revenue growth from these sources in 2084 lower than its growth in 2001
through 2003 as strong growth in global structdieaince and financial institutions issuance, arichgs of U.S. high-yield issues and bank
credit facilities, was partially offset by the ingtg of declines in investment grade corporate fiedesuance volumes in the U.S. and Europe.
The Company anticipates that a substantial pats dfusiness will continue to be dependent on theber and dollar volume of debt
securities issued in the capital markets. TheretbeeCompany’s results could be adversely affebted reduction in the level of debt
issuance.

Unfavorable financial or economic conditions thigher reduce investor demand for debt securitie®duce issuers’ willingness or ability to
issue such securities could reduce the number altett d#olume of debt issuance for which Moody’syad®es ratings services. In addition,
increases in interest rates or credit spreadstilylan financial markets or the interest ratevepnment, significant political or economic
events, defaults of significant issuers and otherket and economic factors may negatively impaeigneral level of debt issuance, the debt
issuance plans of certain categories of borroveerd/or the types of credit-sensitive products beiffigred. A sustained period of market
decline or weakness could also have a materialrad\edfect on Moody’s business and financial result

Possible Loss of Market Share or Revenue Throughn@petition or Regulatior

The markets for credit ratings, research and creskitmanagement services are intensely competithemdy’s competes on the basis of a
number of factors, including quality of ratingsgecit service, research, reputation, price,
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geographic scope, range of products and technalbigicovation. Moody'’s faces increasing competitimm S&P, Fitch, DBRS, local rating
agencies in a number of jurisdictions and nicheames that provide ratings for particular type§irdincial products or issuers (such as
A.M. Best Company in the insurance industry). Siktmody’s believes that some of its most significant cimglés and opportunities will ari
outside the U.S., it will have to compete with mgtagencies that may have a stronger local preseracéonger operating history in those
markets. These local providers or comparable catopethat may emerge in the future may receivepetidrom local governments or other
institutions.

Currently, Moody’s, S&P, Fitch, DBRS and A.M. B&bmpany, Inc. are designated as NRSROs by the SBQune 4, 2003, the SEC
issued a Concept Release regarding the credigrintustry, wherein it posed and requested p@blicment on a series of questions
categorized into three broad areas: 1) should tratiings continue to be used for regulatory puggamder the federal securities laws; 2) i
what should be the process for determining whosditcratings to use; and, 3) if credit ratings awnt to be used in federal securities laws,
what is the appropriate level of oversight for #fiyencies whose ratings are used?

Numerous market participants, including Mo’s, responded to the call for comment. Moody’s tese can be found on the Company’s
website at www.moodys.com. At present, Moody’sriahle to assess the likelihood of any regulatogngles that may result from the SEC’s
ongoing review. However, the elimination of the NS concept, retention of the NRSRO concept witfedst regulatory oversight, or St
recognition of additional NRSROs could result indmf market share or revenue for Moody’s, or higiosts of operations.

Introduction of Competing Products or Technologiéy Other Companie

The markets for credit ratings, research and creskitmanagement services are increasingly coningetithe ability to provide innovative
products and technologies that anticipate custdrokesging requirements and utilize emerging tebdbgioal trends is a key factor in
maintaining market share. Competitors may develamtjtative methodologies or related services §seasing credit risk that customers and
market participants may deem preferable to or most-effective or more valuable than the credk gssessment methods currently
employed by Moody’s.

Increased Pricing Pressure from Competitors and@ustomers

In the credit rating, research and credit risk ngamaent markets, competition for customers and mati@e has spurred more aggressive
tactics by some competitors in areas such as graial service. Moody'’s intends to continue prowdime highest quality products and the
best service to its customers and the capital nmrkiwever, if its pricing and services are ndfisiently competitive with its current and
future competitors, Moody’s may lose market share.

Possible Loss of Key Employees to Investment or @amtial Banks or Elsewhere and Related Compensatitwst Pressure

Moody'’s success depends in part upon recruitingratadning highly skilled, experienced financiabfysts and other professionals.
Competition for qualified staff in the financialrs&es industry is intense, and Moody’s abilityatitract staff could be impaired if it is unable
to offer competitive compensation and other inaexsti Investment banks and other competitors follyantlent may be able to offer higher
compensation than Moody’s. Moody’s also may noabke to identify and hire employees outside the Wish the required experience or
skills to perform sophisticated credit analysis.ddg’s ability to effectively compete will continue tepkend, among other things, on its ab
to attract new employees and to retain and motiegiteting employees.

Exposure to Litigation Related to Moo’s Rating Opinions

Moody'’s faces litigation from time to time from piais claiming damages relating to ratings actibmsddition, as Moody’s international
business expands, these types of claims may ireleEasause foreign jurisdictions may not
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have legal protections or liability standards corapée to those in the U.S. (such as protectionshf@expression of credit opinions as is
provided by the First Amendment). These risks oftery be difficult to assess or quantify and thaisence and magnitude often remains
unknown for substantial periods of time.

Potential Emergence of Governme-Sponsored Credit Rating Agencies

When governments adopt regulations that requiré sksturities to be rated, establish criteria feddrratings or authorize only certain enti
to provide credit ratings, the competitive balano®ng rating agencies and the level of demandatorgs may be positively or negatively
affected. Government-mandated ratings criteria aiggy have the effect of displacing objective assesss of creditworthiness. In these
circumstances, issuers may be less likely to Hase ¢hoice of rating agencies on criteria sucldspendence and credibility, and more
likely to base their choice on their assumptiomoashich credit rating agency might provide a higteting, which may negatively affect the
Company.

Potential for New U.S., Foreign, State and Local gislation and Regulations, Including Those Relatirtg Nationally Recognize
Statistical Rating Organization

In the United States and other countries, the kwgsregulations applicable to credit ratings anithigaagencies continue to evolve and are
presently subject to review by a number of legigtabr regulatory bodies, including the SEC in thdted States and the CESR on behalf of
the European Union. It is possible that such resieauld lead to greater oversight or regulationceoming the issuance of credit ratings ot
activities of credit rating agencies. Such add#aiaegulations could, potentially, increase thesassociated with the operation of a credit
rating agency, alter the rating agencies’ commuitina with the issuers as part of the rating agaignmt process, increase the legal risk
associated with the issuance of credit ratingspgbahe regulatory framework to which credit rataggencies are subject and/or affect the
competitive environment in which credit rating agiels operate. A description of certain of the nteent regulatory initiatives in the United
States and other countries is described above thdeection entitled “Regulation” in Item 1, “Bosss”, of this Form 10-K. At present,
Moody'’s is unable to predict the regulatory chantas may result from ongoing reviews by the SE®@tber regulatory bodies or the effect
that any such changes may have on its business.
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Multinational Operations

Moody’s maintains offices outside the U.S. andwsia significant portion of its revenue from s@sroutside the U.S. Operations in several
different countries expose Moody'’s to a numberegfal, economic and regulatory risks such as:

changes in legal and regulatory requirements affg@ither Mood’s operations or its custom’ use of rating:

possible nationalization, expropriation, price cofgt and other restrictive governmental acti

restrictions on the ability to convert local curcgrinto U.S. dollar:

currency fluctuation

export and import restrictions, tariffs and othade barrier:

difficulty in staffing and managing offices as au# of, among other things, distance, travel,uraltdifferences and intense competition
for trained personn

* longer payment cycles and problems in collectirgreables
« political and economic instabilit
 potentially adverse tax consequen

Although such factors have not historically hadaterial adverse effect on the business, financatlition and results of operations of the
Company, any of these factors could have suchfantef the future.

Contingencies

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that amdantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Modyfanagement periodically assesses the Compéiabitities and contingencies in
connection with these matters, based upon thet iafesmation available. For those matters wheie lioth probable that a liability has been
incurred and the probable amount of loss can bsorebly estimated, the Company believes it hagdedoappropriate reserves in the
consolidated financial statements and periodicadlysts these reserves as appropriate. In oth@anices, because of the uncertainties related
to both the probable outcome and amount or rangesef management is unable to make a reasonahtetsof a liability, if any. As
additional information becomes available, the Comypadjusts its assessments and estimates of sumlities accordingly.

Based on its review of the latest information aalali¢, in the opinion of management, the ultimaibility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material
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adverse effect on Moody’s financial position, résaff operations or cash flows, subject to the iogencies described below.
Legacy Contingencies

To understand the Company’s exposure to the patdiatbilities described below, it is importantuaderstand the relationship between
Moody’s and New D&B, and the relationship among N2&B and its predecessors and other parties whiouthh various corporate
reorganizations and related contractual commitmératge assumed varying degrees of responsibilitly veispect to such matters.

In November 1996, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporationugh a spin-off separated into three separatégpeompanies: The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation, ACNielsen Corporation (“A€Nen”) and Cognizant Corporation (“Cognizanthgt'1996 Distribution”). Under the
terms of the distribution agreement relating to1B866 Distribution (the “1996 Distribution Agreent&neach party thereto is prohibited frc
distributing to its stockholders any business tiat been allocated to it in connection with theGLB%stribution, unless the distributed
business delivers an undertaking agreeing to Inélycand severally liable to the other parties urtle 1996 Distribution Agreement for the
liabilities of the distributing parent company undige 1996 Distribution Agreement.

In June 1998, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporationubtoa spin-off separated into two separate publioganies: The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation and R.H. Donnelley Corporation (“Donegl) (the “1998 Distribution”). During 1998, Cogrant through a spin-off separated
into two separate public companies: IMS Health fpocated (“IMS Health”) and Nielsen Media Reseatol, (“NMR”). In September 200t
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“Old D&B”) throlig spin-off separated into two separate publicgamies: New D&B and Moody'’s, as
further described in Note 1 to the consolidatedritial statements.

Information Resources, Inc

The following is a description of an antitrust lautdiled in 1996 by Information Resources, IndRI"). As more fully described below,

VNU N.V., a publicly traded Dutch company, andutss. subsidiaries, VNU, Inc., ACNielsen Corporat{ACNielsen”), AC Nielsen (US),
Inc. (“ACN (US)"), and Nielsen Media Research, If®NMR”) (collectively, the “VNU Parties”), have aamed exclusive joint and several
liability for any judgment or settlement of thistiiust lawsuit. As a result of the indemnity olatgpn, Moodys does not have any exposur

a judgment or settlement of this lawsuit unless\hi) Parties default on their obligations. Howevarthe event of such a default,
contractual commitments undertaken by Moody’s inregction with various corporate reorganizationsaih996 would require the Company
to bear a portion of any amount not paid by the VIRAUties. Moreover, as described below, on FebrliaP905, the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York entered a finalgment against IRI dismissing IRI's claims witlejodice and on the merits.

In July 1996, IRI filed a complaint, subsequentiyeanded in 1997, in the U.S. District Court for 8authern District of New York, naming
defendants the corporation then known as The Dirastreet Corporation (now known as R.H. Donnely. Nielsen Company (a
subsidiary of ACNielsen) and IMS International, .I(& subsidiary of the company then known as Cagn)z At the time of the filing of the
complaint, each of the other defendants was a dialpgiof the company then known as The Dun & BraggtCorporation.

The amended complaint alleges various violationdrifed States antitrust laws under Sections 12aotithe Sherman Act. The amended
complaint also alleges a claim of tortious intezfare with a contract and a claim of tortious irgerfice with a prospective business
relationship. These claims relate to the acquisitip defendants of Survey Research Group Limit&RG"). IRI alleged SRG violated an
alleged agreement with IRl when it agreed to baigied by defendants and that defendants induced t8R@ach that agreement.

IRI's antitrust claims allege that defendants depetl and implemented a plan to undermine IRI'stgid compete within the United States
and foreign markets in North America, Latin Ameriéaia, Europe and
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Australia/New Zealand through a series of anti-cetitipe practices, including: unlawfully tying/buliny services in the markets in which
defendants allegedly had monopoly power with sessia markets in which ACNielsen competed with I&itering into exclusionary
contracts with retailers in certain countries toyléRI's access to sales data necessary to proeidé tracking services or to artificially raise
the cost of that data; predatory pricing; acquirfioggign market competitors with the intent of irdpey IRI's efforts to expand; disparaging
IRI to financial analysts and clients; and denyliRjaccess to capital necessary for it to compete.

IRl is seeking in excess of $650 million, which [&$o asked to be trebled. IRI has filed with thei€ the report of its expert who has opined
that IRI suffered damages of between $582 millind $652 million from the defendants’ alleged preesi IR| also sought punitive damages
in an unspecified amount.

On June 21, 2004, pursuant to a stipulation betileeand defendants, the Court ordered that cedalRI's claims be dismissed with
prejudice from the lawsuit, including the claimattidefendants tortiously interfered with the SRGuasition. The Company believes that the
dismissal of the tortious interference claims gdsecludes any claim for punitive damages.

On December 3, 2004, the Court entered In liminge®No. 1, which bars IRI from “arguing that Nieise pricing practices or discounts w
illegal or anti-competitive unless it can provethmvolved prices below short-run average variatast, calculated without the inclusion of
Nielser's ‘Fixed Operations’ costs”. On December 17, 20®4,issued a press release, which said in relepartt “Without this evidence, IF
believes that little would be left of IRI's casettke to trial”. IRl asked the Court to enter aafijudgment against it, so that it could take an
immediate appeal to the Court of Appeals for theoBd Circuit. Defendants did not object to thisuest. On February 1, 2005 the Court
entered a final judgment dismissing IRI's claimshaprejudice and on February 2, 2005, the CousrentIRI's notice of appeal to the Seci
Circuit. The Court of Appeals for the Second Cittds ordered that the appeal be argued no etréiarthe week of June 13, 2005.

In connection with the 1996 Distribution, NMR (thkemown as Cognizant Corporation), ACNielsen and mxdley (then known as The Dun
Bradstreet Corporation) entered into an Indemnity doint Defense Agreement (the “Original Indemuityg Joint Defense Agreement”),
pursuant to which they agreed to:

« allocate potential liabilities that may relate aoise out of or result from the IRI lawsu“IRI Liabilities”); and

e conduct a joint defense of such acti

In 2001, ACNielsen was acquired by VNU N.V., whaksumed ACNielsen’s obligations under the Origindémnity and Joint Defense
Agreement.

Under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, Old D&Bsamed all potential liabilities of Donnelley (themown as The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation) arising from the IRI action and agréethdemnify Donnelley in connection with such @atial liabilities. Under the terms of t
2000 Distribution, New D&B undertook to be jointynd severally liable with Moody’s for Old D&B’s dghtions to Donnelley under the
1998 Distribution, including for any liabilitiesiamg under the Original Indemnity and Joint Defedgireement and arising from the IRI
action itself. However, as between New D&B and Mgsdit was agreed that under the 2000 Distribyteach of New D&B and Moody’s
will be responsible for 50% of any payments reqlib@be made to or on behalf of Donnelley with extfio the IRI action under the terms of
the 1998 Distribution, including legal fees or emxpes related to the IRI action.

On July 30, 2004, the VNU Parties, Donnelley, Mdedilew D&B and IMS Health entered into an Amenaed Restated Indemnity and
Joint Defense Agreement (the “Amended Indemnity midt Defense Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Amended Indemnity and Joint Defédmgeement, any and all IRI Liabilities incurred bgnnelley, Moody’s, New D&B or
IMS Health relating to a judgment (even if not finar any settlement being entered into in thedBtion will be jointly and severally
assumed, and fully discharged, exclusively by théMParties. Under the Amended Indemnity and JoefeBse Agreement, the VNU Pari
have agreed to, jointly
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and severally, indemnify Donnelley, Moody’s, New B&nd IMS Health from and against all IRI Liabiis to which they become subject.
As a result, the cap on ACNielsen'’s liability ftwetIRI Liabilities, which was provided for in thai@inal Indemnity and Joint Defense
Agreement, no longer exists and all such liabgitiee the responsibility of the VNU Parties pursuarthe Amended Indemnity and Joint
Defense Agreement.

In addition, the Amended Indemnity and Joint DeéeAgreement provides that if it becomes necessapps$t any bond pending an appeal of
an adverse judgment, then the VNU Parties shadlinbbe bond required for the appeal and shallthayull cost of such bond.

In connection with entering into the Amended Indégnand Joint Defense Agreement, Donnelley, Moodiew D&B and IMS Health
agreed to amend certain covenants of the Origimdgrnity and Joint Defense Agreement to provideaimal flexibility for ACNielsen
going forward. In addition, the Amended Indemnitgaloint Defense Agreement includes certain amenthie the covenants of ACNielsen
(which, under the Amended Indemnity and Joint DefeAgreement, are now also applicable to ACN (Wd)ch the Company understand
holds ACNielsen’s operating assets), which aregiesi to preserve such parties’ claims-paying gkalitd protect Donnelley, Moody’s, New
D&B and IMS Health. Among other covenants, ACNielssd ACN (US) agreed that neither they nor antheir respective subsidiaries will
incur any indebtedness to any affiliated personepkindebtedness which its payment will, afteagnpent obligation under the Amended
Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement comes dueopbditioned on, and subordinated to, the paymedterformance of the obligations
such parties under the Amended Indemnity and Ixéfiénse Agreement. VNU N.V. has agreed to havipgpaess agent in New York to
receive on its behalf service of any process caniegrthe Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agerdgm

As described above, the VNU Parties have assumddsexe responsibility for the payment of all IRilabilities. However, because liability
for violations of the antitrust laws is joint aneeral and because the rights and obligationsmgléd the Amended Indemnity and Joint
Defense Agreement are based on contractual retiiips, the failure of the VNU Parties to fulfillgin obligations under the Amended
Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement could resuhe other parties bearing all or a portion @& tRI Liabilities. Joint and several liability
for the IRI action means that even where more tradefendant is determined to have been resperfsibhn alleged wrongdoing, the
plaintiff can collect all or part of the judgmembin just one of the defendants. This is true rdgasdof whatever contractual allocation of
responsibility the defendants and any other ind&img parties may have made, including the allanadidescribed above between the VNU
Parties, Donnelley, Moody’s, New D&B and IMS Health

Accordingly, and as a result of the allocationdiafility described above, in the event the VNUtiear default on their obligations under the
Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, eadloody’s and New D&B will be responsible for thayment of 50% of the portion
of any judgment or settlement ultimately paid bynDelley (which is a defendant in the IRI actionhieh can be as high as all the IRI
Liabilities.

The Company is unable to predict the outcome ofRiection (including the appeal), or the finan@andition of any of the VNU patrties or
the other defendants at the time of any such outcamad hence the Company cannot estimate theityatailpay the IRI Liabilities pursuant to
the Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreemetiteoamount of the judgment or settlement in Rieaction. However, provided that
the VNU Parties fulfill their obligations under tlhenended Indemnity and Joint Defense AgreementCibrapany believes that the resolut
of this matter, irrespective of the outcome of ilReaction, should not materially affect Moody’siéincial position, results of operations and
cash flows. Accordingly, no amount in respect @ thatter has been accrued in the Companghsolidated financial statements. If, howe
IRl were to prevail in whole or in part in this gxt and if Moody's is required to pay, notwithstargisuch contractual obligations, a portion
of any significant settlement or judgment, the ouie of this matter could have a material adverseedn Moodys financial position, resul
of operations, and cash flows.
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Legacy Tax Matter:

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into globaptanning initiatives in the normal course of mess, including through tax-free
restructurings of both their foreign and domesperations. These initiatives are subject to nomaealkew by tax authorities.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, as betweens¢hars, IMS Health and NMR are jointly and sevgrhdible to pay one-half, and New
D&B and Moodys are jointly and severally liable to pay the othalf, of any payments for taxes, penalties andwsttinterest resulting fro
unfavorable IRS rulings on certain tax mattersescdbed in such agreements (excluding the magtseribed below as “Amortization
Expense Deductions” for which New D&B and Moodyis aolely responsible) and certain other potetdialiabilities, also as described in
such agreements, after New D&B and/or Moody’s ghgdfirst $137 million, which amount was paid imoection with the matter described
below as “Utilization of Capital Losses”.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution and pursiut® the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreemé&tgw D&B and Moodys have, betwet
themselves, agreed to each be financially resplentib50% of any potential liabilities that mays#rto the extent such potential liabilities
not directly attributable to their respective besis operations.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoindyrée specific tax matters are discussed below.
Royalty Expense Deductio

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B receigadExamination Report from the IRS with resped fmartnership transaction entered
into in 1993. In this Report, the IRS stated iteintion to disallow certain royalty expense deduwticlaimed by Old D&B on its tax returns
for the years 1993 through 1996 (the “Royalty Répoin the first quarter of 2004, New D&B receivadsimilar Examination Report (the
“Second Royalty Report”) relating to the first quesrof 1997.

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B alseieed an Examination Report that had been issugHéiRS to the partnership, stating
the IRS’ intention to ignore the partnership stawetthat had been established in 1993 in conneutitinthe above transaction, and to
reallocate to Old D&B income and expense items iaatbeen reported in the partnership tax retura 996 (the “Reallocation Report”).
New D&B also received a similar Examination Reftine “Second Reallocation Report”) issued to the pasimigrwith respect to the first
quarter of 1997.

In June 2004, New D&B and the IRS conducted a ntiediaf these issues, at which they reached a fasgettlement with regard to the
Royalty Report for 1995 and 1996, the ReallocaReport, and certain tax refund claims made by QdBDelated to 1995 and 1996 (the
“Preliminary Settlement”). The Preliminary Settleam&vas subject to the execution of a formal selehagreement. In addition, the IRS
reasserted its position that certain tax refundndanade by Old D&B related to 1993 and 1994 mapfiget by tax liabilities relating to the
above mentioned partnership formed in 1993. New Rifdagrees with the position taken by the IRS f®3land 1994 and plans to file a
protest with the IRS Appeals Office. If the protestinsuccessful New D&B can either: (1) abandstiak refund claims; or (2) challenge the
IRS claim in U.S. District Court or the U.S. CoaoftFederal Claims. Moody’s estimates that its expesor the write-off of deferred tax
assets related to these tax refund claims coulgplie $9 million.

As of June 30, 2004, Moody’s had adjusted its resefor the Royalty Expense Deductions matterfleaethe Company’s estimates of
probable exposure for the Preliminary Settlemedttae other matters discussed in the precedingypagvh. In accordance with the 1996
Distribution Agreement, New D&B was required to aibtthe consent of Moody’s, IMS Health and NMR a®adition to executing the
formal settlement agreement, but New D&B was unéblabtain consent from IMS Health and NMR. Accagly, New D&B and the IRS
were unable to agree on the terms of a formalesaéht agreement by the November 1st deadline indgmséhe IRS. As a result, the IRS
withdrew the Preliminary Settlement.
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The Company believes that in accordance with tt8® Distribution Agreement, IMS Health and NMR, bithiolding their consent to the
formal settlement agreement, would be contractualponsible to pay any excess amounts above dienPrary Settlement that may
ultimately be owing with respect to tax years 1888 1996. IMS Health has alleged various breachBew D&B’s obligations under the
1996 Distribution Agreement related to New D&B’smagement and attempted settlement of this mattdre Iparties fail to resolve their
dispute, Moody's understands that New D&B antigsatommencing arbitration proceedings against IM&ltH and NMR. Based on our
current understanding of the positions of New D&RIdMS Health, the Company believes it is likelptiNew D&B should prevail, but we
cannot predict with certainty the outcome.

In addition, the Second Royalty Report and the 8edeeallocation Report, which were not part of Ne@B's preliminary settlement with
the IRS, have not been resolved. Moody’s estimtiigsits share of the potential required paymenhéolRS for this matter is $0.1 million
(including penalties and interest, and net of temdiits).

Moody’s has reassessed its exposure for the Rogaltgnse Deductions matter taking into considematib) the original Examination
Reports discussed above (for which the Companysestf the required payments to the IRS could b®$103 million, including penalties
and interest, and net of tax benefits); and (2)pibtential write-off of deferred tax assets (forieththe Company’s exposure could be up to
$9 million as discussed above). Based on this asss#, in 2004, the Company increased its resenihis matter by $16.4 million to reflect
the current estimate of probable exposure. Moolgl®eves that the positions taken by the IRS inRbgalty Reports and the Reallocation
Reports discussed above are inconsistent with ethen. While it is possible that the IRS couldmakitely prevail in whole or in part on one
such positions noted above, Moody’s believes thattinlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.

Amortization Expense Deductio

In April 2004, New D&B received Examination Repoftise “April Examination Reports”) from the IRS Wwitespect to a partnership
transaction. This transaction was entered int®®i7land has resulted in amortization expense diedisobn the tax returns of Old D&B since
1997. These deductions could continue through 2mithe April Examination Reports, the IRS statisdntention to disallow the
amortization expense deductions related to thisipeship that were claimed by Old D&B on its 199id 4 998 tax returns. New D&B
disagrees with the position taken by the IRS amdeither: (1) accept and pay the IRS assessm@grithéfenge the assessment in U.S. Tax
Court; or (3) challenge the assessment in U.SribisEourt or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, vehim either case payment of the disputed
amount would be required in connection with sucéhllelnge. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or New D&B’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 could result in the issuance of similar Exation Reports, in which case New D&B would alsoédghe aforementioned three courses
of action. Should any such payments be made by Di&® related to either the April Examination Repootsany potential Examination
Reports for future years, including years subsegieetine separation of Moody’s from New D&B, themrpuant to the terms of the 2000
Distribution Agreement, Moody’s would have to payNew D&B its 50% share. In addition, should New Bd&iscontinue claiming the
amortization deductions on future tax returns, Mdedvould be required to repay to New D&B an amoujiat to the discounted value of
50% share of the related future tax benefits. Ne&&BMad paid the discounted value of 50% of the faitiax benefits from this transaction in
cash to Moody'’s at the Distribution Date. Moody&imates that the Company’s current potential exposould be up to $95 million
(including penalties and interest, and net of tamdjits). This exposure could increase by approtétp&3 million to $6 million per year,
depending on actions that the IRS may take andhmthver New D&B continues claiming the amortizatiteductions on its tax returns.

In the April Examination Reports, the IRS alsoethaits intention to disallow certain royalty expemeductions claimed by Old D&B on its
1997 and 1998 tax returns with respect to the pestrip transaction. In addition, the IRS statedhitsntion to disregard the partnership
structure and to reallocate to Old D&B certain parship income and expense items that had beentedpo the partnership tax returns for
1997 and 1998. New D&B disagrees with the positiahken by the IRS and can take any of the threeseswof action described in the
preceding paragraph. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or Ne&B's tax returns for years subsequent to 1998doesult in the issuance of similar
Examination Reports for the subsequent years. 8hany such payments be made by New D&B relatedthieregthe April Examination
Reports or any potential Examination Reports fourkel years, then pursuant to the terms of the Z08Bibution Agreement, Moody’s would
have to pay to New D&B its 50% share of New D&Bayments to the IRS for the period from 1997 throtighDistribution Date. Moody’s
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estimates that its share of the potential expotutiee IRS could be up to $129 million (includingr@lties and interest, and net of tax
benefits). Moody’s also could be obligated for fetinterest payments on its share of such liability

New D&B had filed protests with the IRS Appeals i®éfregarding the April Examination Reports. In ®epber 2004, the IRS Appe:
Office remanded the case to the IRS examinatianeofor further development of the issues. New Dida® reopened discussion of the issues
with the examination office.

Moody’s believes that the IRS’s proposed assesstéitax against Old D&B and the proposed realiocatof partnership income and
expense to Old D&B are inconsistent with each otAecordingly, while it is possible that the IRSubd ultimately prevail in whole or in part
on one of such positions, Moody’s believes tha itnlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.

Utilization of Capital Losses

The IRS has completed its review of the utilizatidrrertain capital losses generated by Old D&Braud 989 and 1990. On June 26, 2000,
the IRS, as part of its audit process, issuedradbassessment with respect to the utilizatiohe$¢ capital losses.

On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was file@llyD&B for the 1989 and 1990 tax years, whicheeted $561.6 million of tax and
interest due. Old D&B paid the IRS approximately$3 million of this amount on May 12, 2000; 50%sath payment was allocated to
Moody’s and had previously been accrued by the GompIMS Health informed Old D&B that it paid toethRS approximately

$212.3 million on May 17, 2000. The payments weeelento the IRS to stop further interest from acgguand on September 20, 2000, Old
Dé&B filed a petition for a refund in the U.S. Digtr Court.

In July 2004, New D&B and the IRS reached a bamiséttlement of all outstanding issues relatathitomatter and in December 2004
executed a formal settlement agreement. New D&Bived the first of three final assessments on Faelpril5, 2005 and expects to receive
the other two in the second quarter of 2005. Paymwithe first assessment was made in the firsttquaf 2005 and payment of the two other
assessments is expected to be made in the secartdropf 2005. Moody’s estimates its share of tessessments to be approximately

$15 million, reflecting cash payments of approxiehathé million and the write-off of deferred taxsasts of approximately $9 million. In
addition, IMS Health and NMR have notified New D&at they disagree with various aspects of New Dk@&ilculation of their respective
shares of the payments. If the parties fail to lkestheir dispute, Moody’s understands that New D&Ricipates commencing arbitration
proceedings against IMS Health and NMR. Moadytlieves that New D&B should prevail in its pmsit but we cannot predict with certai
the outcome.

In 2004, Moody'’s increased its reserves for thistendy $14 million to reflect its current estimaitethe probable exposure. Should IMS
Health and NMR prevail in their position describedhe prior paragraph, then Moody’s estimates itisagxposure for this matter could
increase by up to approximately $3 million.

Summary of Moody’s Exposure to Three Legacy Taxeat

The Company considers from time to time the rangkpobability of potential outcomes related to tiee legacy tax matters discussed
above and establishes reserves that it believespprepriate in light of the relevant facts anadeinstances. In doing so, Moody’s makes
estimates and judgments as to future events artitamrs and evaluates its estimates and judgmeangmngoing basis.

During 2004 , the Company recorded charges of aapately $30 million to increase its reserves fw three legacy tax matters reflecting
current estimates of the probable exposures or tinegters. The Company also recorded approxim&gelyillion of interest expense related
to these reserves. As a result, at December 34, 2000dy'’s total net legacy tax reserves were $136 millemmsisting of $161 million of ta
liabilities, partially offset by the expected wtdition of $25 million of deferred tax assets). i86 million of expected cash payments
consists of $50 million of current liabilities (fe€ting the estimated cash payments related tRtyalty
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Expense Deductions and Utilization of Capital Lassetters that are expected to be made over thawelve months) and $86 million of
non-current liabilities.

It is possible that the legacy tax matters couldds®lved in amounts that are greater than the ataoeserved by the Company, which could
result in additional charges that may be mateoidllbody’s future reported results, financial pasitand cash flows. Although Moody’s does
not believe it is likely that the Company will uttately be required to pay the full amounts pregdmging sought by the IRS, potential future
outlays resulting from these matters could be ashnas $354 million and could increase with timelescribed above. In matters where
Moody'’s believes the IRS has taken inconsistenitipos, Moody’s may be obligated initially to payg share of related duplicative
assessments. However, Moody's believes that ulélydtis unlikely that the IRS would retain suchpdicative payments.

Dividends

During 2004, the Company paid a quarterly dividehd.5 cents per share of Moody’s common stoclyltieg) in dividends paid per share of
30 cents during the year. During 2003 and 2002Civ@pany paid a quarterly dividend of 4.5 centsgheare of Moody’s common stock
resulting in dividends paid per share of 18 cemtsach year.

On December 14, 2004, the Board of Directors of@benpany approved a quarterly dividend of 7.5 cpetsshare of Moody’s common
stock, payable on March 10, 2005 to shareholdersaufrd at the close of business on February 206.20n February 15, 2005, the board
voted to increase the quarterly dividend per staf&9.11, before giving effect to the proposed faeene stock split discussed in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements, payableuoe 15, 2005 to shareholders of record as of MapQ@5. If the stock split is effected, then
on a post-split basis the dividend will be increhk®e5.5 cents per share from the 3.75 cents @eeghat otherwise would have been paid
absent the dividend increase. The continued payofatividends at the rate noted above, or atakubject to the discretion of the Board of
Directors.

On February 15, 2005, the Board of Directors deda two-for-one stock split to be effected asexsp stock distribution of one share of
common stock for each share of the Company’s comstmrk outstanding and treasury shares. Stockhotiferecord as of the close of
business on May 4, 2005 will receive one additichelre of common stock for each share of the Coplpanmmon stock held on that date.
Such additional shares will be distributed on M8y 2005.

The Board of Directors’ declaration of a speciac&tdividend distribution is subject to stockholdgpiproval of a charter amendment to
increase the Company’s authorized common sharesdi® stockholders will vote on the charter amendina the Company’s Annual
Meeting, which will be held on April 26, 2005. Theoposal to amend the Company’s charter to incrdesaumber of authorized shares will
be more fully described in the Company’s annualtinggroxy statement.
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Common Stock Information

The Company’s common stock trades on the New Y tokkSExchange under the symbol “MCO”. The tableoheindicates the high and low
sales price of the Company’s common stock and ithdehds paid for the periods shown. The numbeegfstered shareholders of record at
January 31, 2005 was 4,488.

Dividends
Price Per Share Paid
High Low Per Share
2003:
First quarte| $ 49.7C $ 39.5( $ 0.04f
Second quarte 54.8¢ 45.3¢ 0.04¢
Third quartel 56.8( 49.8¢ 0.04¢
Fourth quarte 60.8¢ 54.8¢ 0.04%
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 60.8¢ $ 39.5C $ 0.1¢
2004:
First quartel $ 71.0C $ 59.6¢ $ 0.07¢
Second quarte 71.0C 61.7< 0.07¢
Third quartel 74.4] 64.6( 0.07¢
Fourth quarte 87.72 71.3¢ 0.07¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 87.7¢ $ 59.6¢ $ 0.3

Subject to approval by shareholders at Moody’s ahmeeting of stockholders in April 2005, the Compaxpects to effect a two-for-one
stock split effective May 18, 2005. See Note 2thmconsolidated financial statements for furthiscussion.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this annual repoform 10-K are forward-looking statements andoaiged on future expectations, plans
and prospects for the Company’s business and apesahat involve a number of risks and uncertamtSuch statements involve estimates,
projections, goals, forecasts, assumptions andriaiicges that could cause actual results or ouesotua differ materially from those
contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipatéuglied in the forward-looking statements. Thosgeshents appear at various places
throughout this Form 10-K, including in the secti@ntitled “Outlook” and “Contingencies” under Itém“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems”, commencing at page 15 of this annual tepof~orm 10-K, under “Legal

Proceedings” in Item 3, Part | of this Form 10-Kdalsewhere in the context of statements contgithia words “believe”, “expect”,
“anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “will”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “strategy”, “aspire”, “taet”, “forecast”, “project”, “estimate”,
“should”, “could”, “may” and similar expressions words and variations thereof relating to the Comyfmviews on future events, trends and
contingencies. We caution you not to place undlianee on these forward looking statements. Thedod-looking statements and other
information are made as of the date of this anre@drt on Form 10k for the year ended December 31, 2004, and thepgaosnundertakes r
obligation (nor does it intend) to publicly supplkemt, update or revise such statements on a gomggfd basis, whether as a result of
subsequent developments, changed expectationeemadse. In connection with the “safe harbor” psiens of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is idé&nihg examples of factors, risks and uncertaintiest could cause actual results to differ,
perhaps materially, from those indicated by these/drdiooking statements. Those factors, risks and uaitgigs include, but are not limite
to, changes in the volume of debt and other séesiigsued in domestic and/or global capital mark&tanges in interest rates and other
volatility in the financial markets; market perdepis of the utility and integrity of independeneagy ratings; possible loss of market share
through competition; introduction of competing puots or technologies by other companies; pricireggures from competitors and/or
customers; the potential emergence of governmearissped credit rating agencies; proposed U.S.igoystate and local legislation and
regulations, including those relating to Nationalgcognized Statistical Rating Organizations; gmegudicial decisions in various
jurisdictions regarding the status of and poteriiiddilities of rating agencies; the possible lo§&ey employees to investment or commer
banks or elsewhere and
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related compensation cost pressures; the outcomeyafeview by controlling tax authorities of ther@pany’s global tax planning initiatives;
the outcome of those tax and legal contingenciaisréiate to Old D&B, its predecessors and thdili@ed companies for which the Comp:
has assumed portions of the financial responsibtlite outcome of other legal actions to which @wmpany, from time to time, may be
named as a party; the ability of the Company tesssfully integrate the KMV and MRMS businessedeeline in the demand for credit risk
management tools by financial institutions. Thes®drs, risks and uncertainties as well as otls&srand uncertainties that could cause
Moody'’s actual results to differ materially fromobe contemplated, expressed, projected, anticigatigdplied in the forward-looking
statements are described in greater detail in “ldam@nt’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cbadiand Results of Operations —
Additional Factors That May Affect Future Resultslsewhere in this Form 10-K and in other filingada by the Company from time to time
with the Securities and Exchange Commission oratenials incorporated herein or therein. You shdicaware that the occurrence of an
these factors, risks and uncertainties may caws€tmpany’s actual results to differ materiallynfrthose contemplated, expressed,
projected, anticipated or implied in the forward#ig statements, which could have a material aiveime effect on the Compasyusines:
results of operations and financial condition. Nlaators may emerge from time to time, and it ispagsible for the Company to predict new
factors, nor can the Company assess the poteffgat ef any new factors on it.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK
Information in response to this Item is set forttder the caption “Market Risk” in Part Il, Iltem ¥tbis annual report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Schedules are omitted as not required or inapgioabbecause the required information is provintetthe consolidated financial statements,
including the notes thereto.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s” or &lCompany”) is responsible for establishing andntading adequate internal control
over financial reporting and for the assessmetit@kffectiveness of internal control over finahcporting. As defined by the Securities
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in Rules 13a-15(f) abd-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193rnal control over financial
reporting is a process designed by, or under thersision of, the Company’s principal executive amithcipal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by then@pany’s Board of Directors, management and othesgnnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdogting and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Moody'’s internal control over financial reportingciudes those policies and procedures that (1xipetid the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettdansactions and dispositions of assets of thegaay; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepagation of financial statements in accordanch getnerally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®Qompany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of Moody’s management
and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assuragezding prevention or timely detection of unauithed acquisition, use or disposition of
the Company'’s assets that could have a materidtedih the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has undertaken an assstsshthe design and operational effectivenesh@fCompany’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 basedriteria established in Internal Control — Inttgd Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis§ COSO”). The COSO framework is based upon fitegrated components of
control: risk assessment, control activities, colnénvironment, information and communications andoing monitoring.

Based on the assessment performed, managemerdridisded that Moody’s maintained effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004.

Our management’s assessment of the effectivenghe @ompany’s internal control over financial repm as of December 31, 2004 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, apérdient registered public accounting firm, as dtateheir report which appears herein.

John Rutherfurd, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Jeanne M. Dering
Chief Financial Officer

March 2, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Mody’s Corporation:

We have completed an integrated audit of Moody’spB@tion’s 2004 consolidated financial statemamis of its internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 andtawd its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financialesteents in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaraifeld States). Our opinions, based on our audispeesented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ba#asheets and the related consolidated statemfeopei@ations, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respetite financial position of Moody’s Corporation aitelsubsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the results of their operations and tteesh flows for each of the three years in theogeended December 31, 2004 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted i thmited States of America. These financial statémare the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on these financial statements b@asedr audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance withtttmelards of the Public Company Accounting Oversidrd (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statementstides examining, on a test basis, evidence suppgdt&mamounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiptés used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the pomasf Statement of Financial Accounting Stand&lds123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123") as amende8B&S No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compeinsat— Transition and
Disclosure — an amendment of SFAS No. 123". Thigtenas discussed in Note 2 to the consolidatedrfaial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessmentyded in the accompanying Management’s Report arriat Control Over Financial
Reporting, that the Company maintained effectiterimal control over financial reporting as of Detxm31, 2004 based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framewissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitinatof the Treadway Commission
(COSO0), is fairly stated, in all material respebti@sed on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinihe Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of December 31, 2004, based on ierigstablished in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by COSO. The Compangisagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reporting.r@esponsibility is to express opinions on
management’s assessment and on the effectivenéss @bmpany’s internal control over financial rep@ based on our audit. We
conducted our audit of internal control over finaheceporting in accordance with the standardsefRublic Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requireatbailan and perform the audit to obtain reasonaséeirance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. An audit of inté@ntrol over financial reporting includes
obtaining an understanding of internal control dgaincial reporting, evaluating management’s assest, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal controtl parforming such other procedures as we conselegssary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable Wasisur opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting
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includes those policies and procedures that (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in redslerdetail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afah@pany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thas#aigtions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princj@ed that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of management and directors of dmepany; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositiothaf company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 2, 2005
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Revenue
Expenses
Operating
Selling, general and administrati
Depreciation and amortizatic
Total expense
Operating income
Interest expense, n
Other noroperating income, n¢
Non-operating expense, n
Income before provision for income ta»
Provision for income taxe
Net income
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.

MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in millions, except per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
$1,438.  $1246¢  $1,023.
375.4 347.: 285.:
2424 203.¢ 175.
34.1 32.6 24.€
651.C 583.F 485.
786.4 663.1 538.1
(16.2) (21.6) (21.2)
1.1 15.1 0.5
(15.1) (6.7) (20.7)
7715 656.2 517.
346. 292.F 228.
$ 42501 $ 363 $ 288
$ 28 $ 244 $ 1.8¢
$ 27¢ $ 23¢ $ 1.8
148.F 148.¢ 153.
152. 152.: 157
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollar amounts in millions, except share and perlsare data)

December 31,

2004 2003
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale! $ 606.1 $ 269.]
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $14.8004 and $15.9 in 20( 358.¢ 270.2
Other current asse 58.1 40.5
Total current asse 1,022.¢ 579.¢
Property and equipment, r 45.Z 46.¢
Prepaid pension cos 59.7 60.2
Goodwill 131.7 126.
Intangible assets, n 70.7 7.4
Other asset 46.1 61.€
Total asset $1,376.( $ 952.C
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Notes payabl $ 300.C $ —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 270.t 228.¢
Deferred revenu 266.7 214.¢
Total current liabilities 837.2 443.(
Non-current portion of deferred reven 54.4 41.1
Notes payabli — 300.(
Other liabilities 166.¢ 200.7
Total liabilities 1,058.! 984.¢
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 13 anc
Shareholder equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 10,00068ares authorized; no shares issued and outsge — —
Series common stock, par value $.01 per sharef@@O0 shares authorized; no shares issued andmditsy — —
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 400,00G;0686es authorized; 171,451,136 shares issued at
December 31, 2004 and 20 1.7 1.7
Capital surplut 144.( 76.4
Retained earninc 939.: 558.¢
Treasury stock, at cost; 22,539,115 and 22,77%5660es of common stock at December 31, 2004 a8l 200
respectively (777.2) (677.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 9.7 8.1
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit) 317.t (32.])
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity (deficit) $1,376.( $ 952.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Reconciliation of net income to net cash providgaperating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensation expel
Deferred income taxe
Tax benefits from exercise of stock optic
Other
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Other current assets and prepaid pension
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital addition:
Net cash (used) acquired in connection with busiaesjuisitions and investments in affilia
Other
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities
Net (repayments of) proceeds from bank borrow
Proceeds from stock pla
Cost of treasury shares repurcha
Payment of dividend
Payments under capital lease obligati
Net cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadnts
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the pi
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the pe

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
$ 4251  $ 363.¢ $ 288
34.1 32.€ 24 ¢
27.€ 10.€ —
(9.6) (0.4) (3.6)
55.¢ 33.2 27.E
1.6 0.6 2.4
(87.9) (91.6) (16.€)
(16.1) (11.€) (1.8)
21.4 (0.€) (2.9)
36. 41F (66.€)
65.1 56.¢ 34.¢
(34.9) 33.F 48.
519.7 468.2 334.¢
(21.9) (17.9) (18.1)
(3.5) 0.8 (205.7)
— — 0.2
(24.9) (17.3) (223.6)
— (107.1) 107.1
105.C 79.C 54.(
(221.9) (171.3) (369.9)
(44.7) (26.€) (27.6)
(1.3) (1.1) —
(162.9) (227.3) (236.6)
4.4 5.6 2.1
337.( 229.: (123.9)
269.1 39.¢ 163.
$ 606.1 $ 2691 $ 39
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Balance at December 31, 20C
Net income
Dividends paic
Proceeds from stock plans,
including tax benefit
Net treasury stock activi
Currency translation adjustme

Comprehensive incorr

Balance at December 31, 2002
Net income
Dividends paic
Proceeds from stock plans,
including tax benefit
Stocl-based compensatic
Net treasury stock activi
Currency translation adjustme

Comprehensive incorr

Balance at December 31, 20C
Net income
Dividends paic
Proceeds from stock plans,
including tax benefit
Stocl-based compensatic
Net treasury stock activi
Currency translation adjustme
Additional minimum pension
liability (net of tax of $0.7
million)
Comprehensive incorr
Balance at December 31, 2004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.

MOODY’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(amounts in millions)
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Accumulated Total
Retained Other Shareholders’
Common Stock Capital Earnings Comprehensive Treasury Stock Equity Comprehensive
Shares Amount Surplus (Deficit) Income Shares  Amount (Deficit) Income
1715 $ 1.7$ 437 $(39.9 $ (2.7 (17.0 $307.5$ (304.])
288.¢ 288.¢ 3 288.¢
(27.€) (27.9)
81.t 81.t
(79.7) (5.6) (290.9) (369.9)
4.4 4.4 4.4
$ 293.c
171.F 1.7 45EF 221.¢ 1.7 (22.6) (597.) (327.0)
363.¢ 363.¢ $ 363.¢
(26.€) (26.€)
1122 112
10.¢ 10.¢
(92.2) (0.2) (79.5 (171.7)
6.4 6.4 6.4
$ 370.%
171.¢ 1.7 76 558.¢ 8.1 (22.8 (677.9 (32.1)
425.1 4251 $ 425.1
(44.7) (44.7)
161.1 161.1
27.¢ 27.¢
(121.9) 0.2 (100.0 (221.9)
2.€ 2.6 2.€
(1.0) (1.0) (1.0)
$ 426.1
1715 $ 1.7 $144.0$939.2 $ 9.7 (22.fF) $(777.9$  317.F
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MOODY’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular dollar and share amounts in millions, excpt per share data)

Note 1 Description of Business and Basis of Presatibn

Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s” or the “Company”) & provider of credit ratings, research and anslgsiering debt instruments and
securities in the global capital markets and a idervof quantitative credit assessment serviceslictraining services and credit process
software to banks and other financial institutiddeody’s operates in two reportable segments: M&twestors Service and Moody’s
KMV. Moody’s Investors Service publishes rating opinions bnoad range of credit obligations issued in doreestid international marke
including various corporate and governmental obikges, structured finance securities and commepagker programs, as well as rating
opinions on issuers of credit obligations. It giedlishes investor-oriented credit research, inolwéh-depth research on major issuers,
industry studies, special comments and credit opihiandbooks. The Moody’s KMV business, which cstssdf the combined businesses of
KMV LLC and KMV Corporation (“KMV”), acquired in Apil 2002, and Moody’s Risk Management Services eltgys and distributes
guantitative credit assessment services for banétsrevestors in credit-sensitive assets, credititmg services and credit process software.

The Company operated as part of The Dun & Brads@egporation (“Old D&B”) until September 30, 200e “Distribution Date”), when
Old D&B separated into two publicly traded companie Moody’s Corporation and The New D&B Corporat{tNew D&B"). At that time,
Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares efM\D&B stock. New D&B comprised the business of ORIB’s Dun & Bradstreet
operating company (the “D&B Business”). The remadgnbusiness of Old D&B consisted solely of the bass of providing ratings and
related research and credit risk management ser(tice “Moody’s Business”) and was renamed “Moodytsporation”. The method by
which Old D&B distributed to its shareholders iteges of New D&B stock is hereinafter referred gdtee “2000 Distribution”.

For purposes of governing certain ongoing relatigrs between the Company and New D&B after the 2Di8@ibution and to provide for &
orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entdred various agreements including a Distributiogrédement (the “2000 Distribution
Agreement”), Tax Allocation Agreement, Employee B3 Agreement, Shared Transaction Services Ageagnnsurance and Risk
Management Services Agreement, Data Services Agneeamd Transition Services Agreement.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tlidddoody’s Corporation and its majority- and whpstiwned subsidiaries. The effects of
intercompany transactions have been eliminatecdiments in companies for which the Company hasfiignt influence over operating

and financial policies but not a controlling intstrare carried on an equity basis. Investments/fach the Company does not have the ability
to exercise significant influence are carried amebst basis of accounting.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents principally consist of investmémtsioney market funds, short-term certificatesiebosit and commercial paper with
maturities of three months or less when purchdsgekest income on cash and cash equivalents w&silion, $1.7 million, and
$2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2@083, and 2002, respectively.
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Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost andepreciated using the straight-line method over thgimated useful lives, typically three to
ten years for computer equipment and office fureitand fixtures and equipment, and seven to faetyry for buildings and building
improvements. Leasehold improvements are amortzedthe shorter of the term of the lease or thienesed useful life of the improvement.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs that dextend the economic useful life of the relateseés are charged to expense as incurred.
Gains and losses on disposals of property and emanpare reflected in the consolidated statemdraperations.

Computer Software

Costs for the development of computer softwarehihbe sold, leased or otherwise marketed arétakiged when technological feasibility
has been established in accordance with Statemi&mancial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 88,ctounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or OtherMatgketed”. These assets primarily relate to theetippment of MKMV credit processing
software and quantitative credit assessment predadie licensed to customers. The capitalizedsaeterally consist of professional
services provided by third parties and compensatimts of employees that develop the software. & hests are amortized on a straight-line
basis over three years, which approximates theifulitife, and are reported at the lower of unamerd cost or net realizable value.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, these costs, indludether assets in the consolidated balance sheete $8.9 million and $9.0 million,
respectively (net of accumulated amortization d.84Imillion and $12.1 million, respectively). Ottessets at December 31, 2004 and 2003
also included $7.5 million and $10.9 million, respeely, (net of accumulated amortization of $9.#ion and $6.2 million, respectively) of
acquired software resulting from the April 2002 @isgion of KMV. Amortization expense for all susbftware for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $7.7 mil@r8 million, and $5.3 million, respectively.

The Company capitalizes costs related to softwaveldped or obtained for internal use in accordavitie Statement of Position 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Deped or Obtained for Internal Uséhese assets, included in property and equipm
the consolidated balance sheets, relate to the @aygaccounting, product delivery and other systeBuch costs generally consist of direct
costs of third party license fees, professionalises provided by third parties and employee corapton, in each case incurred either during
the application development stage or in connedtiibh upgrades and enhancements that increase dmadity. Such costs are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives, generally thiefive years. Costs incurred during the prelimynagiroject stage of development as well as
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Acquidntangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets and other long-liesdets are reviewed for recoverability wheneventsvor changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverablhdfestimated undiscounted future cash flowsawei than the carrying amount of the
related asset, a loss is recognized for the differdetween the carrying amount and the estimatesdlue of the asset. Goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested mopairment annually or more frequently if eventgiocumstances indicate the assets may be
impaired. If the estimated fair value is less titartarrying amount, a loss is recognized.

Stock-Based Compensation

In 2002 and prior years, the Company measureddsieod stock-based compensation using the intrivaige approach under Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25 rather thapplying the fair value method provisions of SFA& 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” as amended by SFAS No. 14&dWtding for Stock-Based Compensation — Transiéind Disclosure — an
amendment of FASB Statement No.
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123". Accordingly, the Company did not recognizenp@nsation expense related to grants of emplogpe& sptions and shares issued to
participants in its employee stock purchase plan.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted, on agetgp basis, the fair value method of accountargstock-based compensation under
SFAS No. 123. Therefore, employee stock optionatgchon and after January 1, 2003 are being exddnsthe Company over the option
vesting period, based on the estimated fair vafukeoaward on the date of grant. In addition, shassued to participants in the Company’s
employee stock purchase plan are being expenstteliyompany based on the discount from the maried peceived by the participants.

The consolidated statements of operations inclodgpensation expense of $27.8 million in 2004 ar@l&nillion in 2003, related to stock
options granted and stock issued under the emplstpe& purchase plan since January 1, 2003, andelsted to restricted stock. The
consolidated statement of operations for 2002 destino such expense. In addition, the 2004 and @gf@anse is less than that which would
have been recognized if the fair value method hehtapplied to all awards since the original effeciate of SFAS No. 123 rather than
being applied prospectively. Had the Company datethsuch stock-based compensation expense usrfgithvalue method provisions of
SFAS No. 123 since its original effective date, Mgs net income and earnings per share would haea beduced to the pro forma amounts
shown below.

Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002

Net income;

As reportec $ 425.] $ 363.¢ $ 288.¢

Add: Stocl-based compensation expense included in reportedemhe, net of ta 16.¢ 6.€ 0.1

Deduct: Stoc-based compensation expense determined under thafaé method, net of te (28.2) (20.0) (14.9)

Pro forma net incom $ 4135 $ 350.t $ 274.%
Basic earnings per sha

As reportec $ 2.8¢ $ 244 $ 1.8¢

Pro forma $ 2.7¢ $ 2.3t $ 1.7¢
Diluted earnings per shar

As reportec $ 2.7¢ $ 2.3¢ $ 1.8:

Pro forma $ 271 $ 2.3C $ 1.7t

The pro forma disclosures shown above are not septative of the effects on net income and earmegshare in future years.

The fair value of stock options used to computepttteforma net income and earnings per share digrds is the estimated present value at
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricirggel. The following weighted average assumptionsewsed for options granted during
2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Expected dividend yiel 0.4€6% 0.41% 0.41%
Expected stock volatilit 30% 30% 25%
Risk-free interest rat 3.28% 3.02% 4.1%
Expected holding perio 5.Cyrs 5.Cyrs 4.5 yrs

The estimated weighted average fair value of Mosdytions granted in 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $2813.06, and $10.97, respectively.

The Company recorded compensation expense of d0i@nin 2002 related to outstanding performanhare grants, for which the
performance period ended during 2002. There wergenimrmance share grants outstanding and, acapydimo related expense for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

52




Table of Contents

At the Distribution Date, all unexercised Old D&Bek options were converted into separately exabbésoptions of Moody’s and New
D&B. The 2000 Distribution Agreement provided tHaf, subsequent exercises of those options, theliss the stock rather than the
employer would be entitled to the related tax déidauc Accordingly, since the Distribution Date athtlough the filing of its income tax
returns for 2002, Moody’s has claimed tax deductishen employees of New D&B have exercised Moodidsk options.

Effective with its 2003 tax returns, Moody’s hasobed its tax deductions to conform to an IRS guimich clarified that the employer
should take the tax deduction for option exercisdiser than the issuer. The 2000 Distribution Agrest entitles Moody'’s to reimbursement
from New D&B for the resulting loss of the issuexsled tax deductions. Accordingly, Moody’s has rtéld a receivable from New D&B
within other current assets in the consolidatedrz# sheet in the amount of $23.3 million at Decan3ii, 2004, consisting of $12.4 million
related to the year ended December 31, 2004 an@ $didion related to 2003. This accounting hadmgact on the results of operations.

The consolidated balance sheet and statement lofllomss as of and for the year ended December @03 Bave been reclassified to reflect
this treatment.

Employee Benefit Plan

The assets, expenses, liabilities and obligatibasMoody’s reports for pension and other posteatient benefits are dependent on
assumptions concerning the outcome of future evamdscircumstances. These assumptions includetioaving:

future compensation increases, based on the Cor's lon¢-term actual experience and future outle

discount rates, based on current yields on higegcarporate lor-term bonds

future healthcare cost trends, based on histameaket data, ne-term outlooks and assessments of likely -term trends

« long-term return on pension plan assets, baseldeaxpected future average annual return for eagbrrasset class within the plan’s
portfolio (which is principally comprised of equiind fixe-income investments

In determining such assumptions, the Company ctswiith outside actuaries and other advisors wheesmed appropriate. In accordance
with relevant accounting standards, if actual rssdiffer from the Company’s assumptions, suchedéfices are deferred and amortized over
the estimated future working life of the plan papants. While the Company believes that the as§omgpused in these calculations are
reasonable, differences in actual experience angdmin assumptions could affect the assets, egpgeliabilities and obligations related to
Company’s pension and other post-retirement benefit

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance wafh Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recogprif'. As such, revenue is
recognized when an agreement exists, the servaeaslteen provided and accepted by the customerafeedeterminable and the collection
of resulting receivables is considered probable.

Revenue attributed to ratings of issued securigiescognized when the rating is issued. Revernudwied to monitoring of issuers or issued
securities is recognized over the period in whighmonitoring is performed. In most areas of thimga business, the Company charges
issuers annual monitoring fees and amortizes sehatably over the related one-year period.drctise of commercial mortgage-backed
securities, fees that are charged
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for future monitoring over the life of the relateelcurities are amortized over such lives whichayed approximately 26 years as of
December 31, 2004.

In areas where the Company does not separatelgeaonitoring fees, the Company defers portiorth@frating fees that it estimates will
attributed to future monitoring activities and rgon@es such fees ratably over the applicable estidn@onitoring period. The portion of the
revenue to be deferred is determined based on bmundtoring fees charged for similar securitiesssuers and the level of monitoring eft
required for a given type of security or issuere Hstimated monitoring period is determined basefhctors such as the frequency of

issuance by the issuers and the lives of the isdedrities. Currently, the estimated monitoringqus range from three years to ten years.

Revenue from sales of research products and freditaisk management subscription products is reizegl ratably over the related
subscription period, which is principally one yeRevenue from licenses of credit processing sofisarecognized at the time the product is
shipped to customers, or at such other time a€timpany’s obligations are complete. Related sofivmaintenance revenue is recognized
ratably over the annual maintenance period.

Amounts billed in advance of providing the relapedducts or services are credited to deferred nevamd reflected in revenue when earned.
The consolidated balance sheets reflect as cutefatred revenue amounts that are expected tocbgmized within one year of the balance
sheet date, and as non-current deferred revenuerasihat are expected to be recognized over pegoshter than one year. The majority of
the balance in non-current deferred revenue retatéeses for future monitoring of commercial moggabacked securities.

Accounts Receivable Allowanci

Moody'’s records as reductions of revenue provisfongstimated future adjustments to customeniglli based on historical experience and
current conditions. Such provisions are reflecteddditions to the accounts receivable allowancgugiments to and writeffs of receivable
are charged against the allowance. Moody’s evadlitdeestimates on a regular basis and makes adjosd to its revenue provisions and the
accounts receivable allowance as considered apatepr

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are charged to income as idcUrihese expenses include costs associated wittetrdopment and production of the
Companys products and services and their delivery to casts. These expenses principally include emplogegensation and benefits a
travel costs that are incurred in connection whse activities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens

Selling, general and administrative expenses aaegeld to income as incurred. These expenses insludeitems as compensation and
benefits for corporate officers and staff and conga¢ion and other expenses related to sales ofipimdrhey also include items such as
office rent, business insurance, professional éekgains and losses from sales and disposalsetsas

Foreign Currency Translation

For all operations outside the United States whHegeCompany has designated the local currencyeafitittional currency, assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars usemgl of year exchange rates, and revenue and exparesganslated using average exchange
rates for the year. For these operations, currénacyglation adjustments are accumulated in a sepaomponent of shareholders’ equity.
Transaction gains and losses are reflected in oitveroperating income, net. Transaction gains \B&r@ million, $2.2 million, and

$0.3 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents the change irssetsaof a business enterprise during a periodadimansactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources includingidoreurrency translation impacts and changes inmim pension liability. Accumulated
comprehensive income is comprised of currency taéins adjustments of $10.7 million and additionahimum pension liabilities of ($1.0)
million in 2004 and $8.1 million of currency traagbn adjustments in 2003. The required discloshea® been included in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Aaating for Income Taxes”.
Therefore, income tax expense is based on repiortethe before income taxes, and deferred inconesteeflect the effect of temporary
differences between the amounts of assets anditlebthat are recognized for financial reportjgrposes and the amounts that are
recognized for income tax purposes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include casishcequivalents, trade receivables and payablebanidborrowings, all of which are
short-term in nature and, accordingly, approxinfatevalue. The fair value of the Company’s notagable, which have a fixed rate of
interest, is estimated using discounted cash floaly@es based on the prevailing interest ratesadlaito the Company for borrowings with
similar maturities. The carrying amount of the Camy's notes payable was $300.0 million at Decer3fie2004 and 2003. Their estimated
fair value was $316.7 million and $334.6 million#cember 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentration of credit risk principaibnsist of cash and cash equivalents and
trade receivables.

Cash equivalents consist of investments in higHitguavestment grade securities within and outditke United States. By policy, the
Company limits the amount it can invest with ang @suer. The Company manages its credit risk expdsy allocating its cash equivalents
among various money market mutual funds, short-artificates of deposit or issuers of high-grademercial paper. As of December 31,
2004, the Company did not maintain any derivatiweestments or engage in any hedging activities. él@n the Company continues to
assess the need to enter into hedging transacdtdimsit risk as needed.

Credit is extended to customers based on an ev@tuait their financial condition. No customer acnted for 10% or more of accounts
receivable at December 31, 2004 or 2003.

Earnings Per Share of Common Sto«

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per 8hdrasic earnings per share is calculated bas¢deoweighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the teygpperiod. Diluted earnings per share is cal@dajiving effect to all potentially dilutive
common shares, assuming that such shares weraruditsg during the reporting period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts of assets and lialslitiee disclosure of contingent assets
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatsd the
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reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringetied. Actual results could differ from thoseimsttes. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, revenue recognition, accounts receigatlowances, income taxes, contingencies, valuationvestments in affiliates, long-lived
and intangible assets and goodwill, pension andrgibst-retirement benefits, stock options, andet#ption and amortization rates for
property and equipment and computer software.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to tlgr pgar amounts to conform to the current yearegredion.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemel

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansl&alard (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 46RIN 46R”), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities—An Interpretation of ARB. 51", a revision to FIN 46. FIN 46 addresses laobusiness enterprise should
evaluate whether it has a controlling financiaénest in an entity through means other than vaigitgts and accordingly should consolidate
the entity. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisaf FIN 46 and exempts certain entities froméguirements. FIN 46R was effective at the
end of the first quarterly period ending after Mafdb, 2004. The Company’s adoption of FIN 46R ditilrave an impact on its financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositioR§P”) No. FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Riegments Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modaatidon Act of 2003” (the “Act”), which supersedeSF-No. 106-1 of the same title and
clarifies the accounting for the benefits attrillniéato new government subsidies for companiesgtatide prescription drug benefits to
retirees. If the effects of the Act are not congidea “significant event” pursuant to SFAS No. 1@mnployers’ Accounting for Post-
retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” the edfetthe Act shall be incorporated into the nexasuement of plan assets and obligations
otherwise required by SFAS No. 106 following thieefive date of the FSP (which was December 314260the Company). The expected
subsidy reduced the Company’s accumulated posenegint benefit obligation at December 31, 2004 gyyreximately $0.4 million. The
adoption of FSP 106-2 had no effect on the Compangt periodic post-retirement expense in 200dahuary 2005, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services published final taimns implementing major provisions of the Actlamployers are generally given
significant flexibility in implementing options rafed to the Medicare Prescription Drug program. 8§oeis in the process of evaluating the
impact of these regulations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. 109-2¢c6anting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreigmigs Repatriation Provision
within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004”, aeiiprovides guidance under SFAS No. 109, “Accountar Income Taxes”, with respect
to recording the potential impact of the repatoiatprovisions of the American Jobs Creation Ac2@d4 (the “Jobs Act”). The Jobs Act
provides for a special ortene tax deduction relating to a portion of certiireign earnings that are repatriated in 20040852 The Compar
plans to repatriate a portion of foreign earning2005 and is in the process of evaluating thecesffef the Jobs Act on its financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123i§ed\v2004) “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123RHfder this pronouncement,
companies are required to record compensation eggen all shardased payment award transactions granted to emgdpipased on the fi
value of the equity instrument at the time of grartis includes shares issued under employee stachase plans, stock options, restricted
stock and stock appreciation rights. SFAS No. 12BRinates the ability to account for share-bassdmensation transactions using APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees”,which had been provided in SFAS No. 123 as origyriabued. SFAS No. 127
is effective for quarters beginning after June2()5. The Company is currently evaluating the inplaat the adoption of this standard will
have on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3 Reconciliation of Weighted Average Shares @atanding

Below is a reconciliation of basic weighted averafares outstanding to diluted weighted averageestwutstanding:

Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
Weighted average number of shi-Basic 148.t 148.¢ 153.¢
Dilutive effect of shares issuable under s-based compensation pla 3.8 3.4 3.6
Weighted average number of shi-Diluted 152.: 152.: 157.t

There were no antidilutive options outstanding at®mber 31, 2004 and 2002. Options to purchasmifli@n common shares at
December 31, 2003 were outstanding but were naided in the computation of diluted weighted averagares outstanding because they
were antidilutive.

Note 4 Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of:

December 31,

2004 2003
Land, building and building improvemer $ 254 $ 24.¢
Office and computer equipme 48.1 41.€
Office furniture and fixture 23.C 21.c
Interna-use computer softwal 30.7 23.7
Leasehold improvemen 35.1 33.6
Property and equipment, at c 162.: 144.¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (117.) (98.0)
Property and equipment, r $ 45z $ 46.t

The consolidated statements of operations reflegtatiation and amortization expense related taliowe assets of $19.5 million,
$18.3 million, and $14.0 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Note 5 Acquisitions
KMV

On April 12, 2002, Moody’s acquired the businessmsprising KMV. The acquisition expands the prodaféérings and customer base of
Moody'’s credit risk assessment business, whichpeagiously operated by Moody’s Risk Management Bes: The results of KMV have
been included in Moody’s consolidated financiatesteents since the acquisition date.

The aggregate purchase price of $212.6 million isted of $209.3 million in cash payments to théesgland $3.3 million in direct
transaction costs, primarily professional fees. plaiehase price was funded by using $128.3 millibkloody’s cash on hand and
$81.0 million of borrowings under Moody'’s existibgnk credit lines. The Company repaid those bomgw/in the second quarter of 2002.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a puecBd®mwn below is the purchase price allocatiorichveummarizes the fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at theadaequisition.
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Current assel $ 21.C
Property and equipment, r 4.€
Intangible asset:

Customer list (12.0 year life $ 50.7

Trade secrets (not subject to amortizati 25.k

Other intangibles (5.2 year weighted average 6.3

Total intangible asse 82.t
In-process research and developr 1.1
Goodwill 118.C
Other asset 17.1
Liabilities assumei (32.0
Net assets acquire $ 212.¢

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill, whicts li@en assigned to the Moody’s KMV segment, witlmamortized. In accordance
with FASB Interpretation No. 4, “Applicability of &SB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Actalifor by the Purchase Method”,

included in selling, general and administrativeenges for the year ended December 31, 2002. Cwassats shown above include acquired
cash of $7.2 million. Other assets include acqusftivare of $16.0 million with a life of 5 yeaiSor income tax purposes, the excess of the
purchase price over the acquired net assets i@t be amortized over 15 years.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated fioial information, for the year ended December2R02, reflects the acquisition of KMV
as if it had been consummated as of the beginritigeperiod, after giving effect to the followirgljustments: (i) elimination of transaction
related charges resulting from the acquisition;ginortization of acquired intangible assets artivswe; (iii) Moody’s financing costs for the
transaction, consisting of interest expense thatidvbave been incurred on the $81.0 million of beokrowings and interest income that
would have been forgone on the balance of the jpgeeprice; and (iv) related income tax effects.

Year Ended December 31

Pro Forma

2004 2003 2002
Revenue $1,438.: $1,246.¢ $1,038.
Net income $ 425.1 $ 363.C $ 288.(
Diluted earnings per sha $ 2.7¢ $ 2.3¢ $ 1.8

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial infation should be read in conjunction with the Camygs Form 8-K/A filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 26, 2002

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial infation is presented for comparative purposes antyis not intended to be indicative of
the actual consolidated results of operationswiatild have been achieved had the transaction bmeummated as of the dates indicated
above, nor does it purport to indicate results thay be attained in the future.

Korea Investors Servic

In August 1998, the Company made a 10% cost-bagestment in Korea Investors Service (“KIS”), a Ean rating agency. In

December 2001, the Company entered into a defindigreement to increase its investment to just 80&4, at a cost of $9.6 million with a
contingent payment of up to 6.9 billion Korean Wapproximately $6.8 million as of December 31, 2004005, based on KIS net income
for the three-year period ended December 31, 2D@d.Company currently estimates that this payméhbe $3.7 million; this amount has
been recorded in accrued liabilities at Decembe804 with a corresponding increase to goodwiis Bnticipated that this payment will be
made in the first quarter of 2005.
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In March 2004, KIS increased its ownership in anitggbasis investment to just over 50%, at a c6€L6 billion Korean Won, net of cash
acquired (approximately $0.6 million). As a resatgrting in March 2004 this entity is being comdated in Moodys financial statements a
$0.7 million of goodwill was recorded related tdsthntity.

Argentine Rating Agencie
From 1999 through 2002, Moody’s made equity investts totaling $4.4 million in two Argentine ratiagencies.

In January 2002, the Argentine government annoutieedreation of a dual currency system in whidttade qualifying transactions would
settled at an expected fixed exchange rate of igémine pesos to one U.S. dollar, while non-quaid transactions would be settled using a
free floating market exchange rate. In February22@@e Argentine government announced a shiftdimgle free floating market exchange
rate. From 1991 until February 2002, the Argenfiaso had been pegged to the U.S. dollar at thefatee to one.

As a result of the 2002 devaluation of the Argemti@so, an acquisition-related purchase price gua@rg was triggered relating to Moody’s
equity-basis investments in the two Argentine tigencies. The adjustment resulted in Moody’sivewgadditional shares in these rating
agencies, which increased Moody’s ownership postiiloover 90%. As a result, starting in January320@ Argentine rating agencies are
being consolidated in Moody'’s financial statements.

Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the activity in gaditifor the periods indicated:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

Moody's Moody’s Moody's Moody’s
Investors Service KMV Consolidatec Investors Servict KMV Consolidatec
Beginning balanc $ 23 $1241 $ 1262 % 2.2 $124C $ 126:
Additions 4.9 — 4.9 — — —
Other 0.4 — 0.4 — 0.1 0.1
Ending balanc $ 7.6 $1241 $ 1317 $ 223 $1241 % 126.¢

The following table summarizes intangible assethatates indicated:

December 31

2004 2003
Customer lists (11.3 year original weighted averi#gg $ 58.C $ 57.¢
Accumulated amortizatio (15.9 (10.6)
Net customer list 42.1 47.2
Other amortizable intangible assets (5.6 year maigiveighted average lifi 8.2 8.2
Accumulated amortizatio (5.7) (3.5
Net other amortizable intangible ass 3.1 4.7
Total amortizable intangible ass: 45.Z 51.¢
Indefinite-lived intangible asse 25.5 25.5
Total intangible asse $ 707 $ 774
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Indefinite-lived intangibles are trade secrets aeglwith the April 2002 acquisition of KMV. Currenircumstances and conditions continue
to support an indefinite useful life.

Amortization expense for intangible assets sulifpeimortization for the years ended December 304 2P003 and 2002 was $6.9 million,
$7.0 million, and $5.3 million, respectively.

Estimated future annual amortization expense fiamigible assets subject to amortization is asialo

Year Ending December 31,

2005 $ 6.5
2006 6.2
2007 5.5
2008 4.5
2009 4.2
Thereafte $18.2

Note 7 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisfeithe following:

December 31,

2004 2003
Accounts payabl $ 2¢ $ 44
Accrued income taxes (see Note 75.5 47.:
Accrued compensation and bene 128.7 126.]
Accrued professional fet 9.7 6.€
Accrued interest expen: 5.7 5.7
Other 48.C 38.:
Total $270.F  $228.¢

Accrued compensation and benefits included accnmzhtive compensation of approximately $83 millairDecember 31, 2004 and

$93 million at December 31, 2003. Funding and eelaxpense for Moody’s incentive compensation paagprimarily based on yearyear
growth in operating income and, to a lesser extarings per share, for Moody’s senior managemetitannual results compared to budget
for the Moody’s Investors Service professionalfsaafd for Moody’s KMV.

Note 8 Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

Moody’s maintains both funded and unfunded nondoutory defined benefit pension plans in which gabgally all U.S. employees of the
Company are eligible to participate. The plans mewdefined benefits using a cash balance formaseth on years of service and career
average salary. The funded plan is referred toiha®the “Moody’s Retirement Plan”.

The Company also provides certain healthcare &mdhurance benefits for retired U.S. employeé® post-retirement healthcare plans are
contributory with participants’ contributions adjed annually; the life insurance plans are nondmmiory. The accounting for the healthcare
plans anticipates future cost-sharing changesetavtitten plans that are consistent with the Corgisaexpressed intent to fix its share of
costs and require retirees to pay for all futu@éases in plan costs in excess of the amounegiéh person company contribution in the y
2005.

The plans described in the preceding two paragraphsollectively referred to herein as the “PostiRment Plans”.
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Effective at the Distribution Date, Moody’s assunmeglponsibility for pension and other post-retirammgenefits relating to its active
employees. New D&B has assumed responsibilityHferGompany’s retirees and vested terminated emgsogs of the Distribution Date.

As described in Note 2, in 2004 the Company adop®# No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requéaeta Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization #fc2003” (the “Act”). The adoption of FSP No. X2&esulted in a $0.4 million
reduction in the Company’s accumulated benefitgabion related to post-retirement healthcare plemaddition, since the effects of the Act
were not a “significant event” as defined in FAS;100 change in net periodic pastirement benefit expense was recorded in 20@deaebitc
the Act.

Following is a summary of the activity related e tPost-Retirement Plans for the years ended Desre®dh 2004 and 2003, as well as the
status of the plans at December 31, 2004. The Coynpses a December 31 measurement date for itsRetisement Plans.

Pension Other Post-
Plans Retirement Plans
2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of the pdi $ (79.9) $ (63.9 $ (6.0 $ (6.9
Service cos (8.9 (6.9 (0.5) (0.9
Interest cos (5.7 4.7 (0.9 0.9
Benefits paic 0.8 0.€ 0.3 0.1
Plan amendmen (3.5 (0.5 — 0.t
Impact of Medicare Part — — 0.4 —
Curtailment charg — 0.€ — —
Special termination benefit char — (2.0 — —
Actuarial gain/(loss (1.0) (8.4) (0.9 0.t
Assumption change (13.0) (6.7) (0.7) (0.9)
Projected benefit obligation, end of the pel $ (109.9) $ (79.9 $ (7.9 $ (6.
Change in plan asset
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the pe $ 86.1 $ 71kt $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 10.4 15.2 — —
Benefits paic (0.8 (0.€) (0.3 (0.7)
Contributions — — 0.3 0.1
Fair value of plan assets, end of the pe $ 95.7 $ 86.1 $ — $
Reconciliation of funded status to total amount reggnized
Funded status of the pla $ (14 $ 64 $ (7.9 $ (6.])
Unrecognized actuarial lo: 48.€ 38.2 1.1 0.4
Unrecognized prior service cc 5.3 2.1 0.3 0.4
Net amount recognize $ 39.¢ $ 46.¢ $ (6.0 $ (5.3
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance shs:t
Prepaid pension co $ 59.7 $ 60.z $ — $ —
Pension and pc-retirement benefits liabilit (27.2) (15.2) (6.0 (5.3
Intangible asse 5.€ 1.8 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive | 1.7 — — —
Net amount recognize $ 39.¢ $ 46.€ $ (6.0 $ (5.9
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The curtailment charge and special termination fieckarge in 2003 relate to a benefit enhancementided under the Supplemental
Executive Benefit Plan maintained by the Comparhe fplan amendment charge in 2004 relates to addltfmarticipants admitted to the
Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan.

During 2004, the Company recorded charges to ath@prehensive loss related to additional minimumspm liability adjustments totaling
$1.7 million ($1.0 million net of tax). No additiehminimum pension liability adjustments were refzat prior to 2004.

The accumulated benefit obligation related to thstfRetirement Plans totaled $79.3 million and $538illion as of December 31, 2004 and
2003.

Other Post-
Pension Plans Retirement Plans
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Components of net periodic expense (income)

Service cos $ 83 $ 6.¢ $ 51 $ O0€ $ 04 $ 0.3
Interest cos 5.1 4.1 2.9 04 0.3 0.3
Expected return on plan ass (8.0) (7.7) (9.0) — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss from earlier ip€ls 1.4 1.2 0.1 — — —
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cc 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 —
Net periodic expense (incom: $ 7C $ 47 $ (0.9 $ 11 $ 0S $ O0€

The following information is for those Post-Retireant Plans with an accumulated benefit obligation @xcess of plan assets

December 31,

2004 2003
Projected benefit obligatic 47.€ 32.4
Accumulated benefit obligatic 27.2 14.€
Fair value of plan asse — —
Additional Information:
Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determindibebkgations at December 31:
Other Post-
Pension Plans Retirement Plans
2004 2003 2004 2003
Discount rate 5.9(% 6.25% 5.9(% 6.25%
Rate of compensation incree 4.0(% 3.91% — —
Cash balance accumulation/conversion 5.00% 5.00% — —
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Weighted-average assumptions usedt@rmdee net periodic benefit cost for years endeddémber 31:

Pension Plans Other Posi-Retirement Plans
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 6.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan ass 8.35% 8.1(% 9.75% — — —
Rate of compensation incree 3.91% 3.91% 4.41% — — —
Cash balance accumulation/conversion 5.0(% 5.0(% 5.5(% — — —

For 2004, the Company used an assumed return etsagsapproximately 8.35% for the Moody’s Retirernelan, which was
determined based on explicit long-term return aggions for each major asset class within the plantfglio. Moody’s works
with third party consultants to determine assunmifor long-term rates of return for the assetsgaghat are included in the
pension plan investment portfolio. These returuagstions reflect a long-term time horizon. Theyoaisflect a combination of
historical performance analysis and forward-lookigvs of the financial markets including considena of inflation, current
yields on lon+term bonds and pri-earnings ratios of the major stock market indi

Assumed Healthcare Cost Trend Rat&eaember 31:

2004 2003 2002
Pre- and Pre- and
Pre-age 65 Pos-age 65 pos- age 65 pos- age 6£
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for the follgwear 11.(%  13.(% 10.C% 11.(%
Ultimate rate to which the cost trend rate is as=dito decline (ultimate trend
rate) 5.C% 5.C% 6.0% 6.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 201z 201z 200¢ 200¢

The assumed health cost trend rate was modifi@@d to better reflect different trend expectatiforghe medical and
prescribed medication components of healthcares ¢gogiroportion to the respective share of grosdtheare costs for pre- and
post-age 65 retirees. A one percentage-point changgsumed healthcare cost trend rates wouldanat hffected total service
and interest cost and would have increased or dsedethe post-retirement benefit obligation by $6ilfion.

Plan Assets

The assets of the Moody’s Retirement Plan werealém among the following categories at Decembg304 and 2003:

Percentage of
Plan Assets
at December 31,
2004 2003

Asset Category

Equity securitie: 73% 71%
Debt securitie! 18% 21%
Real estat 9% 8%
Total 100% 100%
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Moody’s investment objective for the Moody’s Retirent Plan assets is to earn total returns thatmiflimize future contribution
requirements over the long run within a prudenelef risk. The Company’s current pension plan talecation targets are for
approximately seventy percent of assets to be faddn equity securities, diversified across U181 aon-U.S. stocks of small, medium and
large capitalization, twenty percent in investmgraide bonds and the remainder in real estate flingsuse of derivatives to leverage the
portfolio or otherwise is not permitted. The Comgammonitoring of the plan includes ongoing reviesfsnvestment performance, annual
liability measurements, periodic asset/liabilitydies and investment portfolio reviews.

Moody'’s other Post-Retirement Plans are unfundeltlaerefore have no plan assets.
Cash Flows

Expected employer contributions to the Post-RetnenPlans in 2005 are $6.2 million for pension pland $0.3 million for other Post-
Retirement Plans.

Estimated Future Benefits Payable

Estimated future benefits payments for the Posir&taent Plans are as follows at December 31, 2004:

Other Posti-
Year ending December 31, Pension Plan Retirement Plans
2005 $ 75 $ 0.3
2006 24 04
2007 2.7 04
2008 2.9 0.5
2009 3.2 0.5
Next five years to December 31, 2C 36.€ 3.5

Profit Participation Plan

Moody’s has a profit participation plan (the “Plawbvering substantially all U.S. employees. ThenRirovides for an employee salary
deferral contribution and Company contributions.fogees may contribute up to 16% of their pay, sabjo the federal limit. Moody’s
contributes an amount equal to 50% of employeeritartions, with Moody’s contribution limited to 3%f the employee’s pay. Moody’s
makes additional contributions to the Plan thatte®ed on year-to-year growth in the Company’siegsrper share. Expense associated
with this plan was $15.0 million, $18.3 million aéd5.1 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively

International Plans

Certain of the Company’s international operatior®/jule pension benefits to their employees in trenfof defined contribution plans.
Company contributions are primarily determined agi@entage of employeesigible compensation. Expense related to thesesylar the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 \paxampately $3.8 million, $2.4 million and $1.6 fioh, respectively.

Note 9 Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Prior to the 2000 Distribution, certain employeé#oody’s received grants of Old D&B stock optiomsder Old D&B’s 1998 Key
Employees’ Stock Option Plan (the “1998 Plan”).ti¢ Distribution Date, all unexercised Old D&B dtaiptions held by Moody’s
employees were converted into separately exer@sgiiions to acquire Moody’s common stock and sephrexercisable options to acquire
New D&B common stock, such that each option hadstrae ratio of the exercise price per option tontlagket value per share, the se
aggregate
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difference between market value and exercise paice the same vesting provisions, option periodsadher terms and conditions applicable
prior to the 2000 Distribution. Old D&B stock optie held by employees and retirees of Old D&B wemreverted in the same manner.
Immediately after the 2000 Distribution, the 1998Pwas amended and adopted by the Company.

Under the 1998 Plan, 16,500,000 shares of the Coyrgraommon stock were reserved for issuance. B98 Plan provides that options are
exercisable not later than ten years from the gtaté. The vesting period for awards under the FJ88 is determined by the Board of
Directors at the date of the grant and has prifigib@en four years. Options may not be grantddsa than the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Feeritive stock options granted to a shareholderayerthan 10% of the Company’s
outstanding stock, the exercise price per shareatdre less than 110% of the fair market valudhef@ompanys common stock at the date
grant. The 1998 Plan also provides for the grantingstricted stock.

The Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporatiey Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan (the “2001 PJamds approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors in March 2004 and iy Company’s shareholders in April 2004. Underadel Plan, 12,800,000 shares of
common stock have been reserved for issuance. i@pti@y not be granted at less than the fair madlae of the Company’s common stock
at the date of grant. The 2001 Plan provides thtbes are exercisable not later than ten years ffee grant date. The vesting period for
awards under the 2001 Plan is determined by thedBafeDirectors at the date of the grant and hanlfeur years. Unlike the 1998 Plan, the
2001 Plan also provides that consultants to thegamy or any of its affiliates are eligible to beugted options. The 2001 Plan also provides
for the granting of restricted stock. The total tnemof shares available for grants of awards dtiean stock options is limited to 2,500,000
shares.

Under the 1998 and 2001 Plans, key employees ditinepany may be granted shares of common stockl lmasthe achievement of revenue
growth goals or other operating objectives (“Parfance Shares”). At the end of the performance geGompany performance at target will
yield the targeted amount of shares, whereas Coynpenfiormance above or below target will yield Ergr smaller share awarc
respectively. There were no Performance Share gnar004, 2003 and 2002. The Company recorded ensgtion expense of $0.2 million
in 2002 relating to performance shares grante®891for which the performance period ended in 2002re were no performance shares
outstanding in 2003 and 2004 and, accordingly teied compensation expense was recorded for thrs geded December 31, 2004 and
2003.

The Company maintains a stock plan for its BoarBioéctors, the 1998 Directors Plan (the “DirectBtan”), which permits the granting of
awards in the form of non-qualified stock optiorestricted stock or performance shares. The Diredtan provides that options are
exercisable not later than ten years from the gtate. The vesting period is determined by the 8o&Directors at the date of the grant and
is generally one year for options and three yearsdstricted stock. Under the Directors Plan, @00,shares of common stock were reserved
for issuance. Any director of the Company who isatoemployee of the Company or any of its subs&Baas of the date that an award is
granted is eligible to participate in the Direct&lan.

In February 2005, Moody’s awarded long-term, egbiged compensation as a mix of stock options aidated stock. The aggregate gre
were approximately 1.3 million options and 0.2 raill shares of restricted stock under the 2001 Riad ,approximately 0.6 million options
and 0.2 million shares of restricted stock under1B98 Plan. The options and a portion of theiotstt stock vest ratably over four years.
remaining restricted stock will vest over a peraddhree to five years, depending on growth in@wenpany’s operating income.

Also in February 2005, Directors of the Companyevgranted approximately 9,500 shares of restristeck under the Directors Plan.
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Below is a summary of restricted shares that Mosdyanted in 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003

Restricted shares grant 0.4 0.0z
Weighted average fair value at grant ¢ $65.5¢ $42.04

Changes in stock options for the three years ebaegmber 31, 2004 are summarized below:
Weighted
Number Average
Outstanding Exercise Price

Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 14.5 $ 23.0(
Granted 3.8 40.01
Exercisec (2.5) 19.31
Surrendered or retire (0.7) 27.4:
Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 15.2 27.6¢
Granted 3.€ 42.7:
Exercisec (3.2 23.81
Surrendered or retire (0.6 32.6i
Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 15.2 31.7¢
Granted 2.3 65.3:
Exercisec (3.€) 27.45
Surrendered or retire 0.7 45.8¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2I 13.2 $ 38.1f

Below is a summary of Moody'’s stock options held\Wgody’s employees and by New D&B employees anidees as of each date:

New D&B
Moody’s Employees
Employees and Retiree:

Options outstanding &

December 31, 200 11.1 4.2
December 31, 20C 12.¢€ 2.€
December 31, 200 11.€ 1.6

The following table summarizes additional informeatiabout stock options outstanding at Decembe?@14:

Options Outstanding

Average
Remaining Weighted
Number Contractual Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding  Life in Years Exercise Price
$16.1¢$19.94 0.€ 1.¢ $ 17.11
$21.4:-$23.96 1.8 4.5 21.8C
$25.1:-$28.13 3.1 4.8 27.45
$33.9:-$39.98 2.8 7.C 39.8i
$40.5¢-$43.55 3.1 8.C 42.4¢
$52.0:-$87.19 2.1 9.2 $ 65.2¢

Total 13.2
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Options Exercisable

Weighted

Number Average
Range of Exercise Prices Exercisable  Exercise Price
$16.16¢-$19.94 0.€ $ 17.11
$21.4:-$23.96 1.7 21.82
$25.1:-$28.13 3.1 27.47
$33.9:-$39.98 1.C 39.8¢
$40.5¢-$43.55 0.€ $ 42.41
$52.05-$87.19 — —
Total 7.C

In addition, the Company also sponsors the Moo@ggporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPRig. ESPP allows eligible
employees to purchase common stock of the Compamyroonthly basis at 85% of its fair market valaetre first trading day of the month.
The employee purchases are funded through aftgragreoll deductions, which plan participants caceht from ongercent to ten percent
compensation, subject to the federal limit.

Note 10 Income Taxes

Components of the Company’s income tax provisi@nea follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal $ 240.7 $ 199.7 $ 150.t

State and loce 70.¢ 63.€ 54.4

Non-U.S 44.5 35.2 26.2
Total curren 355.¢ 298.¢ 231.2
Deferred:

Federal (6.9 (3.9 (3.5)

State and loce (2.9 (1.5) 14

Non-U.S (0.4) (0.8) (0.€)
Total deferrec (9.6) (6.2) (2.7)
Total provision for income taxe $ 346. $ 292t $ 228

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tate to the Company'’s effective tax rate on incdr@®re provision for income taxes is as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
U.S. statutory tax rai 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State and local taxes, net of federal tax bel 5.8 6.2 7.C
U.S. taxes on foreign incon 0.3 0.2 0.7
Legacy tax item: 4.3 3.C 3.8
Other (0.5) 0.1 (1.8
Effective tax rate 44.% 44.€% 44.2%
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Income taxes paid were $300.1 million, $210.6 wrilland $226.6 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, re8pely. Taxes paid in 2002 included
approximately $50 million of 2001 income tax payrsethat were deferred from 2001 due to the Septetittd tragedy.

The components of deferred tax assets and liasilére as follows:

December 31,

2004 2003
Deferred tax asset
Current:
Accounts receivable allowanc $ 6.1 $ 6.
Accrued compensation and bene 4.9 5.1
Other 1.3 1.C
Total curren 12.2 13.C
Non-current:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8.1 5.3
Benefit plans 25.2 13.t
State taxe 1.6 1.8
Other 7.5 8.C
Total nor-current 42.¢ 28.€
Total deferred tax asse 55.1 41.€
Deferred tax liabilities
Current:
Prepaid expenst (1.€) (1.4
Total curreni (1.€) (1.4)
Non-current:
Prepaid pension cos (25.9) (25.7)
Amortization of intangible assets and capitalizefiveare (9.7 (6.9)
Other (4.9 (0.7)
Total nor-current (39.9) (32.0)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (41.9 (33.9
Net deferred tax ass $ 13.7 $ 8.2

The current deferred tax assets, net of curremrod tax liabilities, as well as prepaid taxe$b0 million and $0.7 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively, are included in otherent assets in the consolidated balance sheeiscurrent tax receivables of $2.6 million
and $26.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 20Geetively, are included in other assets. The fietteof non-current deferred tax assets
and non-current deferred tax liabilities is incldde other assets and other liabilities at Decen3de2004 and 2003, respectively.
Management has determined, based on the Compaistosyhof prior and current levels of operatingreags, that no valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets should be provided as of Deee&ih 2004 and 2003.

At December 31, 2004, undistributed earnings ofbd®. subsidiaries aggregated approximately $78amilEarnings from the United
Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, Italy and Japaroawill be remitted to the U.S. on a regular ba8k such, taxes related to anticipated
distributions have been provided in the consolidditgancial statements. Moodyanticipates that it may benefit from the Amerid@BS Ac!
of 2004 for certain non-U.S. earnings that willrbanitted to the U.S. in 2005. However, since thenBany has not yet determined whether it
will meet the conditions for the reinvestment o thividends in U.S. property, such benefit wasraobrded as of December 31, 2004.
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognizedapproximately $8 million of undistributed foreigarnings that management intends to
reinvest outside the U.S. If all such undistribuéednings were remitted to the U.S., the amouima&mental U.S. federal and foreign
income taxes payable, net of foreign tax creditsjiel be approximately $1 million.
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Note 11 Indebtedness

In connection with the 2000 Distribution, Moody'ssvallocated $195.5 million of debt at Septembe2800. Moodys funded this debt wit
borrowings under a $160 million unsecured bank Iremng credit facility and a bank bridge line of die

On October 3, 2000 the Company issued $300 miifomotes payable (the “Notes”) in a private placem&he cash proceeds from the Notes
were used in part to repay the outstanding balandée revolving credit facility and to repay thiédge line of credit. The Notes have a five-
year term and bear interest at an annual rate64f4, payable sel-annually. In the event that Moody'’s pays all ortfud the Notes in

advance of their maturity (the “prepaid principauch prepayment will be subject to a penaltyudated based on the excess, if any, of the
discounted value of the remaining scheduled paysnastdefined in the agreement, over the prepaidipal. At December 31, 2004, the
Notes have been classified as current liabilitinsesthey mature in September 2005. Managementthgei process of evaluating refinanc

and repayment alternatives for the Notes. Intqrest under the Notes was $22.8 million for eacthefyears ended December 31, 2004, -
and 2002. Total interest expense was $23.0 mil@3,.5 million and $23.5 million, respectively fitve years ended December 31, 2004, :
and 2002.

On September 1, 2004, Moody'’s entered into a fiearysenior, unsecured bank revolving credit fac{tlhe “Facility”) in an aggregate
principal amount of $160 million that expires inpBamber 2009. This Facility replaced the $80 millyear facility that was scheduled to
expire in September 2005 and the $80 million 36#fdaility that expired in September 2004. Interstborrowings under the Facility is
payable at rates that are based on the LondorBiatérOffered Rate plus a premium that can ranga ft@ basis points to 47.5 basis points
depending on the Company’s ratio of total indebésdrto earnings before interest, taxes, depregiatid amortization (“Earnings Coverage
Ratio”), as defined in the related agreement. Adddeber 31, 2004, such premium was 17 basis pdihessCompany also pays quarterly
facility fees, regardless of borrowing activity @mdhe Facility. The quarterly fees can range fBbasis points of the Facility amount to 15
basis points, depending on the Company’s Earnimy®age Ratio, and were 8 basis points at DeceBhe2004. Under the Facility, the
Company also pays a utilization fee of 12.5 basiatp on borrowings outstanding when the aggregateunt outstanding under the Facility
exceeds 50% of the Facility.

Interest paid under Moody'’s previous revolving dréakilities for the years ended December 31, 2808 2002 was $0.6 million and
$0.3 million, respectively. No interest was paidlenthe Company’s facilities for the year endedéddelser 31, 2004 as no borrowings were
outstanding during the year.

The Notes and the Facility (the “Agreements”) camtvenants that, among other things, restricthibty of the Company and its
subsidiaries, without the approval of the lendergngage in mergers, consolidations, asset sed@sactions with affiliates and sale-
leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as defim¢he related agreements. The Agreements als@icdinancial covenants that, among
other things, require the Company to maintain aer@st coverage ratio, as defined in the relatedemgents, of not less than 3 to 1 for any
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, andcamings Coverage Ratio, as defined in the relatgdements, of not more than 4 to 1 at the
end of any fiscal quarter. At December 31, 2004,Gompany was in compliance with such covenantsnUlpe occurrence of certain
financial or economic events, significant corporatents or certain other events constituting amesedefault under the Agreements, alll
loans outstanding under the Agreements (includougueed interest and fees payable thereunder) magdared immediately due and pay:
and all commitments under the Agreements may beitated. In addition, certain other events of ditfander the Agreements would
automatically result in amounts due becoming immidly due and payable and all commitments beingiteted.
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Note 12 Capital Stock
Authorized Capital Stocl

The total number of shares of all classes of sthakthe Company has authority to issue underetstd®ed Certificate of Incorporation is
420,000,000 shares with a par value of $0.01, a€kv#00,000,000 are shares of common stock, 1000Gre shares of preferred stock and
10,000,000 are shares of series common stock. fEfierped stock and series common stock can bedssiilk varying terms, as determined
by the Board of Directors. As more fully descriiedNote 20, on February 15, 2005 the Company’s 8@dDirectors declared a two-fane
stock split which is subject to stockholder appt@faa charter amendment to increase the Companisorized common shares. The
proposal to amend the charter will be describetiénCompany’s annual meeting proxy statement alidwivoted on by stockholders at the
Annual Meeting on April 26, 2005.

Rights Agreemen

The Company has a Rights Agreement designed tegirit¢é shareholders in the event of unsolicitddrefto acquire the Company and
coercive takeover tactics that, in the opinionhaf Board of Directors, could impair its abilityrepresent shareholder interests. Under the
Rights Agreement, each share of common stock higdithat trades with the stock until the rightbmes exercisable. Each right entitles the
registered holder to purchase 1/1000 of a shasesefies A junior participating preferred stock; palue $0.01 per share, at a price of $100
per 1/1000 of a share, subject to adjustment. iffisrwill generally not be exercisable until agmer or group (“Acquiring Person”) acquires
beneficial ownership of, or commences a tender affexchange offer that would result in such pemsogroup having beneficial ownership
of, 15% or more of the outstanding common stoduah time.

In the event that any person or group becomes guifing Person, each right will thereafter entitieholder (other than the Acquiring
Person) to receive, upon exercise and paymengsioéistock having a market value equal to two sithe exercise price in the form of the
Company’s common stock or, where appropriate, tbguiking Person’s common stock. The rights arecnotently exercisable, as no
shareholder is currently an Acquiring Person. Then@any may redeem the rights, which expire in R0@8, for $0.01 per right, under
certain circumstances, including for a Board-apptbacquirer either before the acquirer becomescapuifing Person or during the window
period after the triggering event as specifiechim Rights Agreement.

Share Repurchase Progral

On May 24, 2004, the Company announced that itsdBoBDirectors had authorized a new $600 millibare repurchase program, which
includes both special share repurchases and sytiteshare repurchases to offset shares issued WMtedy’s stock-based compensation
plans. There is no established expiration datéhisrauthorization. During June 2004, the Compamypleted its previous $450 million
program, which had been authorized by the Boafdictors in October 2002.

Since becoming a public company in October 2000taraligh the end of 2004, Moodyhas repurchased 26.4 million shares at a tosilaf
$1.1 billion, including 13.0 million shares to adfsssuances under employee stock plans. During,2@00dy’s repurchased 3.5 million
shares at an aggregate cost of $221.3 million andn8lion shares were issued under employee gitanks.

Dividends

During 2004, the Company paid a quarterly dividehd.5 cents per share of Moody’s common stoclyltieg) in dividends paid per share of
30 cents during the year. During 2003 and 2002Civ@pany paid a quarterly dividend of 4.5 centsghare of Moody’s common stock,
resulting in dividends paid per share of 18 cemtsach year.

On December 14, 2004, the Board of Directors of@bepany approved a quarterly dividend of 7.5 cpetsshare of Moody’s common
stock, payable on March 10, 2005 to stockholdergodrd at the close of business on February 206.20n February 15, 2005, the board
voted to increase the quarterly dividend per staf&9.11 before giving effect to the proposed twodne stock split as more fully described
in Note 20, payable on June 15, 2005 to stockhsldérecord as of May 27, 2005. If the stock spl#ffected, then on a post-split basis,
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the dividend will be increased to 5.5 cents perssifimm the 3.75 cents per share that otherwisddiuvave been paid absent the dividend
increase. The continued payment of dividends atrtitie, or at all, is subject to the discretiothef Board of Directors.

Note 13 Lease Commitments

Moody'’s operates its business from various leaaeilities, which are under operating leases thpirexover the next eleven years. Moody’s
also leases certain computer and other equipmelarwperating and capital leases that expire dnvenéxt five years. Rent expense under
operating leases for the years ended Decembei082, 2003 and 2002 was $15.1 million, $13.3 millgmd $11.3 million, respectively. Rent
expense for 2002 was net of sublease rental ina#r$8.6 million. There was no sublease rental inedm2004 and 2003.

During 2002, Moody'’s acquired approximately $3.9liom of computer equipment subject to capital Eeabligations. Accumulated
amortization at December 31, 2004 includes appratety $2.6 million related to those capital leabégations.

The approximate minimum rent for leases that haweaining or original noncancelable lease termxaess of one year at December 31,
2004 is as follows:

Capital Operating
Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases
2005 $ 1.3 $ 15.7
2006 — 12.2
2007 — 9.6
2008 — 9.1
2009 6.2
Thereafte — 11.¢
Total minimum lease paymer 1.2 $ 65.C
Less: amount representing inter (0.0
Present value of net minimum lease payments urajetat lease $ 1.3

Note 14 Contingencies

From time to time, Moody'’s is involved in legal atak proceedings, claims and litigation that amdantal to the Company’s business,
including claims based on ratings assigned by Modyfanagement periodically assesses the Compéiabitities and contingencies in
connection with these matters, based upon thet iafesmation available. For those matters wheie lioth probable that a liability has been
incurred and the probable amount of loss can soredbly estimated, the Company believes it hagdedoappropriate reserves in the
consolidated financial statements and periodicadlysts these reserves as appropriate. In oth@anices, because of the uncertainties related
to both the probable outcome and amount or rangesef management is unable to make a reasonahtetsof a liability, if any. As
additional information becomes available, the Comypadjusts its assessments and estimates of sumlitiés accordingly.

Based on its review of the latest information aafali¢, in the opinion of management, the ultimatbility of the Company in connection with
pending legal and tax proceedings, claims andhlitign will not have a material adverse effect onoligs financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, subject to the contingendescribed below.

Legacy Contingencies

To understand the Company’s exposure to the patdiatbilities described below, it is importantuaderstand the relationship between
Moody’s and New D&B, and the relationship among Ne&B and its predecessors and other
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parties who, through various corporate reorgaronatand related contractual commitments, have a$warying degrees of responsibility
with respect to such matters.

In November 1996, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporatitough a spin-off separated into three separdwiqpoompanies: The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation, ACNielsen Corporation (“A€Nen”) and Cognizant Corporation (“Cognizanthgt'1996 Distribution”). Under the
terms of the distribution agreement relating to1B866 Distribution (the “1996 Distribution Agreent&neach party thereto is prohibited frc
distributing to its stockholders any business ttat been allocated to it in connection with the6lBgstribution, unless the distributed
business delivers an undertaking agreeing to Inélyaand severally liable to the other parties urtle 1996 Distribution Agreement for the
liabilities of the distributing parent company undige 1996 Distribution Agreement.

In June 1998, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporationubtoa spin-off separated into two separate publiocganies: The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation and R.H. Donnelley Corporation (“Doregl) (the “1998 Distribution”). During 1998, Cogrant through a spin-off separated
into two separate public companies: IMS Health tpooated (“IMS Health”) and Nielsen Media Reseatal, (‘NMR”). In September 200l
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (“Old D&B”) throlig spin-off separated into two separate publicgamies: New D&B and Moody'’s, as
further described in Note 1 to the consolidatedritial statements.

Information Resources, Inc

The following is a description of an antitrust laltdiled in 1996 by Information Resources, IndRI"). As more fully described below,

VNU N.V., a publicly traded Dutch company, andUtsS. subsidiaries, VNU, Inc., ACNielsen Corporat{tACNielsen”), AC Nielsen (US),
Inc. (“ACN (US)"), and Nielsen Media Research, If®NMR”) (collectively, the “VNU Parties”), have aamed exclusive joint and several
liability for any judgment or settlement of thistirust lawsuit. As a result of the indemnity olatgpn, Moodys does not have any exposur

a judgment or settlement of this lawsuit unless\hgJ) Parties default on their obligations. Howevarthe event of such a default,
contractual commitments undertaken by Moody’s inrection with various corporate reorganizationsaih996 would require the Company
to bear a portion of any amount not paid by the IRAUties. Moreover, as described below, on FebrliaP905, the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York entered a finadlgment against IRI dismissing IRI's claims witlejudice and on the merits.

In July 1996, IRI filed a complaint, subsequentiyeanded in 1997, in the U.S. District Court for 8authern District of New York, naming
defendants the corporation then known as The Dirafdstreet Corporation (now known as R.H. DonnegllyLC. Nielsen Company (a
subsidiary of ACNielsen) and IMS International, .I(& subsidiary of the company then known as Cagn)z At the time of the filing of the
complaint, each of the other defendants was a dialpgiof the company then known as The Dun & BragtCorporation.

The amended complaint alleges various violationdrifed States antitrust laws under Sections 12aotithe Sherman Act. The amended
complaint also alleges a claim of tortious intezfere with a contract and a claim of tortious irgerfice with a prospective business
relationship. These claims relate to the acquisitip defendants of Survey Research Group Limit&RG"). IRI alleged SRG violated an
alleged agreement with IRl when it agreed to baised by defendants and that defendants induced t8R@ach that agreement.

IRI's antitrust claims allege that defendants depetl and implemented a plan to undermine IRI'stgih compete within the United States
and foreign markets in North America, Latin Ameriéaia, Europe and Australia/New Zealand througlerges of anti-competitive practices,
including: unlawfully tying/bundling services ingmarkets in which defendants allegedly had monopoiver with services in markets in
which ACNielsen competed with IRI; entering intackisionary contracts with retailers in certain coi@s to deny IRI's access to sales data
necessary to provide retail tracking services artificially raise the cost of that data; predgtpricing; acquiring foreign market competitors
with the intent of impeding IRI's efforts to expardisparaging IRI to financial analysts and clieatsd denying IRI access to capital
necessary for it to compete.
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IRl is seeking in excess of $650 million, which [&$o asked to be trebled. IRI has filed with thei€ the report of its expert who has opined
that IRI suffered damages of between $582 milliod 52 million from the defendants’ alleged preesi IR also sought punitive damages
in an unspecified amount.

On June 21, 2004, pursuant to a stipulation betileeand defendants, the Court ordered that cedalRI's claims be dismissed with
prejudice from the lawsuit, including the claimattidefendants tortiously interfered with the SRGuasition. The Company believes that the
dismissal of the tortious interference claims gdsecludes any claim for punitive damages.

On December 3, 2004, the Court entered In liminge®No. 1, which bars IRI from “arguing that Nieise pricing practices or discounts w
illegal or anti-competitive unless it can provetlvolved prices below short-run average variatast, calculated without the inclusion of
Nielser's ‘Fixed Operations’ costs”. On December 17, 20®4,issued a press release, which said in relepartt “Without this evidence, IF
believes that little would be left of IRI's casettke to trial”. IRl asked the Court to enter aafijudgment against it, so that it could take an
immediate appeal to the Court of Appeals for theoBd Circuit. Defendants did not object to thisuest. On February 1, 2005 the Court
entered a final judgment dismissing IRI's claimshaprejudice and on February 2, 2005, the CousrentIRI's notice of appeal to the Seci
Circuit. The Court of Appeals for the Second Cittds ordered that the appeal be argued no etréiarthe week of June 13, 2005.

In connection with the 1996 Distribution, NMR (thkemown as Cognizant Corporation), ACNielsen and mxdiey (then known as The Dun
Bradstreet Corporation) entered into an Indemnity doint Defense Agreement (the “Original Indemiaity Joint Defense Agreement”),
pursuant to which they agreed to:

« allocate potential liabilities that may relate @aoise out of or result from the IRI lawsu* IRI Liabilities”); and

 conduct a joint defense of such acti

In 2001, ACNielsen was acquired by VNU N.V., whaksumed ACNielsen’s obligations under the Origindémnity and Joint Defense
Agreement.

Under the terms of the 1998 Distribution, Old D&Bsamed all potential liabilities of Donnelley (themown as The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation) arising from the IRI action and agréethdemnify Donnelley in connection with such @atial liabilities. Under the terms of t
2000 Distribution, New D&B undertook to be jointynd severally liable with Moody’s for Old D&B’s dghtions to Donnelley under the
1998 Distribution, including for any liabilitiesiaing under the Original Indemnity and Joint Defegireement and arising from the IRI
action itself. However, as between New D&B and Mgsdit was agreed that under the 2000 Distribyteach of New D&B and Moody’s
will be responsible for 50% of any payments reqlib@be made to or on behalf of Donnelley with extfio the IRI action under the terms of
the 1998 Distribution, including legal fees or enpes related to the IRI action.

On July 30, 2004, the VNU Parties, Donnelley, Mosdilew D&B and IMS Health entered into an Amenaed Restated Indemnity and
Joint Defense Agreement (the “Amended Indemnity idt Defense Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Amended Indemnity and Joint Defédmgeement, any and all IRI Liabilities incurred bgpnnelley, Moody’s, New D&B or
IMS Health relating to a judgment (even if not finar any settlement being entered into in thedBtion will be jointly and severally
assumed, and fully discharged, exclusively by théMParties. Under the Amended Indemnity and JoefeBse Agreement, the VNU Pari
have agreed to, jointly and severally, indemnifynbelley, Moody’s, New D&B and IMS Health from angaénst all IRI Liabilities to which
they become subject. As a result, the cap on AGHIes liability for the IRI Liabilities, which wagrovided for in the Original Indemnity and
Joint Defense Agreement, no longer exists anduath $iabilities are the responsibility of the VNifies pursuant to the Amended Indemnity
and Joint Defense Agreement.
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In addition, the Amended Indemnity and Joint DeéeAgreement provides that if it becomes necessapps$t any bond pending an appeal of
an adverse judgment, then the VNU Parties shadlinlbbhe bond required for the appeal and shallthayull cost of such bond.

In connection with entering into the Amended Indégnand Joint Defense Agreement, Donnelley, Moodiew D&B and IMS Health
agreed to amend certain covenants of the Origimdgrhnity and Joint Defense Agreement to provideaimal flexibility for ACNielsen
going forward. In addition, the Amended Indemnitdaloint Defense Agreement includes certain amentiie the covenants of ACNielsen
(which, under the Amended Indemnity and Joint DeéeAgreement, are now also applicable to ACN (Wd)ch the Company understand
holds ACNielsen’s operating assets), which aregiesl to preserve such parties’ claims-paying gkalitd protect Donnelley, Moody’s, New
D&B and IMS Health. Among other covenants, ACNielssd ACN (US) agreed that neither they nor antheir respective subsidiaries will
incur any indebtedness to any affiliated persongpkindebtedness which its payment will, afteagnpent obligation under the Amended
Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement comes dueopbditioned on, and subordinated to, the paymedterformance of the obligations
such parties under the Amended Indemnity and Ixéfiense Agreement. VNU N.V. has agreed to havipgpaess agent in New York to
receive on its behalf service of any process caniegrthe Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agergm

As described above, the VNU Parties have assumddsexe responsibility for the payment of all IRilabilities. However, because liability
for violations of the antitrust laws is joint anelveral and because the rights and obligationsmgléd the Amended Indemnity and Joint
Defense Agreement are based on contractual retiijps, the failure of the VNU Parties to fulfilldin obligations under the Amended
Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement could resuhe other parties bearing all or a portion @& tRI Liabilities. Joint and several liability
for the IRI action means that even where more tradefendant is determined to have been resperfsibhn alleged wrongdoing, the
plaintiff can collect all or part of the judgmembin just one of the defendants. This is true rdgasdof whatever contractual allocation of
responsibility the defendants and any other ind&img parties may have made, including the allanadidescribed above between the VNU
Parties, Donnelley, Moody’s, New D&B and IMS Health

Accordingly, and as a result of the allocationdiafility described above, in the event the VNU tieer default on their obligations under the
Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, eadloody’s and New D&B will be responsible for thayment of 50% of the portion
of any judgment or settlement ultimately paid bynDelley (which is a defendant in the IRI actionhieh can be as high as all the IRI
Liabilities.

The Company is unable to predict the outcome ofRiection (including the appeal), or the finan@andition of any of the VNU patrties or
the other defendants at the time of any such outcamad hence the Company cannot estimate theityatailpay the IRI Liabilities pursuant to
the Amended Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreemetiteoamount of the judgment or settlement in Riedction. However, provided that
the VNU Parties fulfill their obligations under thenended Indemnity and Joint Defense AgreementCibrapany believes that the resolut
of this matter, irrespective of the outcome of ilReaction, should not materially affect Moody’siéincial position, results of operations and
cash flows. Accordingly, no amount in respect @ thatter has been accrued in the Companghsolidated financial statements. If, howe
IRl were to prevail in whole or in part in this gt and if Moody's is required to pay, notwithstargisuch contractual obligations, a portion
of any significant settlement or judgment, the ouie of this matter could have a material adverseedn Moodys financial position, resul
of operations, and cash flows.

Legacy Tax Matter:

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into globaptanning initiatives in the normal course of mess, including through tax-free
restructurings of both their foreign and domesperations. These initiatives are subject to nomaeélkew by tax authorities.

Pursuant to a series of agreements, as betweens¢harg, IMS Health and NMR are jointly and sevgrhdible to pay one-half, and New
D&B and Moody’s are jointly and severally liablegay the other half, of any payments for
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taxes, penalties and accrued interest resulting frofavorable IRS rulings on certain tax matterdescribed in such agreements (excluding
the matter described below as “Amortization Expebeductions” for which New D&B and Moody’s are dgleesponsible) and certain other
potential tax liabilities, also as described infsagreements, after New D&B and/or Moody'’s paysfitse $137 million, which amount was
paid in connection with the matter described bed@WUtilization of Capital Losses”.

In connection with the 2000 Distribution and pursiu® the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreemégyw D&B and Moodys have, betwet
themselves, agreed to each be financially resplenfib50% of any potential liabilities that maysar to the extent such potential liabilities
not directly attributable to their respective besis operations.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoindprée specific tax matters are discussed below.
Royalty Expense Deductio

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B receigadExamination Report from the IRS with resped fmartnership transaction entered
into in 1993. In this Report, the IRS stated itention to disallow certain royalty expense dedarticlaimed by Old D&B on its tax returns
for the years 1993 through 1996 (the “Royalty Répoin the first quarter of 2004, New D&B receivadsimilar Examination Report (the
“Second Royalty Report”) relating to the first quesrof 1997.

During the second quarter of 2003, New D&B alse@ieed an Examination Report that had been issugbéiRS to the partnership, stating
the IRS’ intention to ignore the partnership stiuetthat had been established in 1993 in conneutittnthe above transaction, and to
reallocate to Old D&B income and expense items tilaatbeen reported in the partnership tax returi 966 (the “Reallocation Report”).
New D&B also received a similar Examination Refthie “Second Reallocation Report”) issued to the pastimigrwith respect to the first
quarter of 1997.

In June 2004, New D&B and the IRS conducted a ntiediaf these issues, at which they reached a farssettlement with regard to the
Royalty Report for 1995 and 1996, the ReallocaReport, and certain tax refund claims made by QddBDelated to 1995 and 1996 (the
“Preliminary Settlement”). The Preliminary Settlam&as subject to the execution of a formal settlenagreement. In addition, the IRS
reasserted its position that certain tax refundndanade by Old D&B related to 1993 and 1994 mapfiset by tax liabilities relating to the
above mentioned partnership formed in 1993. New Difdagrees with the position taken by the IRS &83land 1994 and plans to file a
protest with the IRS Appeals Office. If the protisstinsuccessful New D&B can either: (1) abandsttak refund claims; or (2) challenge the
IRS claim in U.S. District Court or the U.S. CoaftFederal Claims. Moody’s estimates that its expedor the write-off of deferred tax
assets related to these tax refund claims coulgplie $9 million.

As of June 30, 2004, Moody’s had adjusted its resefor the Royalty Expense Deductions matterfleecethe Company’s estimates of
probable exposure for the Preliminary Settlemedttae other matters discussed in the precedingpgph. In accordance with the 1996
Distribution Agreement, New D&B was required to abtthe consent of Moody’s, IMS Health and NMR a®adition to executing the
formal settlement agreement, but New D&B was uné&blebtain consent from IMS Health and NMR. Accagly, New D&B and the IRS
were unable to agree on the terms of a formaleseétht agreement by the November 1st deadline indgmgséhe IRS. As a result, the IRS
withdrew the Preliminary Settlement.

The Company believes that in accordance with 186 Tistribution Agreement, IMS Health and NMR, bithiolding their consent to the
formal settlement agreement, would be contractualponsible to pay any excess amounts above dienrary Settlement that may
ultimately be owing with respect to tax years 1888 1996. IMS Health has alleged various breachBiew D&B’s obligations under the
1996 Distribution Agreement related to New D&B’smagement and attempted settlement of this mattdre Iparties fail to resolve their
dispute, Moody’s understands that New D&B antiagsatommencing arbitration proceedings against IMSItH and
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NMR. Based on our current understanding of thetjpos of New D&B and IMS Health, the Company beésiit is likely that New D&E
should prevail, but we cannot predict with certpitiite outcome.

In addition, the Second Royalty Report and the 8eédeeallocation Report, which were not part of Ne@B's preliminary settlement with
the IRS, have not been resolved. Moody’s estimisits share of the potential required paymenhédlRS for this matter is $0.1 million
(including penalties and interest, and net of tandiits).

Moody'’s has reassessed its exposure for the Roajtgnse Deductions matter taking into considematib) the original Examination
Reports discussed above (for which the Companysestf the required payments to the IRS could b®$103 million, including penalties
and interest, and net of tax benefits); and (2)pibtential write-off of deferred tax assets (forigththe Company’s exposure could be up to
$9 million as discussed above). Based on this sssa#, in 2004, the Company increased its resenthis matter by $16.4 million to reflect
the current estimate of probable exposure. Moolglgves that the positions taken by the IRS inRbgalty Reports and the Reallocation
Reports discussed above are inconsistent with ethen. While it is possible that the IRS couldmakitely prevail in whole or in part on one
such positions noted above, Moody’s believes thattinlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.

Amortization Expense Deductio

In April 2004, New D&B received Examination Repoftise “April Examination Reports”) from the IRS Wwitespect to a partnership
transaction. This transaction was entered int®®i71and has resulted in amortization expense diedisobn the tax returns of Old D&B since
1997. These deductions could continue through 2mithe April Examination Reports, the IRS statisdntention to disallow the
amortization expense deductions related to thisipeship that were claimed by Old D&B on its 199id 4998 tax returns. New D&B
disagrees with the position taken by the IRS amdeither: (1) accept and pay the IRS assessmérthéenge the assessment in U.S. Tax
Court; or (3) challenge the assessment in U.SribisEourt or the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, vehim either case payment of the disputed
amount would be required in connection with suchllelnge. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or New D&B’s tagturns for years subsequent to
1998 could result in the issuance of similar Exation Reports, in which case New D&B would alsodtive aforementioned three courses
of action. Should any such payments be made by Di&® related to either the April Examination Repootsany potential Examination
Reports for future years, including years subsetieetine separation of Moody’s from New D&B, themrpuant to the terms of the 2000
Distribution Agreement, Moody’s would have to payNew D&B its 50% share. In addition, should New Bd&iscontinue claiming the
amortization deductions on future tax returns, Moedvould be required to repay to New D&B an amoujtad to the discounted value of
50% share of the related future tax benefits. Ne&&BMad paid the discounted value of 50% of the feitiax benefits from this transaction in
cash to Moody'’s at the Distribution Date. Moody&imates that the Company’s current potential exposould be up to $95 million
(including penalties and interest, and net of temdjits). This exposure could increase by approteip&3 million to $6 million per year,
depending on actions that the IRS may take andhmthver New D&B continues claiming the amortizatitgductions on its tax returns.

In the April Examination Reports, the IRS alsoethits intention to disallow certain royalty expemeductions claimed by Old D&B on its
1997 and 1998 tax returns with respect to the pestrip transaction. In addition, the IRS statedhitsntion to disregard the partnership
structure and to reallocate to Old D&B certain parship income and expense items that had beerntedpo the partnership tax returns for
1997 and 1998. New D&B disagrees with the positiaken by the IRS and can take any of the threeseswf action described in the
preceding paragraph. IRS audits of Old D&B’s or Ne&B'’s tax returns for years subsequent to 1998doesult in the issuance of similar
Examination Reports for the subsequent years. St such payments be made by New D&B relatedtherethe April Examination
Reports or any potential Examination Reports fourfel years, then pursuant to the terms of the Z08Dibution Agreement, Moody’s would
have to pay to New D&B its 50% share of New D&Bayments to the IRS for the period from 1997 throtighDistribution Date. Moody’s
estimates that its share of the potential expotutiee IRS could be up to $129 million (includingr@lties and interest, and net of tax
benefits). Moody’s also could be obligated for fetinterest payments on its share of such liability
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New D&B had filed protests with the IRS Appeals i©éfregarding the April Examination Reports. In egber 2004, the IRS Appe:
Office remanded the case to the IRS examinatianeofor further development of the issues. New Dida® reopened discussion of the issues
with the examination office.

Moody'’s believes that the IRS’s proposed assesstdriix against Old D&B and the proposed realiocatof partnership income and
expense to Old D&B are inconsistent with each otAecordingly, while it is possible that the IRSubd ultimately prevail in whole or in part
on one of such positions, Moody’s believes tha itnlikely that the IRS will prevail on both.

Utilization of Capital Losses

The IRS has completed its review of the utilizatidrrertain capital losses generated by Old D&Braud 989 and 1990. On June 26, 2000,
the IRS, as part of its audit process, issuedradbassessment with respect to the utilizatiorne$é capital losses.

On May 12, 2000, an amended tax return was file@loyD&B for the 1989 and 1990 tax years, whicHeeted $561.6 million of tax and
interest due. Old D&B paid the IRS approximatel#$3 million of this amount on May 12, 2000; 50%sath payment was allocated to
Moody’s and had previously been accrued by the GomplMS Health informed Old D&B that it paid toethRS approximately

$212.3 million on May 17, 2000. The payments weeelento the IRS to stop further interest from acgguand on September 20, 2000, Old
Dé&B filed a petition for a refund in the U.S. Digtr Court.

In July 2004, New D&B and the IRS reached a bamiséttlement of all outstanding issues relatethitomatter and in December 2004
executed a formal settlement agreement. New D&Bived the first of three final assessments on Felril5, 2005 and expects to receive
the other two in the second quarter of 2005. Paymwiethe first assessment was made in the firsttquaf 2005 and payment of the two other
assessments is expected to be made in the secartdrgpf 2005. Moody's estimates its share of tlEssessments to be approximately

$15 million, reflecting cash payments of approxieiatsé million and the write-off of deferred taxsass of approximately $9 million. In
addition, IMS Health and NMR have notified New D&at they disagree with various aspects of New Dk&ilculation of their respective
shares of the payments. If the parties fail to lkestheir dispute, Moody’s understands that New D&Ricipates commencing arbitration
proceedings against IMS Health and NMR. Moadytlieves that New D&B should prevail in its pmsit but we cannot predict with certai
the outcome.

In 2004 , Moody'’s increased its reserves for thigter by $14 million to reflect its current estimaif the probable exposure. Should IMS
Health and NMR prevail in their position describedhe prior paragraph, then Moody’s estimates itisagxposure for this matter could
increase by up to approximately $3 million.

Summary of Moody’s Exposure to Three Legacy Taxekat

The Company considers from time to time the rangkpmobability of potential outcomes related to tinvee legacy tax matters discussed
above and establishes reserves that it believespprepriate in light of the relevant facts anadginstances. In doing so, Moody’s makes
estimates and judgments as to future events artltams and evaluates its estimates and judgmeangmngoing basis.

During 2004 , the Company recorded charges of aapately $30 million to increase its reserves fw three legacy tax matters reflecting
current estimates of the probable exposures o tinegters. The Company also recorded approximétyillion of interest expense related
to these reserves. As a result, at December 34, 2000dy’s total net legacy tax reserves were $136 millaamsgisting of $161 million of ta
liabilities, partially offset by the expected wtdition of $25 million of deferred tax assets). i86 million of expected cash payments
consists of $50 million of current liabilities (fefting the estimated cash payments related t&tyalty Expense Deductions and Utilization
of Capital Losses matters that are expected todmerover the next twelve months) and $86 millionarfi-current liabilities.

77




Table of Contents

It is possible that the legacy tax matters coulddselved in amounts that are greater than the atagaserved by the Company, which could
result in additional charges that may be mateoidllbody’s future reported results, financial pasitand cash flows. Although Moody’s does
not believe it is likely that the Company will ultately be required to pay the full amounts pregdmging sought by the IRS, potential future
outlays resulting from these matters could be asmas $354 million and could increase with timelescribed above. In matters where
Moody'’s believes the IRS has taken inconsistenitipos, Moody’s may be obligated initially to payg share of related duplicative
assessments. However, Moody'’s believes that ulélydtis unlikely that the IRS would retain suchpdicative payments.

Note 15 Segment Information

The Company reports segment information in accarelavith SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segmeh&édEnterprise and Related
Information”. SFAS No. 131 defines operating segtees components of an enterprise for which sepéirencial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operatirgision-maker in deciding how to allocate resosiiaed in assessing performance.

Moody'’s Investors Service consists of four ratimgups — structured finance, corporate finance niia institutions and sovereign risk, and
public finance — that generate revenue principftyn the assignment of credit ratings on fixed-meninstruments in the debt markets, and
research, which primarily generates revenue fragrstie of investooriented credit research, principally producedhsyating groups. Give
the dominance of Moody'’s Investors Service to Mdedyerall results, the Company does not separatelgsure or report corporate
expenses, nor are they allocated to the Compamgimbss segments. Accordingly, all corporate exgease included in operating income of
the Moody’s Investors Service segment and none haea allocated to the Moody’s KMV segment.

The Moody’s KMV business consists of the combinasihesses of KMV, acquired in April 2002, and Moadgisk Management Services.
Moody’s KMV develops and distributes quantitativedit assessment products and services for bamksaestors in credit-sensitive assets,
credit training services and credit processingveafe.

Assets used solely by Moody’'s KMV are separatedgldised within that segment. All other Company &s$ecluding corporate assets, are
reported as part of Moody'’s Investors Service.

Revenue by geographic area is generally basedediod¢htion of the customer.
Intersegment sales are insignificant and no siog&omer accounted for 10% or more of total revenue

Below are financial information by segment, Moodyisestors Service revenue by business unit anehtey and long-lived asset information
by geographic area, for the years ended and asaérber 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Certain prior gewunts have been reclassified to
conform to the current presentation.
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Financial Information by Segment

Year Ended December 31, 200

Moody's

Investors Moody’s
Service KMV Consolidatec
Revenue $1,310.° $ 127.¢ $ 1,438.C
Operating expenst 513.7 104.1 617.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 16.€ 17.2 34.1
Operating incom: 780.1 6.3 786.4
Non-operating expense, n (15.7)
Income before provision for income tay 7715
Provision for income taxe 346.2
Net income $ 4251
Total assets at December $1,110.: $ 265.¢ $ 1,376.(

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Year Ended December 31, 2002
Moody’s Moody’s

Investors Moody’s Investors Moody’s
Service KMV Consolidatec Service KMV Consolidatec
Revenue $1,134. $ 111.¢ $ 1,246.¢ $ 941.¢ $ 81t $ 1,023.
Operating expenst 462.2 88.7 550.¢ 385.1 74.€ 460.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 15.4 17.2 32.€ 12.7 11.¢ 24.€
Operating income (los! 657.1 6.C 663.1 543. (5.9 538.1
Non-operating expense, n (6.7) (20.7)
Income before provision for income tay 656.4 517.¢
Provision for income taxe 292t 228.t
Net income $ 363.¢ $ 288.¢
Total assets at December $ 683.¢ $ 268.¢ $ 952.: $ 364.2 $ 266.€ $ 630.¢

Moody'’s Investors Service Revenue by Business Unit

Ratings revenue
Structured financ
Corporate financ
Financial institutions and sovereign ri
Public finance
Total ratings revenu
Research revent

Total Moody's Investors Servic
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
$ 5386 $ 460.6 $ 384.c
311 278. 227.1
208.¢ 181. 155.(
82.2 87.2 81.c
1,141. 1,007.¢ 848.2
169.F 126.¢ 93.€
$1,310.  $1,134. $ 941f
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Revenue and Long-lived Asset Information by Geolhi@aprea

2004 2003 2002
Revenue
United State: $ 911.C $ 795.c $ 680.¢
International 527.1 451.: 342.t
Total $1,438.: $1,246.¢ $1,023.1
Long-lived assets
United State: $ 245.C $ 255.¢ $ 269.C
International 18.7 14.7 15.4
Total $ 263.C $ 270.¢ $ 284.%

Note 16 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Accounts receivable allowances primarily represeliistments to customer billings that are estimateen the related revenue is recognized.
During 2003, the Company reduced its provisiongated in the fourth quarter of 2003, the Companpnded adjustments to the allowances
totaling $6.0 million, of which approximately $3xillion related to 2002 and $3.0 million relatedpigor quarters of 2003. In 2004, the
Company further reduced its provision rates anaalhce to reflect its current estimate of the appate level of accounts receivable
allowances. Below is a summary of activity for eatlthe three years in the period ended Decemhe2@14:

Balance at Additions Write -offs Balance

Beginning Charged tc and at End of

of the Year Revenue Adjustments the Year
2004 $ (15.9 (18.1) 19.4 $ (14.6
2003 (16.4) (16.4) 16.9 (15.9
2002 (27.9) (20.1) 31.0 (16.4)

Note 17 Related Party Transactions

Moody’s Corporation made grants of $7.0 million,Gillion and $6.0 million to The Moody’s Foundati (the “Foundation”)n 2004, 200:
and 2002, respectively. The Foundation carriepbii&nthropic activities on behalf of Moody’s Corption primarily in the areas of
education and health and human services. Certamnbmes of senior management of MoaglCorporation are on the Board of Directors of
Foundation.

Note 18 Insurance Recovery

In February 2003, Moody'’s received a $15.9 millinsurance recovery related to the September 1ag¢fedy, for incremental costs incurred
and for lost profits due to the sharp decline ibtdearket activity in the weeks following the dias Moody’s had previously received a
$4.0 million advance payment in 2002, resulting itotal recovery of $19.9 million. Moody’s had im@d incremental costs of $6.3 million
for property damage and temporary office facilitisd had fully accrued for the recovery of thes&in its financial statements. The
remainder of the insurance recovery, $13.6 milllwad not previously been accrued as its realizghilas not sufficiently assured. As a res
in the first quarter of 2003 Moody'’s recorded angafi $13.6 million, included in other non-operatingome, net in the consolidated
statements of operations.
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Note 19 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3 December 3:
2004
Revenue $ 3312 $357.¢ $ 357.¢ $ 391¢
Operating incomi 182.¢ 199.t 197.¢ 206.z
Net income 103.5 103.t 95.t 122.€
Basic earnings per she $ 06 $ 0.7C $ 0.6t $ 0.8:
Diluted earnings per sha $ 068 $ 0.6 $ 0.6: $ 0.8(
2003
Revenue $ 2782  $312.% $  305.( $ 350.7
Operating incom: 149.1 176.7 161.2 176.1
Net income 91.€ 100.¢ 85.€ 85.t
Basic earnings per she $ 06z $ 0.6¢ $ 0.57 $ 0.57
Diluted earnings per sha $ 061 $ 0.6¢€ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5¢

Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuategpendently for each of the periods presentedniiheber of weighted average shares
outstanding changes as common shares are issusghptito employee stock plans and for other pugosas shares are repurchased.
Therefore, the sum of basic and diluted earningsipare for each of the four quarters may not ethgafull year basic and diluted earnings
per share.

Note 20 Subsequent Event

On February 15, 2005, the Board of Directors dedar two-for-one stock split to be effected asexigh stock distribution of one share of
common stock for each share of the Company’s comstmrk outstanding and treasury shares. Stocktotferecord as of the close of
business on May 4, 2005 will receive one additicahere of common stock for each share of the Cogipanmmon stock held on that date.
Such additional shares will be distributed on M8y 2005.

The Board of Directors’ declaration of the spestalck dividend distribution is subject to stocktesldpproval of a charter amendment to
increase the Company’s authorized common sharesdii® stockholders will vote on the charter amendinat the Company’s Annual
Meeting, which will be held on April 26, 2005. Theoposal to amend the Company’s charter to incrdesaumber of authorized shares will
be more fully described in the Company’s annualtinggroxy statement.

If the stock split is approved, the Company wilitede its previously reported financial statemewktsordingly. Among other things, Moody’s
number of basic and diluted shares outstandingb&iliouble the amounts currently reported in thesclidated financial statements, and
earnings per share will be fifty percent of therently reported amounts.

Also, on February 15, 2005, the Board of Direciated to increase the quarterly dividend per sfrara $0.075 to $0.11 before giving effect
to the aforementioned two-for-one stock split, gdgan June 15, 2005 to stockholders of record d&ay 27, 2005. If the stock split is
effected then on a post-split basis, the dividefdbe increased to 5.5 cents per share from tiiB 8ents per share that otherwise would have
been paid absent the dividend increase. The cadipayment of dividends at the rate noted abovat all, is subject to the discretion of the
Board of Directors.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurdés Tompany carried out an evaluation, as requiyeRie 13a-15(b) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchang®,Aotder the supervision and with the participataf the Company’s management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer ablief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness bétdesign and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures #seoénd of the period covered by this report (tBedluation Date”). Based on such
evaluation, such officers have concluded thatfakeoEvaluation Date, the Company’s disclosuretrmds and procedures are effective in
alerting them on a timely basis to material infotimrarelating to the Company (including its condatied subsidiaries) required to be inclu

in the Company'’s periodic filings under the Exchargt.

In addition, there were no significant changehi €ompany’s internal control over financial repagtthat have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, these intdrcontrols over financial reporting during theipd covered by this report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
PART Il

Except for the information relating to the execatofficers of the Company set forth in Part | atannual report on Form 10-K, the
information called for by Items 10-13 is containedhe Company’s definitive proxy statement for useonnection with its annual meeting
of stockholders scheduled to be held on April ZB)3, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT'S FEES AND SERVICES

The Audit Committee has established a policy sgtiimth the requirements for the pre-approval afiband permissible non-audit services to
be provided by the Company’s independent auditdnsler the policy, the Audit Committee pre-approtresannual audit engagement terms
and fees, as well as any other audit services p@cified categories of non-audit services, suligcertain pre-approved fee levels. In
addition, pursuant to the policy, the Audit Commdtthas authorized its chair to pre-approve othdit and permissible non-audit services up
to $50,000 per engagement and a maximum of $25@609@ear. The policy requires that the Audit Cotteei chair report any pre-approval
decisions to the full Audit Committee at its neghsduled meeting. For the year
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ended December 31, 2004, the Audit Committee agutall of the services provided by the Companydependent auditors, which are
described below.

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees for professional services redder the audit of the Company’s annual finanstatements for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, for the review of ithential statements included in the Company’s Rspmm Forms 10-Q and 8-K, and for
statutory audits of non-U.S. subsidiaries were apprately $2.3 million (including $0.4 million ndflled) in 2004 and $1.0 million
(including $0.1 million not billed) in 2003. All sh fees were attributable to PricewaterhouseCodgdPs

Audit-Related Fees

The aggregate fees billed for audit-related sesvieadered to the Company by PricewaterhouseCobpé&r$or the years ended

December 31, 2004 and 2003 were approximately i$lion (including $0.1 million not billed) and $®@million, respectively. Such services
included acquisition due diligence reviews, empépenefit plan audits, internal control reviews] aonsultations concerning financial
accounting and reporting standards.

Tax Fees

The aggregate fees billed for tax services renderé¢iode Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPh@years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 were approximately $15,000 and $75,08peatively. Tax services rendered by Pricewatems@aspers LLP principally related to
expatriate tax services and tax consulting and tiamge.

All Other Fees

The aggregate fees billed for all other servicesleeed to the Company by PricewaterhouseCooperddd fhe years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 were approximately $5,000 and $3/@3pectively.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
List of documents filed as part of this report.

(1) Financial Statement

See Index to Financial Statements, Iltem 8 of tbisrF1(-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedul

None.
(3) Exhibits.

See Index to Exhibits on pages-89 of this Form 1-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢dl) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, tlegiRrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

MOODY’S CORPORATION
(Registrant

By: /s/ JOHN RUTHERFURD, JF

John Rutherfurd, J
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 8, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secuiitiehange Act of 1934, this report has been sidmbolv by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#te indicated.

/s/ JOHN RUTHERFURD, JI

John Rutherfurd, Jr., Chairman of 1

Board of Directors and Chief Executive Offic
(principal executive officer

/s/ JEANNE M. DERING

Jeanne M. Dering, Executive Vice Presid
and Chief Financial Office

(principal financial officer’

/s/ JOSEPH MCCABE /sl CONNIE MACK

Joseph McCabe, Vice President and Corpc Connie Mack, Directo
Controller (principal accounting office

/s/ BASIL L. ANDERSON /sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.
Basil L. Anderson, Directc Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Directc
President and Chief Operating Offic

/sl MARY JOHNSTON EVANS
Mary Johnston Evans, Direct /sl HENRY A. MCKINNELL, JR
Henry A. McKinnell, Jr. Ph.D., Directc

/sl ROBERT R. GLAUBEF /s/ NANCY S. NEWCOME
Robert R. Glauber, Direct Nancy S. Newcomb, Direct
/s| EWALD KIST /s/ JOHN K. WULFF

Ewald Kist, Directol John K. Wulff, Directol

Date: March 8, 2005
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S-K
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

3

4

10

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND B-LAWS

A

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist dated June 15, 1998, as amended effective3lyr998, and as
further amended effective October 1, 2000 (incanpext by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Report om8-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registranb(parated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Regidfs Registration
Statement on Form 10, file numbe-14037, filed June 18, 199¢

INSTRUMENTS DEFINING THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDBES, INCLUDING INDENTURES

A

Specimen Common Stock certificate (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8fkhe Registrant,
file number -14037, filed October 4, 200(

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement betweendbistRant and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., asiRiggent,
dated as of September 27, 2000 (incorporated leyaefe to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-Khef Registrant, file
number 1-14037, filed September 29, 2000), as astehg Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement antbag
Registrant, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as Ridtgent, and The Bank of New York, as successontRiggent, dated
as of October 22, 2001 (incorporated by refereadexhibit 4.2 to the Report on Form 10-K of the Regnt, file number 1-
14037, filed March 22, 2002

Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of Septembe2Q00, among the Registrant, certain subsidiafitise Registrant,
the lenders party thereto, The Chase Manhattan,Bendministrative agent, Citibank, N.A., as sgation agent, and The
Bank of New York, as documentation agent (incorpextdy reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Report om#8-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated @smiember 10, 2001, between Moody’s Corporationcanigin
subsidiaries of the Registrant, the lenders paeyeto, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as administragieat, Citibank, N.A.,
as syndication agent, and The Bank of New Yorldazimentation agent (incorporated by referencextotit 10.1 to the
Report on Form 1-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 14, 200:

Amended and Restated 364-Day Credit Agreementddea®f September 8, 2003, between Moody’s Corjooraind
certain subsidiaries of the Registrant, the lengaryy thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank, as admitiistragent, Citibank,
N.A., as syndication agent, and The Bank of NewkyYas documentation agent (incorporated by referém&xhibit 10.3 tc
the Report on Form -Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 12, 200:

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of Septemb2004, among Moody’s Corporation, the Borrowing Sdiaries Party
Hereto, the Lenders Party Hereto, JP Morgan Chasé,Bas Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A., am8ication Agent,
and The Bank of New York, as Documentation Agemtdiporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to thed®epn Form 8-K
of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed September 8, 200

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

A

Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 80p2between the Registrant and The Dun & Brads@egporation
(f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated leference to Exhibi
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10.1 to the Report on Forn-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of SeptembelB00, between the Registrant and The Dun & BradstCorporation
(f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated teference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Report on Form 8fithe Registrant, file
number -14037, filed October 4, 200(

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of SepteBle2000, between the Registrant and The Dun & &radt Corporation
(f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated leference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Report on Form 8fkhe Registrant, file
number -14037, filed October 4, 200(

Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan of Moody’s Quwgtion, dated as of September 30, 2000 (incorpdray reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Report on Form-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed March 22, 2002

Intellectual Property Assignments, dated as of &aper 1, 2000, between the Registrant and The DBragistreet
Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the ReparForm 8-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed October 4, 200(

Pension Benefit Equalization Plan of Moody’s Cogimm (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

Profit Participation Benefit Equalization Plan obbtly’s Corporation (incorporated by reference thibit 10.11 to
Registrar’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

The Moody’s Corporation Nonfunded Deferred Comp#asaPlan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporabsdreference to
Exhibit 10.12 to Registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

1998 Moody’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Gef&on-Employee Directors Holding Dun & Bradstr&airporation
Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by referencexbiliit to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on FormQQfile number 1-
14037, filed November 14, 200(

1998 Moody’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Gerfanployees Holding Dun & Bradstreet Corporatiafulfy-Based
Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1ad &Kegistrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filenber 1-14037, filed
November 14, 2000

1998 Moody’s Corporation Non-Employee Directorsd& Incentive Plan (as amended on April 23, 2001gafporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Report on Fori-K of the Registrant, file number-14037, filed March 22, 2002

1998 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock IrtbenPlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl80to Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q, file number -14037, filed November 14, 200(

Moody’s Corporation Career Transition Plan (incogted by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to RegistraAtisiual Report on
Form 1(-K, file number -14037, filed March 15,2001

Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1888yeen R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The BuBradstreet
Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New BuBradstreet Corporatior
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(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Regi¥'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998

.15 2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees Stock InaenPlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 50d the Report on
Form 1(-K of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed March 22, 2002

.1€ Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1888veen R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. ThenlBuBradstreet
Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New BuBradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by refeeio Exhibit 10.2 to
Registrar’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998

.17 Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of June &8,lbetween R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. Tha & Bradstreet
Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New BuBradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by refeeito Exhibit 10.3 to
Registrar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed August 14, 1998

.18 Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 28,618nong R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The BuBradstreet
Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsemgoration (incorporated by reference to Exhibigd@o the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporatif.@. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for theyended
December 31, 1996, file numbe-7155, filed March 27, 1997

.19 Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of October ZB6l among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. Then[& Bradstreet
Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsemgoration (incorporated by reference to Exhibify)@o the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporatif.@. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for theyended
December 31, 1996, file numbe-7155, filed March 27, 1997

.2C Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of Octobet 286, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.ae Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsemgoration (incorporated by reference to ExhibiZ)@o the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Corporatibf.6. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for theyended
December 31, 1996, file numbe-7155, filed March 27, 1997

.21 Indemnity and Joint Defense Agreement, dated &ctdber 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporatidna. The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation A@dNielsen Corporation (incorporated by referenc&xaibit 10(aa) to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H. Donnelley Comtoon (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) floe year ended
December 31, 1996, file numbe-7155, filed March 27, 1997

.22 Separation Agreement and General Release, datd#dgsil 10, 2001, between Moody's Investors Seeyitnc. and Donald
Noe (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1hm® Report on Form -Q of the Registrant, file number1#037, filed May 1t
2001).

.23 Separation Agreement and General Release, date#dsil 10, 2001, between Moody'’s Investors Seevitnc. and Kenneth J.
H. Pinkes (incorporated by reference to Exhibi21@.the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrarg, filimber 1-14037, filed
May 15, 2001)

.24 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Stock Purchaseehgent, dated as of February 10, 2002, by and aivioogly’s
Corporation, XYZ Acquisition LLC, KMV LLC, KMV Corpration and the principal members of KMV LLC ane th
shareholders of KMV Corporation identified ther@imcorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to thegp®&€on Form 8-K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed February 22, 200:
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.25 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 8, 200ong the Registrant and the purchasers naraesin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 toReport on Form 10-K of the Registrant, file numbek4037, filed
March 21, 2003)
.2€  Form of 7.61% Senior Notes due 2005 (incorporateteference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Report on Fa¥K of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed March 21, 2003
.27  Amended and Restated Indemnity and Joint Defenseehgent, dated as of July 30, 2004, among VNU, N/™MU, Inc.,
ACNielsen Corporation, AC Nielsen (US), Inc., NetsMedia Research, Inc. (formerly, Cognizant Caapion), R.H.
Donnelley Corporation (formerly, The Dun & Bradgtr€orporation), The Dun & Bradstreet Corporatidioody’s
Corporation and IMS Health Incorporated (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report omFd0-Q of the
Registrant, file number-14037, filed August 9, 2004
.28 Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporation Keplgyees’ Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated bgrefice to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200«
.28 Form of Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option and tReted Stock Grant Agreement for the Amended agdt&ed 2001
Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock IncentR®ian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.thioReport on
Form 1(-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200
.3C  Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Gragreement for the 1998 Moody’s Corporation Nonoyee
Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (as amended on 48] 2001) (incorporated by reference to Exhiiit3lto the Report on
Form 1(-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200
.31 2004 Moody’s Corporation Covered Employee Cashritice Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibi#lid the Report
on Form 1-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 200
.32 Description of Bonus Terms under the 2004 MoodydspOration Covered Employee Cash Incentive Placoforated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Report on Forr-Q of the Registrant, file numbe-14037, filed November 3, 2004
21* SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT List of Active Ssidiaries as of January 31, 20!
23* CONSENTS OF EXPERTS Consent of Pricewaterhousp€rsd_LP.
31 CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SBRNES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
.1*  Chief Executive Officer Certification Pursuant tecBon 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
.2*  Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant teciion 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
32 .1*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamémy@.ct of 2002.

(The Company has furnished this certification andsdnot intend for it to be considered filed unitier Securities Exchani
Act of 1934 or incorporated by reference into fetfitings under the Securities Act of 1933 or tlee&ities Exchange Act
of 1934.)
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.2* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbaméesy@.ct of 2002. (The
Company has furnished this certification and dazsntend for it to be considered filed under tlee&ities Exchange Act of
1934 or incorporated by reference into future §iirunder the Securities Act of 1933 or the Se@asriixchange Act of 193¢

* Filed herewith
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LIST OF ACTIVE SUBSIDIARIES AS OF JANUARY 31, 2005

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Company Name

EXHIBIT 21

Jurisdiction of Creation

Moody'’s Latin America Calificadora de Riesgo S.A.
(p/k/a Magister Bankwatch Calificadora de Riesgh. g

Moody's Investors Service Pty. Limite
Moody's America Latina Ltde

Moody's Latin America Holding Corporatic
Moody's Holdings (BVI) Limited
Moody's Investors Service (B.V.l.) Limite
Moody's Israel Holdings, Inc

Moody's Canada Inc

Moody's Investors Service (Beijing) Lt
Moody's Interbank Credit Service Limite
MIS Quality Management Cor

Moody's Assureco, Inc

Moody's Investors Service, In

Moody's Holdings, Inc

Moody' s KMV Company

Moody's Overseas Holdings, In
Moody's Investors Service Lt

Moody's Holdings UK Limitec

Moody' s KMV Limited

Syndicate Underwriting Research L
Moody's France S/

Moody's Deutschland Gmb

Moody's Asia Pacific Limitec

Moody's China Financial Information Service, L
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Argentina

Australia

Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Canade

China

Cyprus

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

England

England

England

England

France

Germany

Hong Kong

Hong Kong




Company Name

Jurisdiction of Creation

Moody's KMV Limited

Moody's Investment Company India Pvt. L
Moody's (Mauritius) Holdings Limitet
Moody's Risk Management Services, L
Moody's Italia S.r.l.

KMV Asia KK

Moody's Japan Kabushiki Kaist

Korea Investors Service, In

Administracion de Calificadoras, S.A. de C
Moody's de Mexico S.A. de C.\

Moody's Holdings B.V.

Moody's Assurance Company, Ir

Moody's Interfax Rating Agenc

Moody' s KMV Singapore Pte

Moody's Singapore Pte. Lt

Moody's Investors Service South Africa (Pty) Limit
Moody's Investors Service Espana, S

Moody's Taiwan Corporatio
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Hong Kong
India

India
Ireland

Italy

Japar
Japar
Korea
Mexico
Mexico
Netherlands
New York
Russia
Singapore
Singapore
South Africa
Spain

Taiwan



CONSENT OF EXPERTS

EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-87267, 333-57915, 333-60737,
333-64653, 333-68555, 333-81121, 333-47848 and1®3396) of Moody’s Corporation (formerly known aselDun & Bradstreet
Corporation) of our report dated March 2, 2005tie¢ato the consolidated financial statements, mgangénts assessment of the effectiven
of internal control over financial reporting ane thffectiveness of internal control over financggorting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
March 7, 2005
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Rutherfurd, Jr., Chief Executive OfficeMbody’s Corporation, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Moody's Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15(d-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduragused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipar, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimgiport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzancial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

/sl JOHN RUTHERFURD, JF

John Rutherfurd, J
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
March 8, 200¢
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeanne M. Dering, Executive Vice President ah@fFinancial Officer of Moody’'s Corporation, ciéytthat:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of Moody's Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as defin
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15(d-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduragused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipar, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimgiport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidf’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzancial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

/sl JEANNE M. DERINC

Jeanne M. Derin

Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial Officel
March 8, 200¢

94



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s @oration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2004 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orm#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, John Rutherfurd, @hief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdmpted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act o041 2®d

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

/sl JOHN RUTHERFURD, JF

John Rutherfurd, J
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
March 8, 200¢
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s @oration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2004 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeanne M. Deringie€Fkinancial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1350, as adoptedyant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley ARDOR, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act o041 2®d

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

/sl JEANNE M. DERINC

Jeanne M. Derin

Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial Officel
March 8, 200¢
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